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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from __________ to ___________

Commission file number 001-10960
fcfslogo.jpg

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 87-3920732

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1600 West 7th Street, Fort Worth, Texas 76102
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

(817) 335-1100
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which
registered

Common Stock, par value $.01 per share FCFS The Nasdaq Stock Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    ☒ Yes   ☐ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    ☒ Yes   ☐ No


 


Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.
See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
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☒ Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer

☐ Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company

☐ Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).     ☐ Yes  ☒ No

As of October 25, 2023 April 24, 2024, there were 45,107,912 45,473,298 shares of common stock outstanding.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

Forward-Looking Information

This quarterly report contains forward-looking statements about the business, financial condition, outlook and prospects of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries
(together, the “Company”). Forward-looking statements, as that term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, can be identified by the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “believes,” “projects,” “expects,” “may,” “estimates,” “should,” “plans,” “targets,” “intends,” “could,” “would,” “anticipates,” “potential,” “confident,” “optimistic” or
the negative thereof, or other variations thereon, or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy, objectives, estimates, guidance, expectations, outlook and future plans.
Forward-looking statements can also be identified by the fact these statements do not relate strictly to historical or current matters. Rather, forward-looking statements relate to
anticipated or expected events, activities, trends or results. Because forward-looking statements relate to matters that have not yet occurred, these statements are inherently subject
to risks and uncertainties.

While the Company believes the expectations reflected in forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can be no assurances such expectations will prove to be accurate.
Security holders are cautioned that such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Certain factors may cause results to differ materially from those anticipated by
the forward-looking statements made in this quarterly report. Such factors may include, without limitation, risks related to the extensive regulatory environment in which the
Company operates; risks associated with the legal and regulatory proceedings that the Company is a party to, or may become a party to in the future, including the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) lawsuit filed against the Company; risks related to the Company’s acquisitions, including the failure of the Company’s acquisitions, to
deliver the estimated value and benefits expected by the Company and the ability of the Company to continue to identify and consummate acquisitions on favorable terms; terms, if
at all; potential changes in consumer behavior and shopping patterns which could impact demand for the Company’s pawn loan, retail, lease-to-own (“LTO”) and retail finance
products, including, as a result to, changes in the general economic conditions; labor shortages and increased labor costs; a deterioration in the economic conditions in the United
States and Latin America, including as a result of inflation, and rising elevated interest rates and higher gas prices, which potentially could have an impact on discretionary consumer
spending and demand for the Company’s products; currency fluctuations, primarily involving the Mexican peso; competition the Company faces from other retailers and providers of
retail payment solutions; the ability of the Company to successfully execute on its business strategies; and other risks discussed and described in the Company’s most recent
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including the risks described in Part 1, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” thereof, and other
reports filed with the SEC. Many of these risks and uncertainties are beyond the ability of the Company to control, nor can the Company predict, in many cases, all of the risks and
uncertainties that could cause its actual results to differ materially from those indicated by the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this quarterly
report speak only as of the date of this quarterly report, and the Company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to report any updates or revisions to any such statement
to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based, except as required by law.


 


PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE
SHEETS

(unaudited,
in

thousands)

September 30,
December

31, March 31,
December

31,

2023 2022 2022 2024 2023 2023

ASSETS ASSETS       ASSETS  

Cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents $ 86,547  $ 100,620  $ 117,330 

Accounts receivable,
net

Accounts receivable,
net 72,336  58,435  57,792 

Pawn loans Pawn loans 483,785  404,227  390,617 

Finance receivables,
net

Finance receivables,
net 113,307  111,945  103,494 

Inventories Inventories 314,382  295,428  288,339 

Leased
merchandise, net

Leased
merchandise, net 143,169  132,097  153,302 

Prepaid expenses
and other current
assets

Prepaid expenses
and other current
assets 21,114  38,322  19,788 
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Total current
assets

Total current
assets 1,234,640  1,141,074  1,130,662 

Property and
equipment, net

Property and
equipment, net 604,673  535,584  538,681 

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net

Operating lease right
of use asset

Operating lease right
of use asset 312,097  299,052  307,009 

Goodwill Goodwill 1,713,354  1,523,699  1,581,381 

Intangible assets, net Intangible assets, net 291,690  345,512  330,338 

Other assets Other assets 10,057  9,133  9,415 

Deferred tax assets,
net

Deferred tax assets,
net 8,052  6,906  7,381 

Total assets Total assets $4,174,563  $3,860,960  $3,904,867 

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY      

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities

Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities $ 146,873  $ 175,964  $ 139,460 

Customer deposits
and prepayments

Customer deposits
and prepayments 71,752  63,066  63,125 

Lease liability,
current

Lease liability,
current 98,745  91,115  92,944 

Total current
liabilities

Total current
liabilities 317,370  330,145  295,529 

Revolving unsecured
credit facilities

Revolving unsecured
credit facilities 560,229  338,000  339,000 

Revolving unsecured credit facilities

Revolving unsecured credit facilities

Senior unsecured notes

Senior unsecured notes

Senior unsecured
notes

Senior unsecured
notes 1,037,151  1,035,226  1,035,698 

Deferred tax
liabilities, net

Deferred tax
liabilities, net 139,713  155,263  151,759 

Lease liability, non-
current

Lease liability, non-
current 202,516  197,171  203,115 

Total
liabilities

Total
liabilities 2,256,979  2,055,805  2,025,101 

Total liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity: Stockholders’ equity:      

Stockholders’ equity:

Stockholders’ equity:  

Common stock

Common stock

Common stock Common stock 573  573  573 
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Additional paid-in
capital

Additional paid-in
capital 1,737,497  1,732,500  1,734,528 

Retained earnings Retained earnings 1,164,228  995,669  1,060,603 

Accumulated other
comprehensive
loss

Accumulated other
comprehensive
loss (64,521) (127,366) (106,573)

Common stock
held in treasury, at
cost

Common stock
held in treasury, at
cost (920,193) (796,221) (809,365)

Total
stockholders’
equity

Total
stockholders’
equity 1,917,584  1,805,155  1,879,766 

Total
liabilities and
stockholders’
equity

Total
liabilities and
stockholders’
equity $4,174,563  $3,860,960  $3,904,867 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

1


 


FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.
FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (unaudited, in thousands, except per
share amounts)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenue:

Revenue:

Revenue: Revenue:        

Retail
merchandise
sales

Retail
merchandise
sales $335,081  $300,899  $ 983,860  $ 901,975 

Retail merchandise sales

Retail merchandise sales

Pawn loan fees

Pawn loan fees

Pawn loan
fees

Pawn loan
fees 174,560  145,727  480,298  411,613 

Leased
merchandise
income

Leased
merchandise
income 189,382  158,089  562,625  455,736 

Leased merchandise income

Leased merchandise income
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Interest and fees on finance
receivables

Interest and fees on finance
receivables

Interest and
fees on
finance
receivables

Interest and
fees on
finance
receivables 61,413  48,846  174,247  135,039 

Wholesale
scrap jewelry
sales

Wholesale
scrap jewelry
sales 25,865  18,582  98,632  75,235 

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales

Total revenue

Total revenue

Total
revenue

Total
revenue 786,301  672,143  2,299,662  1,979,598 

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue:        

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenue:

Cost of retail merchandise sold

Cost of retail merchandise sold

Cost of retail
merchandise
sold

Cost of retail
merchandise
sold 199,719  182,199  590,991  543,722 

Depreciation
of leased
merchandise

Depreciation
of leased
merchandise 103,698  86,519  307,824  262,830 

Depreciation of leased
merchandise

Depreciation of leased
merchandise

Provision for lease losses

Provision for lease losses

Provision for
lease losses

Provision for
lease losses 39,736  31,916  141,674  109,771 

Provision for
loan losses

Provision for
loan losses 33,096  31,956  90,571  83,453 

Provision for loan losses

Provision for loan losses

Cost of
wholesale
scrap jewelry
sold

Cost of
wholesale
scrap jewelry
sold 21,405  16,261  79,012  64,371 

Cost of wholesale scrap
jewelry sold

Cost of wholesale scrap
jewelry sold

Total cost of revenue

Total cost of revenue

Total cost
of revenue

Total cost
of revenue 397,654  348,851  1,210,072  1,064,147 

Net revenue Net revenue 388,647  323,292  1,089,590  915,451 

Net revenue

Net revenue

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

8/115

Expenses and other income:

Expenses and other income:

Expenses and
other income:

Expenses and
other income:        

Operating
expenses

Operating
expenses 211,524  185,547  615,366  539,398 

Operating expenses

Operating expenses

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses

Administrative
expenses

Administrative
expenses 45,056  36,951  124,428  110,882 

Depreciation
and
amortization

Depreciation
and
amortization 27,365  25,971  81,526  77,495 

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest
expense

Interest
expense 24,689  18,282  66,657  50,749 

Interest
income

Interest
income (328) (206) (1,253) (1,104)

(Gain) loss on foreign
exchange (286) 255  (1,905) (198)

Interest income

Interest income

Gain on foreign exchange

Gain on foreign exchange

Gain on foreign exchange

Merger and
acquisition
expenses

Merger and
acquisition
expenses 3,387  733  3,670  1,712 

Gain on revaluation of
contingent acquisition
consideration —  (19,800) —  (82,789)

Merger and acquisition
expenses

Merger and acquisition
expenses

Other
expenses
(income),
net

Other
expenses
(income),
net (384) 164  (260) (2,721)

Other expenses (income), net

Other expenses (income), net

Total expenses and other
income

Total expenses and other
income

Total
expenses
and other
income

Total
expenses
and other
income 311,023  247,897  888,229  693,424 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

9/115

Income before
income taxes

Income before
income taxes 77,624  75,395  201,361  222,027 

Income before income taxes

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Provision for
income taxes

Provision for
income taxes 20,480  16,079  51,649  48,598 

Net income Net income $ 57,144  $ 59,316  $ 149,712  $ 173,429 

Net income

Net income

Earnings per share:

Earnings per share:

Earnings per
share:

Earnings per
share:        

Basic Basic $ 1.27  $ 1.26  $ 3.29  $ 3.65 

Basic

Basic

Diluted

Diluted

Diluted Diluted $ 1.26  $ 1.26  $ 3.27  $ 3.64 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

2


 


FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.
FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(unaudited, in

thousands)

Three Months
Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Net income

Net income

Net income Net income $57,144  $59,316  $149,712  $173,429 

Other
comprehensive
income:

Other
comprehensive
income:        

Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income:
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Currency
translation
adjustment

Currency
translation
adjustment (15,263) (7,372) 42,052  3,933 

Currency translation
adjustment

Currency translation
adjustment

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive
income

Comprehensive
income $41,881  $51,944  $191,764  $177,362 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of
these consolidated financial statements.
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FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.
FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Common


Stock

Common


Stock

Additional


Paid-In

Capital

Retained


Earnings

Accum-


ulated


Other

Compre-


hensive


Loss

Com

S

He

Tre

Common


Stock

Additional


Paid-In

Capital

Retained


Earnings

Accum-


ulated


Other


Compre-


hensive


Loss

Common Stock

Held in Treasury

Total


Stock-

holders’

Equity Shares Amount   Shares Amount  

Shares Amount       Shares Amount  

As of 12/31/2022 57,322  $ 573  $1,734,528  $1,060,603  $ (106,573) 11,030  $ (809,365) $1,879,766 

Shares issued under share-
based compensation plan,
net of 28 shares net-settled —  —  (7,156) —  —  (64) 4,693  (2,463)

As of

12/31/2023
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Shares issued
under share-
based
compensation
plan, net of
59 shares
net-settled

Share-based
compensation
expense

Share-based
compensation
expense —  —  3,375  —  —  —  —  3,375 

Net income —  —  —  47,388  —  —  —  47,388 

Cash dividends ($0.33 per
share) —  —  —  (15,294) —  —  —  (15,294)

Currency translation
adjustment —  —  —  —  29,513  —  —  29,513 

Purchases of treasury stock,

including excise tax —  —  —  —  —  782  (71,411) (71,411)

As of 3/31/2023 57,322  $ 573  $1,730,747  $1,092,697  $ (77,060) 11,748  $ (876,083) $1,870,874 

Share-based compensation
expense

Share-based
compensation
expense

Share-based
compensation
expense —  —  3,375  —  —  —  —  3,375 

Net income Net income —  —  —  45,180  —  —  —  45,180 

Cash dividends ($0.33 per
share) —  —  —  (15,298) —  —  —  (15,298)

Cash
dividends
($0.35 per
share)

Currency
translation
adjustment

Currency
translation
adjustment —  —  —  —  27,802  —  —  27,802 

Purchases of treasury stock,

including excise tax —  —  —  —  —  371  (35,214) (35,214)

As of 6/30/2023 57,322  $ 573  $1,734,122  $1,122,579  $ (49,258) 12,119  $ (911,297) $1,896,719 

As of 3/31/2024

As of 3/31/2024

As of 3/31/2024

Share-based compensation

expense —  —  3,375  —  —  —  —  3,375 

Net income —  —  —  57,144  —  —  —  57,144 

Cash dividends ($0.35 per
share) —  —  —  (15,495) —  —  —  (15,495)

Currency translation
adjustment —  —  —  —  (15,263) —  —  (15,263)

Purchases of treasury stock,

including excise tax —  —  —  —  —  95  (8,896) (8,896)

As of 9/30/2023 57,322  $ 573  $1,737,497  $1,164,228  $ (64,521) 12,214  $ (920,193) $1,917,584 

T
n

co

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.
FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Common


Stock

Common


Stock

Additional


Paid-In

Capital

Retained


Earnings

Accum-


ulated


Other

Compre-


hensive


Loss

Com

Sto

Held

Trea

Common


Stock

Additional


Paid-In

Capital

Retained


Earnings

Accum-


ulated


Other


Compre-


hensive


Loss

Common Stock

Held in Treasury

Total


Stock-

holders’

Equity Shares Amount   Shares Amount  

Shares Amount       Shares Amount  

As of 12/31/2021 57,322  $ 573  $1,724,956  $866,679  $ (131,299) 8,843  $ (652,782) $1,808,127 

Shares issued under share-

based compensation plan —  —  (1,281) —  —  (17) 1,281  — 

As of

12/31/2022

Shares issued
under share-
based
compensation
plan, net of 28
shares net-
settled

Share-based

compensation

expense

Share-based

compensation

expense —  —  3,075  —  —  —  —  3,075 

Net income —  —  —  28,005  —  —  —  28,005 

Cash dividends ($0.30 per
share) —  —  —  (14,546) —  —  —  (14,546)

Currency translation

adjustment —  —  —  —  11,789  —  —  11,789 

Purchases of treasury stock —  —  —  —  —  1,048  (72,217) (72,217)

As of 3/31/2022 57,322  $ 573  $1,726,750  $880,138  $ (119,510) 9,874  $ (723,718) $1,764,233 

Share-based compensation

expense

Share-based

compensation

expense

Share-based

compensation

expense —  —  2,875  —  —  —  —  2,875 

Net income Net income —  —  —  86,108  —  —  —  86,108 

Cash dividends ($0.30 per
share) —  —  —  (14,235) —  —  —  (14,235)
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Cash dividends
($0.33 per
share)

Currency

translation

adjustment

Currency

translation

adjustment —  —  —  —  (484) —  —  (484)

Purchases of treasury stock —  —  —  —  —  301  (20,499) (20,499)

Purchases of

treasury

stock,

including

excise tax

As of 6/30/2022 57,322  $ 573  $1,729,625  $952,011  $ (119,994) 10,175  $ (744,217) $1,817,998 

As of 3/31/2023

As of 3/31/2023

As of 3/31/2023

Share-based compensation

expense —  —  2,875  —  —  —  —  2,875 

Net income —  —  —  59,316  —  —  —  59,316 

Cash dividends ($0.33 per
share) —  —  —  (15,658) —  —  —  (15,658)

Currency translation

adjustment —  —  —  —  (7,372) —  —  (7,372)

Purchases of treasury stock —  —  —  —  —  686  (52,004) (52,004)

As of 9/30/2022 57,322  $ 573  $1,732,500  $995,669  $ (127,366) 10,861  $ (796,221) $1,805,155 

The 
ar

t
fin

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH

FLOWS
(unaudited, in

thousands)

Nine Months Ended

Three
Months
Ended

September 30,

March 31, March 31,

2023 2022 2024 2023

Cash flow from
operating
activities:

Cash flow from
operating
activities:     Cash flow from operating activities:  

Net income Net income $149,712  $173,429 
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Adjustments to
reconcile net
income to net
cash flow
provided by
operating
activities:

Adjustments to
reconcile net
income to net
cash flow
provided by
operating
activities:    

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
flow provided by operating activities:  

Depreciation
of leased
merchandise

Depreciation
of leased
merchandise 307,824  262,830 

Provision for
lease losses

Provision for
lease losses 141,674  109,771 

Provision for
loan losses

Provision for
loan losses 90,571  83,453 

Share-based
compensation
expense

Share-based
compensation
expense 10,125  8,825 

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense 81,526  77,495 

Amortization
of debt
issuance
costs

Amortization
of debt
issuance
costs 2,067  2,208 

Net
amortization
of
premiums,
discounts
and
unearned
origination
fees on
finance
receivables

Net
amortization
of
premiums,
discounts
and
unearned
origination
fees on
finance
receivables (12,390) 35,257 

Gain on revaluation of contingent
acquisition consideration —  (82,789)

Impairments
and
dispositions of
certain other
assets

Impairments
and
dispositions of
certain other
assets 346  482 

Deferred income taxes, net

Deferred income taxes, net

Deferred
income taxes,
net

Deferred
income taxes,
net (12,000) 46,142 

Changes in
operating
assets and
liabilities, net of
business
combinations:

Changes in
operating
assets and
liabilities, net of
business
combinations:    

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of
business combinations:  

Accounts
receivable,
net

Accounts
receivable,
net (9,998) (2,953)
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Inventories
purchased
directly from
customers,
wholesalers
or
manufacturers

Inventories
purchased
directly from
customers,
wholesalers
or
manufacturers (939) (11,017)

Leased
merchandise,
net

Leased
merchandise,
net (439,365) (360,755)

Prepaid
expenses and
other assets

Prepaid
expenses and
other assets (427) (2,144)

Accounts
payable,
accrued
liabilities and
other liabilities

Accounts
payable,
accrued
liabilities and
other liabilities (7,594) 7,256 

Income taxes Income taxes 15,905  (21,692)

Net cash
flow
provided
by
operating
activities

Net cash
flow
provided
by
operating
activities 317,037  325,798 

Cash flow from
investing
activities:

Cash flow from
investing
activities:     Cash flow from investing activities:  

Pawn loans, net
(1)

Pawn loans, net
(1) (59,426) (74,707)

Finance
receivables, net

Finance
receivables, net (87,994) (49,634)

Purchases of
furniture,
fixtures,
equipment and
improvements

Purchases of
furniture,
fixtures,
equipment and
improvements (46,723) (29,630)

Purchases of
store real
property

Purchases of
store real
property (46,677) (77,689)

Acquisitions of
pawn stores,
net of cash
acquired

Acquisitions of
pawn stores,
net of cash
acquired (168,353) (7,072)

Acquisitions of pawn stores, net of
cash acquired

Acquisitions of pawn stores, net of
cash acquired

Net cash flow used in
investing activities

Net cash flow used in
investing activities

Net cash
flow used
in
investing
activities

Net cash
flow used
in
investing
activities (409,173) (238,732)
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Cash flow from
financing
activities:

Cash flow from
financing
activities:     Cash flow from financing activities:  

Borrowings from
unsecured
credit facilities

Borrowings from
unsecured
credit facilities 545,835  196,000 

Repayments of
unsecured
credit facilities

Repayments of
unsecured
credit facilities (322,967) (117,000)

Issuance of senior unsecured
notes

Issuance of senior unsecured
notes

Issuance of senior unsecured
notes

Debt issuance costs paid

Debt issuance costs paid

Debt issuance
costs paid

Debt issuance
costs paid (90) (1,745)

Purchases of
treasury stock

Purchases of
treasury stock (115,521) (140,391)

Payment of
withholding
taxes on net
share
settlements of
restricted
stock unit
awards

Payment of
withholding
taxes on net
share
settlements of
restricted
stock unit
awards (2,463) — 

Payment of withholding taxes on
net share settlements of
restricted stock unit awards

Payment of withholding taxes on
net share settlements of
restricted stock unit awards

Dividends paid Dividends paid (46,087) (44,439)

Net cash flow provided by
(used in) financing activities 58,707  (107,575)

Net cash
flow used
in
financing
activities
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FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS,
INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS CONTINUED

(unaudited, in
thousands)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2023 2022
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Three Months
Ended Three Months Ended

March 31, March 31,

2024 2024 2023

Effect of exchange
rates on cash

Effect of exchange
rates on cash 2,646  1,083 

Change in
cash and
cash
equivalents

Change in
cash and
cash
equivalents (30,783) (19,426)

Cash and cash
equivalents at
beginning of the
period

Cash and cash
equivalents at
beginning of the
period 117,330  120,046 

Cash and cash
equivalents at end
of the period

Cash and cash
equivalents at end
of the period $ 86,547  $100,620 

(1) Includes the funding of new pawn loans net of cash repayments and recovery of principal through the sale of inventories acquired from forfeiture of pawn collateral.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.    
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FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (unaudited)

Note 1 - General

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, which is derived from audited consolidated financial statements, and the unaudited
consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, includes the accounts of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (together, the “Company”). The
Company regularly makes acquisitions, and the results of operations for the acquisitions have been consolidated since the acquisition dates. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated.

These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information
and with the rules and regulations for reporting on Form 10-Q. Accordingly, they do not include certain information and disclosures required for comprehensive financial statements.
These interim period financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements, which are included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 6, 2023 February 5, 2024. The consolidated financial statements
as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, and for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, are
unaudited, but in management’s opinion include all adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary to present fairly the financial position,
results of operations and cash flow for such interim periods. Operating results for the periods period ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected for the full year.

The Company has pawn operations in Latin America, where in Mexico, Guatemala and Colombia, the functional currency is the Mexican peso, Guatemalan quetzal and Colombian
peso. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at each balance sheet date, and the resulting
adjustments are accumulated in other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates occurring during the respective period. The Company also has pawn operations in El Salvador, where the reporting and functional currency is the U.S. dollar.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of interim financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, and related revenue and expenses, and the disclosure of gain and loss contingencies at the date of the financial statements. Such estimates and assumptions are subject
to a number of risks and uncertainties, which may cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s estimates.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2022, October 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued ASU No 2022-02, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses 2023-06, “Disclosure Agreements –
Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC’s Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative” (“ASU 2023-06”). ASU 2023-06 will align the disclosure and presentation
requirements in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification with the SEC’s regulations. The amendments in ASU 2023-06 will be applied prospectively and are effective when the
SEC removes the related requirements from Regulations S-X or S-K. Any amendments the SEC does not remove by June 30, 2027 will not be effective. As the Company is
currently subject to these SEC requirements, ASU 2023-06 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s current financial position, results of operations or financial
statement disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 326) 280): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures” (“ASU 2022-02” 2023-07”). ASU 2022-02 eliminates the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors while enhancing disclosure requirements for
certain loan refinancing 2023-07 expands disclosures about a public entity’s reportable segments and restructurings by creditors made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty.
In addition, the amendments require disclosure of current period gross write-offs for financing receivables requires more enhanced information about a reportable segment’s
expenses, interim segment profit or loss, and net investment how a public entity’s chief operating decision maker uses reported segment profit or loss information in leases by year
of origination in the vintage disclosures. assessing segment performance and allocating resources. ASU 2022-02 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2022, including December 15, 2023 and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2023-07 should be applied
retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company does not expect ASU 2023-07 to have a material effect on the Company’s current financial
position, results of operations or financial statement disclosures.

8

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-09”). ASU 2023-09 expands disclosures
in the rate reconciliation and requires disclosure of income taxes paid by jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective for entities. Except for expanded disclosures fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2023-09 should be applied prospectively; however, retrospective application is permitted. The Company does not expect
ASU 2023-09 to have a material effect on the Company’s current financial position, results of operations or financial statement disclosures.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU No 2024-02, “Codification Improvements - Amendments to Remove References to the Company’s vintage disclosures, Concepts Statements”
(“ASU 2022-02 2024-02”). ASU 2024-02 removes references to various Concepts Statements. In most instances, the references are extraneous and not required to understand or
apply the guidance. ASU 2024-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2024-02 can be applied prospectively or
retrospectively. The Company adopted ASU 2024-02 effective January 1, 2024 on a prospective basis. The adoption of ASU 2024-02 did not have a material effect on the
Company’s current financial position, results of operations or financial statements. See Note 6. statement disclosures.

8




Note 2 - Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Numerator: Numerator:        

Numerator:

Numerator:

Net income
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Net income

Net income Net income $ 57,144  $ 59,316  $ 149,712  $ 173,429 

Denominator: Denominator:        

Denominator:

Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares for
calculating basic earnings per share

Weighted-average common shares for
calculating basic earnings per share

Weighted-average
common shares
for calculating
basic earnings per
share

Weighted-average
common shares
for calculating
basic earnings per
share 45,114  46,902  45,531  47,518 

Effect of dilutive
securities:

Effect of dilutive
securities:        

Effect of dilutive securities:

Effect of dilutive securities:

Restricted stock
unit awards

Restricted stock
unit awards 260  120  216  84 

Restricted stock unit awards

Restricted stock unit awards

Weighted-average common shares for
calculating diluted earnings per share

Weighted-average common shares for
calculating diluted earnings per share

Weighted-average
common shares
for calculating
diluted earnings
per share

Weighted-average
common shares
for calculating
diluted earnings
per share 45,374  47,022  45,747  47,602 

Earnings per share: Earnings per share:        

Earnings per share:

Earnings per share:

Basic

Basic

Basic Basic $ 1.27  $ 1.26  $ 3.29  $ 3.65 

Diluted Diluted $ 1.26  $ 1.26  $ 3.27  $ 3.64 

Diluted

Diluted

Note 3 - Acquisitions

Consistent with the Company’s strategy to continue its expansion of pawn stores in strategic markets, during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company acquired 83
pawn stores in the U.S. in five separate transactions and acquired two pawn licenses that were used to open two new pawn stores in the state of Nevada. The aggregate purchase
price for these acquisitions totaled $168.1  million, net of cash acquired and subject to future post-closing adjustments. The aggregate purchase price was composed of
$167.6  million in cash paid during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, which included the repayment and extinguishment of $59.7  million of debt of the acquired
businesses at closing and remaining short-term amounts payable to certain of the sellers of approximately $0.5 million.

The purchase price of each of the 2023 acquisitions was allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon the estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The
excess purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill. The goodwill arising from these acquisitions consists largely of the
synergies and economies of scale expected from combining the operations of the Company and the pawn stores acquired. These acquisitions were not material individually or in the
aggregate to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

9
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The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are preliminary, as the Company is gathering information to finalize the valuation of these assets
and liabilities. The preliminary allocation of the aggregate purchase prices for these individually immaterial acquisitions during the nine months ended September 30,
2023 is as follows (in thousands):

Pawn loans $ 26,026 

Accounts receivable 3,219 

Inventories 15,336 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 996 

Property and equipment 2,906 

Goodwill (1) 119,299 

Intangible assets 4,330 

Other non-current assets 280 

Current liabilities (4,265)

Aggregate purchase price $ 168,127 

(1) Substantially all of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for U.S. income tax purposes.

The results of operations for the acquired stores have been consolidated since the respective acquisition dates. During 2023, revenue from the acquired stores was $14.5 million
and the earnings from the combined acquisitions since the acquisition dates (including $2.8 million of transaction and integration costs, net of tax) was less than $0.1 million.

Note 4 3 - Operating Leases

Lessor

For information about the Company’s revenue-generating activities as a lessor, refer to the “Leased merchandise and revenue recognition” section of Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements included in the Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K. All of the Company’s lease agreements are considered operating leases.

Lessee

The Company leases the majority of its pawnshop locations and certain administrative offices under operating leases and determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at
inception. Many leases include both lease and non-lease components for which the Company accounts separately. Lease components include rent, taxes and insurance costs while
non-lease components include common area or other maintenance costs. Operating leases are included in operating lease right of use assets, lease liability, current and lease
liability, non-current in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company does not have any finance leases.

Leased facilities are generally leased for a term of three to five years with one or more options to renew for an additional three to five years, typically at the Company’s sole
discretion. In addition, the majority of these leases can be terminated early upon an adverse change in law which negatively affects the store’s profitability. The Company regularly
evaluates renewal and termination options to determine if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise the option, and excludes these options from the lease term included in the
recognition of the operating lease right of use asset and lease liability until such certainty exists. The weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases was 3.9 years as
of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 4.1 4.0 years as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.

The operating lease right of use asset and lease liability is recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the commencement
date. The Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, and therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the lease commencement
date in determining the present value of the lease payments. The Company utilizes a portfolio approach for determining the incremental borrowing rate to apply to groups of leases
with similar characteristics. The weighted-average discount rate used to measure the lease liability as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 was 7.7% 8.2% and
6.3% 6.9%, respectively.

10




The Company has certain operating leases in Mexico which are denominated in U.S. dollars. The liability related to these leases is considered a monetary liability and requires
remeasurement each reporting period into the functional currency (Mexican pesos) using reporting date exchange rates. The remeasurement results in the recognition of foreign
currency exchange gains or losses each reporting period, which can produce a certain level of earnings volatility. The Company recognized a foreign currency loss gain of $0.6
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million $0.2 million and $0.4 million $1.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, related to the remeasurement of
these U.S. dollar denominated dollar-denominated operating leases, which is included in (gain) loss gain on foreign exchange in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized a foreign currency gain of $1.7 million and $0.4 million, respectively, related to
these U.S. dollar denominated leases.

Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, with variable lease expense recognized in the period such payments are incurred. The following table
details the components of lease expense included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

2024

2024

2024

Operating lease expense

Operating lease expense

Operating lease
expense

Operating lease
expense $ 36,687  $ 31,988  $ 104,702  $ 95,590 

Variable lease
expense (1)

Variable lease
expense (1) 4,744  4,216  13,777  12,619 

Variable lease expense (1)

Variable lease expense (1)

Total operating
lease expense

Total operating
lease expense $ 41,431  $ 36,204  $ 118,479  $ 108,209 

Total operating lease expense

Total operating lease expense

(1) Variable lease costs consist primarily of taxes, insurance and common area or other maintenance costs paid based on actual costs incurred by the lessor and can therefore vary over the lease

term.
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The following table details the maturity of lease liabilities for all operating leases as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Three months ending December 31, 2023 $ 31,578 

2024 111,094 

Nine months ending December 31, 2024

2025 2025 82,037 

2026 2026 58,384 

2027 2027 32,329 

2028

Thereafter Thereafter 33,064 

Total Total $ 348,486 
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Less amount of lease payments
representing interest

Less amount of lease payments
representing interest (47,225)

Total present value of lease payments Total present value of lease payments $ 301,261 

The following table details supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 (in
thousands):

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,

2023 2022

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended

March 31, March 31,

2024 2024 2023

Cash paid for
amounts
included in
the
measurement
of operating
lease
liabilities

Cash paid for
amounts
included in
the
measurement
of operating
lease
liabilities $92,233  $87,040 

Leased
assets
obtained in
exchange for
new
operating
lease
liabilities

Leased
assets
obtained in
exchange for
new
operating
lease
liabilities $72,663  $66,442 
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Note 5 4 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is determined by reference to various market data and other valuation techniques, as appropriate. Financial assets and liabilities are classified
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. The three fair value levels are
(from highest to lowest):

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company did not have any financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. The
Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022 March 31, 2023 that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (in
thousands):
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Estimated Fair Value

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabilities (1):

Contingent consideration as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 $ —  $ —  $ 26,760 

Contingent consideration as of December 31, 2022 —  —  — 

(1) Under As of March 31, 2023, under the American First Finance (“AFF”) purchase agreement, the seller parties had the right to receive up to $50.0 million $50.0 million of additional consideration if

AFF achieved certain adjusted EBITDA targets for the first half of 2023. The Company revalues this contingent consideration to fair value at the end of each reporting period. The estimate of the

fair value of contingent consideration is determined by applying a Monte Carlo simulation, which includes inputs not observable in the market, such as the risk-free rate, risk-adjusted discount rate,

the volatility of the underlying financial metrics and projected financial forecast of AFF did not achieve over the threshold adjusted EBITDA target for the first half of 2023 earn-out period, and

therefore represents a Level 3 measurement. Significant increases or decreases in these inputs could result in a significantly lower or higher fair value measurement of the $50.0  million of

additional consideration was not earned by the seller parties. As of June 30, 2023, there was no remaining contingent consideration available to the seller parties. The contingent consideration

related to the AFF acquisition is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2022. consideration.

The changes in financial assets and liabilities that are measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 fair value measurements for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Contingent consideration at beginning of the period $ —  $ 46,560  $ —  $ 109,549 

Change in fair value (1) —  (19,800) —  (82,789)

Contingent consideration at end of the period $ —  $ 26,760  $ —  $ 26,760 

Three Months Ended

March 31, 2023

Contingent consideration at beginning of the period $ — 

Change in fair value — 

Contingent consideration at end of the period $ — 

(1) The Company recognized a gain of $19.8 million and $82.8 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, as a result of the change in fair value of the

contingent consideration, which is included in gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

There were no transfers in or out of Level 1, 2 or 3 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.
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Fair Value Measurements on a Non-Recurring Basis

The Company measures non-financial assets and liabilities, such as property and equipment and intangible assets, at fair value on a non-recurring basis, or when events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may be impaired. There were no such events or conditions identified during the three months ended March 31, 2024
and 2023.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value, But for Which Fair Value is Disclosed

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 that are
not measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows (in thousands):

Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value
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September 30,
September

30, Fair Value Measurements Using

2023 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Carrying
Value Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value

March
31, March 31, March 31, Fair Value Measurements Using

2024 2024 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents $ 86,547  $ 86,547  $86,547  $ —  $ — 

Accounts
receivable,
net

Accounts
receivable,
net 72,336  72,336  —  —  72,336 

Pawn loans Pawn loans 483,785  483,785  —  —  483,785 

Finance
receivables,
net (1)

Finance
receivables,
net (1) 113,307  230,357  —  —  230,357 

$ 755,975  $ 873,025  $86,547  $ —  $786,478 

$

Financial
liabilities:

Financial
liabilities:

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities:

Revolving unsecured credit
facilities

Revolving unsecured credit
facilities

Revolving
unsecured
credit
facilities

Revolving
unsecured
credit
facilities $ 560,229  $ 560,229  $ —  $ 560,229  $ — 

Senior
unsecured
notes
(outstanding
principal)

Senior
unsecured
notes
(outstanding
principal) 1,050,000  938,000  —  938,000  — 

$ 1,610,229  $1,498,229  $ —  $1,498,229  $ — 

$

(1) Finance receivables, gross as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was $224.6 million $222.1 million. See Note 6. 5.

Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value

September 30,
September

30, Fair Value Measurements Using

2022 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Carrying
Value Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value

March
31, March 31, March 31, Fair Value Measurements Using

2023 2023 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents $ 100,620  $ 100,620  $100,620  $ —  $ — 

Accounts
receivable,
net

Accounts
receivable,
net 58,435  58,435  —  —  58,435 

Pawn loans Pawn loans 404,227  404,227  —  —  404,227 

Finance
receivables,
net (1)

Finance
receivables,
net (1) 111,945  193,750  —  —  193,750 

$ 675,227  $ 757,032  $100,620  $ —  $656,412 

$

Financial
liabilities:

Financial
liabilities:

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities:

Revolving unsecured credit
facilities

Revolving unsecured credit
facilities

Revolving
unsecured
credit
facilities

Revolving
unsecured
credit
facilities $ 338,000  $ 338,000  $ —  $ 338,000  $ — 

Senior
unsecured
notes
(outstanding
principal)

Senior
unsecured
notes
(outstanding
principal) 1,050,000  887,000  —  887,000  — 

$ 1,388,000  $1,225,000  $ —  $1,225,000  $ — 

$

(1) Finance receivables, gross as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 was $188.9 million $201.3 million. See Note 6. 5.
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Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value

December 31,
December

31, Fair Value Measurements Using

2022 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Carrying
Value Carrying Value Estimated Fair Value

December
31, December 31, December 31, Fair Value Measurements Using

2023 2023 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
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Cash and
cash
equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents $ 117,330  $ 117,330  $117,330  $ —  $ — 

Accounts
receivable,
net

Accounts
receivable,
net 57,792  57,792  —  —  57,792 

Pawn loans Pawn loans 390,617  390,617  —  —  390,617 

Finance
receivables,
net (1)

Finance
receivables,
net (1) 103,494  201,895  —  —  201,895 

$ 669,233  $ 767,634  $117,330  $ —  $650,304 

$

Financial
liabilities:

Financial
liabilities:

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities:

Revolving unsecured credit
facilities

Revolving unsecured credit
facilities

Revolving
unsecured
credit
facilities

Revolving
unsecured
credit
facilities $ 339,000  $ 339,000  $ —  $ 339,000  $ — 

Senior
unsecured
notes
(outstanding
principal)

Senior
unsecured
notes
(outstanding
principal) 1,050,000  932,000  —  932,000  — 

$ 1,389,000  $1,271,000  $ —  $1,271,000  $ — 

$

(1) Finance receivables, gross as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 were $196.0 million $227.5 million. See Note 6. 5.

As cash and cash equivalents have maturities of less than three months, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value. Due to their short-term maturities,
the carrying value of pawn loans and accounts receivable, net approximate fair value.

Finance receivables are measured at amortized cost, net of an allowance for loan losses on the consolidated balance sheets. In estimating fair value for finance receivables, the
Company utilized a discounted cash flow methodology. The Company used various unobservable inputs reflecting its own assumptions, such as contractual future principal and
interest cash flows, future charge-off rates and discount rates (which consider current interest rates and are adjusted for credit risk, among other factors).

The carrying value of the unsecured credit facilities approximates fair value as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023. The fair value of the unsecured credit facilities is estimated based on market values for debt issuances with similar characteristics or rates currently
available for debt with similar terms. In addition, the unsecured credit facilities have a variable interest rate based on the prevailing secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) or the
Mexican Central Bank’s interbank equilibrium rate (“TIIE”) and reprice with any changes in SOFR or TIIE. The fair value of the senior unsecured notes is estimated based on quoted
prices in markets that are not active.

Note 6 5 - Finance Receivables, Net

Finance receivables, net, which include retail installment sales agreements and bank-originated installment loans, consist of the following (in thousands):

As of September 30,
As of


December 31,

2023 2022 2022

Finance receivables, gross $ 224,618  $ 188,897  $ 195,987 

Fair value premium on non-purchase credit deteriorated (”PCD”) finance receivables (1) —  6,839  — 

Merchant partner discounts and premiums, net (9,730) (2,044) (3,517)

Unearned origination fees (4,897) (3,334) (4,143)
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Finance receivables, amortized cost 209,991  190,358  188,327 

Less allowance for loan losses (96,684) (78,413) (84,833)

Finance receivables, net $ 113,307  $ 111,945  $ 103,494 

(1) Represents the difference between the initial fair value and the unpaid principal balance as of the date of the AFF acquisition, which is recognized through interest income on an effective yield

basis over the lives of the related non-PCD finance receivables.

As of March 31,
As of


December 31,

2024 2023 2023

Finance receivables, gross $ 222,087  $ 201,288  $ 227,474 

Merchant partner discounts and premiums, net (15,221) (6,328) (11,907)

Unearned origination fees (5,193) (4,257) (5,212)

Finance receivables, amortized cost 201,673  190,703  210,355 

Less allowance for loan losses (96,020) (88,610) (96,454)

Finance receivables, net $ 105,653  $ 102,093  $ 113,901 
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The following table details the changes in the allowance for loan losses (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

2024

2024

2024

Balance at
beginning of period

Balance at
beginning of period $ 93,054  $ 73,936  $ 84,833  $ 75,574 

Balance at beginning of period

Balance at beginning of period

Provision for loan losses

Provision for loan losses

Provision for loan
losses

Provision for loan
losses 33,096  31,956  90,571  83,453 

Charge-offs Charge-offs (30,890) (28,642) (83,281) (84,629)

Charge-offs

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Recoveries

Recoveries Recoveries 1,424  1,163  4,561  4,015 
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Balance at end of
period

Balance at end of
period $ 96,684  $ 78,413  $ 96,684  $ 78,413 

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

The following is an assessment of the credit quality indicators of the amortized cost of finance receivables as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, by origination
year (in thousands):

Origination Year

2023 2022 2021 Total

As of September 30, 2023

Origination Year

2024

2024

2024 2023 2022 Total

As of March
31, 2024

Delinquency: Delinquency:

Delinquency:

Delinquency:

1 to 30 days past due

1 to 30 days past due

1 to 30
days past
due

1 to 30
days past
due $ 14,764  $ 4,150  $ 179  $ 19,093 

31 to 60
days past
due

31 to 60
days past
due 9,036  2,792  148  11,976 

61 to 89
days past
due (1)

61 to 89
days past
due (1) 7,109  2,816  173  10,098 

Total past due
finance
receivables

Total past due
finance
receivables 30,909  9,758  500  41,167 

Current
finance
receivables

Current
finance
receivables 136,555  31,222  1,047  168,824 

Finance
receivables,
amortized
cost

Finance
receivables,
amortized
cost $167,464  $40,980  $1,547  $209,991 

Origination Year

Origination Year

Origination Year

2022 2021 2020 Total

As of September 30, 2022

Origination Year

2023

2023

2023 2022 2021 Total

As of March
31, 2023

Delinquency: Delinquency:

Delinquency:
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Delinquency:

1 to 30 days past due

1 to 30 days past due

1 to 30
days past
due

1 to 30
days past
due $ 11,149  $ 4,468  $ 150  $ 15,767 

31 to 60
days past
due

31 to 60
days past
due 7,118  3,233  100  10,451 

61 to 89
days past
due (1)

61 to 89
days past
due (1) 5,971  3,292  120  9,383 

Total past due finance
receivables before fair value
adjustments 24,238  10,993  370  35,601 

Current finance receivables
before fair value
adjustments 111,023  35,969  926  147,918 

Finance receivables before
fair value adjustments $135,261  $46,962  $1,296  183,519 

Fair value premium on
non-PCD finance
receivables 6,839 

Total past due
finance
receivables

Current
finance
receivables

Finance
receivables,
amortized
cost

Finance
receivables,
amortized
cost $190,358 

(1) The Company charges off finance receivables when a receivable is 90 days or more contractually past due.

The following table details the gross charge-offs of finance receivables for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023, March 31, 2024 and 2023, by origination year (in
thousands):

Origination Year

2024

2024

2024 2023 2022 2021 Total

Finance
receivables
gross
charge-offs:

Gross
charge-
offs
during the
three
months
ended
March 31,
2024
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Gross
charge-
offs
during the
three
months
ended
March 31,
2024

Gross
charge-
offs
during the
three
months
ended
March 31,
2024

Origination Year

2023 2022 2021 Total

Finance
receivables
gross
charge-offs:

Gross
charge-
offs during
the nine
months
ended
September
30, 2023 $24,676  $51,150  $7,455  $83,281 

Gross
charge-
offs during
the three
months
ended
March 31,
2023

Gross
charge-
offs during
the three
months
ended
March 31,
2023

Gross
charge-
offs during
the three
months
ended
March 31,
2023

15
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Note 7 6 - Leased Merchandise, Net

Leased merchandise, net consists of the following (in thousands):

As of September 30,
As of


December 31,

2023 2022 2022

Leased merchandise (1) $ 365,677  $ 292,374  $ 335,038 

Processing fees (4,155) (3,449) (4,124)

Merchant partner discounts and premiums, net 2,566  2,114  2,456 

Accumulated depreciation (115,774) (81,343) (100,879)

Leased merchandise, before allowance for lease losses 248,314  209,696  232,491 

Less allowance for lease losses (105,145) (77,599) (79,189)

Leased merchandise, net $ 143,169  $ 132,097  $ 153,302 

(1) Acquired leased merchandise in the AFF acquisition was recorded at fair value.

As of March 31,
As of


December 31,

2024 2023 2023

Leased merchandise $ 369,298  $ 349,648  $ 384,129 

Processing fees (4,022) (4,341) (4,348)

Merchant partner discounts and premiums, net 2,203  2,693  2,501 

Accumulated depreciation (114,431) (105,997) (115,964)

Leased merchandise, before allowance for lease losses 253,048  242,003  266,318 

Less allowance for lease losses (95,263) (93,149) (95,127)

Leased merchandise, net $ 157,785  $ 148,854  $ 171,191 

The following table details the changes in the allowance for lease losses (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Balance at
beginning of period

Balance at
beginning of period $ 110,972  $ 69,101  $ 79,189  $ 5,442 

Balance at beginning of period

Balance at beginning of period

Provision for lease losses

Provision for lease losses

Provision for
lease losses

Provision for
lease losses 39,736  31,916  141,674  109,771 

Charge-offs Charge-offs (47,225) (24,538) (120,726) (40,859)

Charge-offs

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Recoveries
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Recoveries Recoveries 1,662  1,120  5,008  3,245 

Balance at end of
period

Balance at end of
period $ 105,145  $ 77,599  $ 105,145  $ 77,599 

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period
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Note 8 7 - Long-Term Debt

The following table details the Company’s long-term debt at the respective principal amounts, net of unamortized debt issuance costs on the senior unsecured notes (in thousands):

As of September 30,

As of

December

31,

2023 2022 2022

As of March 31, As of March 31,
As of


December 31,

2024 2024 2023 2023

Revolving
unsecured
credit facilities:

Revolving
unsecured
credit facilities:

Revolving unsecured credit
facility, maturing 2027 (1)

Revolving unsecured credit
facility, maturing 2027 (1)

Revolving
unsecured
credit facility,
maturing
2027 (1)

Revolving
unsecured
credit facility,
maturing
2027 (1) $ 531,000  $ 338,000  $ 339,000 

Revolving
unsecured
uncommitted
credit facility,
maturing
2027 (1)

Revolving
unsecured
uncommitted
credit facility,
maturing
2027 (1) 29,229  —  — 

Total revolving
unsecured
credit facilities

Total revolving
unsecured
credit facilities 560,229  338,000  339,000 

Senior
unsecured
notes:

Senior
unsecured
notes:

Senior unsecured notes:

Senior unsecured notes:

4.625% senior unsecured
notes due 2028 (2)

4.625% senior unsecured
notes due 2028 (2)
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4.625%
senior
unsecured
notes due
2028 (2)

4.625%
senior
unsecured
notes due
2028 (2) 494,239  493,226  493,475 

5.625%
senior
unsecured
notes due
2030 (3)

5.625%
senior
unsecured
notes due
2030 (3) 542,912  542,000  542,223 

6.875%
senior
unsecured
notes due
2032 (4)

Total senior
unsecured
notes

Total senior
unsecured
notes 1,037,151  1,035,226  1,035,698 

Total long-term
debt

Total long-term
debt $1,597,380  $1,373,226  $1,374,698 

Total long-term debt

Total long-term debt

(1) Debt issuance costs related to the Company’s revolving unsecured credit facilities are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(2) As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, deferred debt issuance costs of $5.8 million $5.2 million, $6.8

million $6.3 million and $6.5 million $5.5 million, respectively, are included as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the senior unsecured notes due 2028 in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets.

(3) As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, deferred debt issuance costs of $7.1 million $6.6 million, $8.0

million $7.6 million and $7.8 million $6.9 million, respectively, are included as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the senior unsecured notes due 2030 in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets.

(4) As of March 31, 2024, deferred debt issuance costs of $9.0 million are included as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the senior unsecured notes due 2032 in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets.

Revolving Unsecured Credit Facility

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company maintained an unsecured line of credit with a group of U.S.-based commercial lenders (the “Credit Facility”) in the amount
of $590.0 million $640.0 million. The Credit Facility matures on August 30, 2027. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company had $531.0 million $15.0 million in
outstanding borrowings and $2.9 million $2.8 million in outstanding letters of credit under the Credit Facility, leaving $56.1 million $622.2 million available for future borrowings,
subject to certain financial covenants. The Credit Facility bears interest at the Company’s option of either (i) the prevailing SOFR (with interest periods of 1, 3 or 6 months at the
Company’s option) plus a fixed spread of 2.5% and a fixed SOFR adjustment of 0.1% or (ii) the prevailing prime or base rate plus a fixed spread of 1.5%. The agreement has an
interest rate floor of 0%. Additionally, the Company is required to pay an annual commitment fee of 0.325% on the average daily unused portion of the Credit Facility commitment.
The weighted-average interest rate on amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility at September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was 7.93% 7.92% based on 1-month SOFR. Under the
terms of the Credit Facility, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain financial covenants. The Credit Facility also contains customary
restrictions on the Company’s ability to incur additional debt, grant liens, make investments, consummate acquisitions and similar negative covenants with customary carve-outs and
baskets. The Company was in compliance with the covenants of the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. During the nine three months ended September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024, the Company received made net proceeds payments of $192.0 million from borrowings $553.0 million pursuant to the Credit Facility.

On October 18, 2023, the Company amended its domestic Credit Facility. The total lender commitment under the amended facility, which is provided by a group
of twelve commercial banks, was increased by $50.0 million, from $590.0 million to $640.0 million. The amended credit facility remains unsecured and all other
terms remained unchanged.
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Revolving Unsecured Uncommitted Credit Facility

In August 2023, As of March 31, 2024, the Company’s primary subsidiary in Mexico, First Cash S.A. de C.V., entered into maintained an unsecured and uncommitted line of credit
guaranteed by FirstCash, Inc. with a bank in Mexico (the “Mexico Credit Facility”) in the amount of $600.0 million Mexican pesos. The Mexico Credit Facility matures on August 24,
2027. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had $29.2 million ($515.0 million pesos) in outstanding borrowings, leaving $4.8 million ($85.0 million pesos) available for future
borrowings, subject to certain financial covenants. The Mexico Credit Facility bears interest at TIIE plus a fixed spread of 2.25%. The interest rate  and matures on the amount
outstanding under the Mexico Credit Facility at September 30, 2023 was 13.75% August 24, 2027. Under the terms of the Mexico Credit Facility, the Company is required to
maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain financial covenants. The Company was in compliance with the covenants of the Mexico Credit Facility as of September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 At March 31, 2024, the Company received net proceeds of $29.2 million ($515.0 million pesos) from
borrowings pursuant to had no amount outstanding under the Mexico Credit Facility. Facility and $36.0 million ($600.0 million pesos) available for future borrowings.

Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2028

On August 26, 2020, the Company issued $500.0 million of 4.625% senior unsecured notes due on September 1, 2028 (the “2028 Notes”), all of which are currently outstanding.
Interest on the 2028 Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 1 and September 1. The 2028 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis
jointly and severally by all of the Company's existing and future domestic subsidiaries that guarantee its Credit Facility. The 2028 Notes will permit the Company to make restricted
payments, such as purchasing shares of its stock and paying cash dividends, in an unlimited amount if, after giving pro forma effect to the incurrence of any indebtedness to make
such payment, the Company's consolidated total debt ratio is less than 2.75 to 1. The consolidated total debt ratio is defined generally in the indenture governing the 2028 Notes as
the ratio of (1) the total consolidated debt of the Company minus cash and cash equivalents of the Company to (2) the Company’s consolidated trailing twelve months EBITDA, as
adjusted to exclude certain non-recurring expenses and giving pro forma effect to operations acquired during the measurement period. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024,
the Company’s consolidated total debt ratio was 2.9 2.5 to 1. While the 2028 Notes generally limit the Company’s ability to make restricted payments if the consolidated total debt
ratio is greater than 2.75 to 1, restricted payments are allowable within certain permitted baskets, which currently provide the Company with continued flexibility to make restricted
payments when the Company’s consolidated total debt ratio is greater than 2.75 to 1.

Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2030

On December 13, 2021, the Company issued $550.0 million of 5.625% senior unsecured notes due on January 1, 2030 (the “2030 Notes”), all of which are currently outstanding.
Interest on the 2030 Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 1 and July 1. The 2030 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis jointly
and severally by all of the Company's existing and future domestic subsidiaries that guarantee its Credit Facility. The 2030 Notes will permit the Company to make restricted
payments, such as purchasing shares of its stock and paying cash dividends, in an unlimited amount if, after giving pro forma effect to the incurrence of any indebtedness to make
such payment, the Company's consolidated total debt ratio is less than 3.0 to 1. The consolidated total debt ratio is defined generally in the indenture governing the 2030 Notes as
the ratio of (1) the total consolidated debt of the Company minus cash and cash equivalents of the Company to (2) the Company’s consolidated trailing twelve months EBITDA, as
adjusted to exclude certain non-recurring expenses and giving pro forma effect to operations acquired during the measurement period. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024,
the Company’s consolidated total debt ratio was 2.9 2.5 to 1. While the 2030 Notes generally limit the Company’s ability to make restricted payments if the consolidated total debt
ratio is greater than 3.0 to 1, restricted payments are allowable within certain permitted baskets, which currently provides the Company with continued flexibility to make restricted
payments when the Company’s consolidated total debt ratio is greater than 3.0 to 1.

Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2032

On February 21, 2024, the Company issued $500.0 million of 6.875% senior unsecured notes due on March 1, 2032 (the “2032 Notes”), all of which are currently outstanding.
Interest on the 2032 Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 1 and September 1, commencing on September 1, 2024. The 2032 Notes were sold in a private placement
in reliance on Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. The Company used the net proceeds from the offering to repay a portion of the outstanding balance on the
Credit Facility, after payment of fees and expenses related to the offering. The Company capitalized $9.1 million in debt issuance costs, which consisted primarily of the initial
purchaser’s discount and fees and legal and other professional expenses. The debt issuance costs are being amortized over the life of the 2032 Notes as a component of interest
expense and are carried as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the 2032 Notes in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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The 2032 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis jointly and severally by all of the Company's existing and future domestic subsidiaries that
guarantee its Credit Facility. The 2032 Notes will permit the Company to make restricted payments, such as purchasing shares of its stock and paying cash dividends, in an
unlimited amount if, after giving pro forma effect to the incurrence of any indebtedness to make such payment, the Company's consolidated total debt ratio is less than 3.0 to 1. The
consolidated total debt ratio is defined generally in the indenture governing the 2032 Notes (the “2032 Notes Indenture”) as the ratio of (1) the total consolidated debt of the
Company minus cash and cash equivalents of the Company to (2) the Company’s consolidated trailing twelve months EBITDA, as adjusted to exclude certain non-recurring
expenses and giving pro forma effect to operations acquired during the measurement period. As of March 31, 2024, the Company’s consolidated total debt ratio was 2.5 to 1. While
the 2032 Notes generally limit the Company’s ability to make restricted payments if the consolidated total debt ratio is greater than 3.0 to 1, restricted payments are allowable within
certain permitted baskets, which currently provides the Company with continued flexibility to make restricted payments when the Company’s consolidated total debt ratio is greater
than 3.0 to 1.

The Company may redeem some or all of the 2032 Notes at any time on or after March 1, 2027, at the redemption prices set forth in the 2032 Notes Indenture, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any. In addition, prior to March 1, 2027, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2032 Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus
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accrued and unpaid interest, if any, plus a “make-whole” premium set forth in the 2032 Notes Indenture. The Company may redeem up to 40% of the 2032 Notes on or prior to
March 1, 2027 with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at the redemption prices set forth in the 2032 Notes Indenture. If the Company or any of its restricted subsidiaries sells
certain assets or if the Company consummates certain change in control transactions, the Company will be required to make an offer to repurchase the 2032 Notes.

Note 9 8 - Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Company, in the ordinary course of business, is a party to various legal and regulatory proceedings and other general claims. Although no assurances can be given, in
management’s opinion, such outstanding proceedings are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to all of the claims described below and intends to vigorously defend itself against such claims. However, legal and regulatory
proceedings involve an inherent level of uncertainty and no assurances can be given regarding the ultimate outcome of any such matters or whether an adverse outcome would not
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. At this stage, the Company is unable to determine whether a future loss will
be incurred for any of its material outstanding legal and regulatory proceedings or to estimate a range of loss with respect to such proceeding, if any, and accordingly, no material
amounts have been accrued in the Company’s financial statements for legal and regulatory proceedings.

On November 12, 2021, the CFPB initiated a civil action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas against FirstCash, Inc. and Cash America West, Inc.,
two of the Company’s subsidiaries, alleging violations of the Military Lending Act (“MLA”) in connection with pawn transactions. The CFPB also alleges that these same alleged
violations of the MLA constitute breaches of a 2013 CFPB consent order entered into by its predecessor company that, among other things, allegedly required the company and its
successors to cease and desist from further MLA violations. The CFPB is seeking an injunction, redress for affected borrowers and a civil monetary penalty. On March 28, 2022, the
CFPB filed a motion to strike certain affirmative defenses of the Company. The Company responded by filing a motion for partial summary judgment. On October 24, 2022, the
Company filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit on the basis that the funding structure of the CFPB is unconstitutional. This motion to dismiss follows the recent decision in another
case by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals which found that the CFPB is unconstitutionally structured. The Fifth Circuit’s decisions govern the law applied in the jurisdiction in which
the CFPB action is pending against the Company. In light of the CFPB's stated intent to seek Supreme Court review of that decision, the parties stipulated to a stay of the action
against the Company, which the Court entered on November 4, 2022. TheThe Supreme Court is currently reviewing the Fifth Circuit's decision, with oral arguments having been
completed on October 3, 2023. The stay of the CFPB’s action against the Company will remain in effect until the Supreme Court issues its decision with respect to the appeal. If the
Supreme Court decides in favor of the CFPB, the stay will be lifted and the Company and the CFPB will continue to litigate the civil action brought against the Company by the
CFPB.

19

Gold Forward Sales Contracts

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company had contractual commitments to deliver a total of 57,600 83,000 gold ounces during the months of October 2023 through
June 2025 April 2024 and February 2026 at a weighted-average price of $2,024 $2,110 per ounce. The ounces required to be delivered over this time period are within historical
scrap gold volumes, and the Company expects to have the required gold ounces to meet the commitments as they come due.

Note 10 9 - Segment Information

The Company organizes its operations into three reportable segments as follows:

• U.S. pawn

• Latin America pawn

• Retail POS payment solutions (AFF)

Corporate expenses and income, which include administrative expenses, corporate depreciation and amortization, interest expense, interest income, (gain) loss gain on foreign
exchange, merger and acquisition expenses, gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration, and other expenses (income), net, are presented on a consolidated basis
and are not allocated between the U.S. pawn segment, Latin America pawn segment or retail POS payment solutions segment. Intersegment transactions relate to the Company
offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores and are eliminated to arrive at consolidated totals.
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The following tables present reportable segment information for the three month period ended March 31, 2024 and nine month periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 2023
as well as segment earning assets (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
Three Months Ended March

31, 2024

U.S.

Pawn

Latin
America


Pawn

Retail
POS


Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

U.S.

Pawn

Latin
America


Pawn

Retail
POS


Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue: Revenue:      

Retail merchandise sales

Retail merchandise sales

Retail
merchandise
sales

Retail
merchandise
sales $203,769  $132,784  $ —  $ (1,472)

(1)

$ 335,081 

Pawn loan fees Pawn loan fees 114,022  60,538  —  —  174,560 

Leased
merchandise
income

Leased
merchandise
income —  —  189,382  —  189,382 

Interest and
fees on
finance
receivables

Interest and
fees on
finance
receivables —  —  61,413  —  61,413 

Wholesale
scrap jewelry
sales

Wholesale
scrap jewelry
sales 17,140  8,725  —  —  25,865 

Total
revenue

Total
revenue 334,931  202,047  250,795  (1,472) 786,301 

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue:        

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenue:      

Cost of retail
merchandise
sold

Cost of retail
merchandise
sold 115,670  84,816  —  (767)

(1)

199,719 

Depreciation of
leased
merchandise

Depreciation of
leased
merchandise —  —  104,198  (500)

(1)

103,698 

Provision for
lease losses

Provision for
lease losses —  —  39,640  96 

(1)

39,736 

Provision for
loan losses

Provision for
loan losses —  —  33,096  —  33,096 

Cost of
wholesale
scrap jewelry
sold

Cost of
wholesale
scrap jewelry
sold 14,297  7,108  —  —  21,405 

Total cost of
revenue

Total cost of
revenue 129,967  91,924  176,934  (1,171) 397,654 

Net revenue (loss) 204,964  110,123  73,861  (301) 388,647 

Net revenue

Net revenue

Net revenue

Expenses and other income:

Expenses and other income:

Expenses and
other income:

Expenses and
other income:              
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Operating
expenses

Operating
expenses 113,976  63,907  33,641  —  211,524 

Administrative
expenses

Administrative
expenses —  —  —  45,056  45,056 

Depreciation
and
amortization

Depreciation
and
amortization 6,586  5,236  771  14,772  27,365 

Interest
expense

Interest
expense —  —  —  24,689  24,689 

Interest income Interest income —  —  —  (328) (328)

Gain on foreign
exchange

Gain on foreign
exchange —  —  —  (286) (286)

Merger and
acquisition
expenses

Merger and
acquisition
expenses —  —  —  3,387  3,387 

Other expenses
(income), net

Other expenses
(income), net —  —  —  (384) (384)

Total
expenses
and other
income

Total
expenses
and other
income 120,562  69,143  34,412  86,906  311,023 

Total expenses and other
income

Total expenses and other
income

Income (loss)
before income
taxes

Income (loss)
before income
taxes $ 84,402  $ 40,980  $39,449  $ (87,207) $ 77,624 

Income (loss) before income taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes

(1) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

U.S.

Pawn

Latin America

Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue:      

Retail merchandise sales $ 610,493  $ 378,302  $ —  $ (4,935) (1) $ 983,860 

Pawn loan fees 315,679  164,619  —  —  480,298 

Leased merchandise income —  —  562,625  —  562,625 

Interest and fees on finance receivables —  —  174,247  —  174,247 

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales 61,108  37,524  —  —  98,632 

Total revenue 987,280  580,445  736,872  (4,935) 2,299,662 

Cost of revenue:        

Cost of retail merchandise sold 349,138  244,439  —  (2,586) (1) 590,991 

Depreciation of leased merchandise —  —  309,432  (1,608) (1) 307,824 

Provision for lease losses —  —  141,854  (180) (1) 141,674 

Provision for loan losses —  —  90,571  —  90,571 
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Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry sold 49,604  29,408  —  —  79,012 

Total cost of revenue 398,742  273,847  541,857  (4,374) 1,210,072 

Net revenue (loss) 588,538  306,598  195,015  (561) 1,089,590 

Expenses and other income:        

Operating expenses 331,916  179,170  104,280  —  615,366 

Administrative expenses —  —  —  124,428  124,428 

Depreciation and amortization 18,786  15,884  2,258  44,598  81,526 

Interest expense —  —  —  66,657  66,657 

Interest income —  —  —  (1,253) (1,253)

Gain on foreign exchange —  —  —  (1,905) (1,905)

Merger and acquisition expenses —  —  —  3,670  3,670 

Other expenses (income), net —  —  —  (260) (260)

Total expenses and other income 350,702  195,054  106,538  235,935  888,229 

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 237,836  $ 111,544  $ 88,477  $ (236,496) $ 201,361 

As of March 31, 2024

U.S.

Pawn

Latin America

Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Earning assets:

Pawn loans $ 315,792  $ 140,287  $ —  $ —  $ 456,079 

Finance receivables, net —  —  105,653  —  105,653 

Inventories 216,762  85,623  —  —  302,385 

Leased merchandise, net —  —  158,090  (305) (1) 157,785 

(1) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores.
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As of September 30, 2023

U.S.

Pawn

Latin America

Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Earning assets:

Pawn loans $ 341,123  $ 142,662  $ —  $ —  $ 483,785 

Finance receivables, net —  —  113,307  —  113,307 

Inventories 217,406  96,976  —  —  314,382 

Leased merchandise, net —  —  144,826  (1,657) (1) 143,169 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

 
U.S.


Pawn
Latin America


Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue:      

Retail merchandise sales $ 210,681  $ 118,937  $ —  $ (1,703) (1) $ 327,915 

Pawn loan fees 102,684  48,876  —  —  151,560 

Leased merchandise income —  —  183,438  —  183,438 

Interest and fees on finance receivables —  —  54,642  —  54,642 

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales 26,316  18,868  —  —  45,184 
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Total revenue 339,681  186,681  238,080  (1,703) 762,739 

Cost of revenue:        

Cost of retail merchandise sold 121,929  77,963  —  (891) (1) 199,001 

Depreciation of leased merchandise —  —  102,172  (567) (1) 101,605 

Provision for lease losses —  —  49,166  (101) (1) 49,065 

Provision for loan losses —  —  29,285  —  29,285 

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry sold 21,082  14,645  —  —  35,727 

Total cost of revenue 143,011  92,608  180,623  (1,559) 414,683 

Net revenue (loss) 196,670  94,073  57,457  (144) 348,056 

Expenses and other income:        

Operating expenses 109,781  55,756  33,524  —  199,061 

Administrative expenses —  —  —  39,017  39,017 

Depreciation and amortization 5,870  5,445  736  15,060  27,111 

Interest expense —  —  —  20,897  20,897 

Interest income —  —  —  (517) (517)

Gain on foreign exchange —  —  —  (802) (802)

Merger and acquisition expenses —  —  —  31  31 

Other expenses (income), net —  —  —  45  45 

Total expenses and other income 115,651  61,201  34,260  73,731  284,843 

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 81,019  $ 32,872  $ 23,197  $ (73,875) $ 63,213 

(1) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores.
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

 
U.S.


Pawn
Latin America


Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue:      

Retail merchandise sales $ 195,854  $ 107,591  $ —  $ (2,546) (1) $ 300,899 

Pawn loan fees 96,222  49,505  —  —  145,727 

Leased merchandise income —  —  158,089  —  158,089 

Interest and fees on finance receivables —  —  48,846  —  48,846 

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales 12,956  5,626  —  —  18,582 

Total revenue 305,032  162,722  206,935  (2,546) 672,143 

Cost of revenue:        

Cost of retail merchandise sold 114,899  68,642  —  (1,342) (1) 182,199 

Depreciation of leased merchandise —  —  86,703  (184) (1) 86,519 

Provision for lease losses —  —  32,350  (434) (1) 31,916 

Provision for loan losses —  —  31,956  —  31,956 

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry sold 11,338  4,923  —  —  16,261 

Total cost of revenue 126,237  73,565  151,009  (1,960) 348,851 

Net revenue (loss) 178,795  89,157  55,926  (586) 323,292 
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Expenses and other income:        

Operating expenses 102,508  47,979  35,060  —  185,547 

Administrative expenses —  —  —  36,951  36,951 

Depreciation and amortization 5,806  4,566  775  14,824  25,971 

Interest expense —  —  —  18,282  18,282 

Interest income —  —  —  (206) (206)

Loss on foreign exchange —  —  —  255  255 

Merger and acquisition expenses —  —  —  733  733 

Gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition
consideration —  —  —  (19,800) (19,800)

Other expenses (income), net —  —  —  164  164 

Total expenses and other income 108,314  52,545  35,835  51,203  247,897 

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 70,481  $ 36,612  $ 20,091  $ (51,789) $ 75,395 

As of March 31, 2023

U.S.

Pawn

Latin America

Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Earning assets:

Pawn loans $ 256,773 $ 120,924 $ — $ — $ 377,697

Finance receivables, net — — 102,093 — 102,093

Inventories 178,587 79,016 — — 257,603

Leased merchandise, net — — 150,094 (1,240) (1) 148,854

(1) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

U.S.

Pawn

Latin America

Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue:      

Retail merchandise sales $ 596,165  $ 308,356  $ —  $ (2,546) (1) $ 901,975 

Pawn loan fees 274,304  137,309  —  —  411,613 

Leased merchandise income —  —  455,736  —  455,736 

Interest and fees on finance receivables —  —  135,039  —  135,039 

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales 45,153  30,082  —  —  75,235 

Total revenue 915,622  475,747  590,775  (2,546) 1,979,598 

Cost of revenue:        

Cost of retail merchandise sold 349,007  196,057  —  (1,342) (1) 543,722 

Depreciation of leased merchandise —  —  263,014  (184) (1) 262,830 

Provision for lease losses —  —  110,205  (434) (1) 109,771 

Provision for loan losses —  —  83,453  —  83,453 

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry sold 39,150  25,221  —  —  64,371 

Total cost of revenue 388,157  221,278  456,672  (1,960) 1,064,147 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

41/115

Net revenue (loss) 527,465  254,469  134,103  (586) 915,451 

Expenses and other income:        

Operating expenses 302,572  141,574  95,252  —  539,398 

Administrative expenses —  —  —  110,882  110,882 

Depreciation and amortization 17,261  13,520  2,156  44,558  77,495 

Interest expense —  —  —  50,749  50,749 

Interest income —  —  —  (1,104) (1,104)

Gain on foreign exchange —  —  —  (198) (198)

Merger and acquisition expenses —  —  —  1,712  1,712 

Gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition
consideration —  —  —  (82,789) (82,789)

Other expenses (income), net —  —  —  (2,721) (2,721)

Total expenses and other income 319,833  155,094  97,408  121,089  693,424 

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 207,632  $ 99,375  $ 36,695  $ (121,675) $ 222,027 

(1) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores.

As of September 30, 2022

U.S.

Pawn

Latin America

Pawn

Retail POS

Payment

Solutions

Corporate/

Eliminations Consolidated

Earning assets:

Pawn loans $ 279,645 $ 124,582 $ — $ — $ 404,227

Finance receivables, net — — 111,945 — 111,945

Inventories 204,359 91,069 — — 295,428

Leased merchandise, net — — 132,683 (586) (1) 132,097

(1) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (together, the
“Company”) should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included under Part I, Item 1 of this quarterly report on
Form 10-Q, as well as with the audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

GENERAL

The Company’s primary line of business is the operation of retail pawn stores, also known as “pawnshops,” which focus on serving cash cash- and credit-constrained consumers.
The Company is the leading operator of pawn stores in the U.S. and Latin America. Pawn stores help customers meet small short-term cash needs by providing non-recourse pawn
loans and buying merchandise directly from customers. Personal property, such as jewelry, electronics, tools, appliances, sporting goods and musical instruments, is pledged and
held as collateral for the pawn loans over the typical 30-day term of the loan. Pawn stores also generate retail sales primarily from the merchandise acquired through collateral
forfeitures and over-the-counter purchases from customers.

The Company is also a leading provider of technology-driven, retail POS payment solutions focused on serving credit-constrained consumers. The Company’s retail POS payment
solutions business line consists solely of the operations of AFF, which focuses on LTO products and facilitating other retail financing payment options across a large network of
traditional and e-commerce merchant partners in all 50 states in the U.S., the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. AFF’s retail partners provide consumer goods and services to
their customers and use AFF’s LTO and retail finance solutions to facilitate payments on such transactions.
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The Company’s two business lines are organized into three reportable segments. The U.S. pawn segment consists of all pawn operations in the U.S. and , while the Latin America
pawn segment consists of all pawn operations in Mexico, Guatemala, Colombia and El Salvador. The retail POS payment solutions segment consists of the operations of AFF in the
U.S. and Puerto Rico.
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OPERATIONS AND LOCATIONS

Pawn Operations

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company operated 2,988 2,997 pawn store locations composed of 1,181 1,179 stores in 29 U.S. states and the District of Columbia,
1,715 1,721 stores in 32 states in Mexico, 64 67 stores in Guatemala, 14 15 stores in Colombia and 14 15 stores in El Salvador.

The following tables detail table details pawn store count activity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024:

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2023

Three Months Ended March 31,
2024 Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

U.S.
Latin

America Total U.S. Latin America Total

Total locations,
beginning of
period

Total locations,
beginning of
period 1,101  1,788  2,889 

New
locations
opened (1)

New
locations
opened (1) 3  22  25 

Locations
acquired

Locations
acquired 79  —  79 

Consolidation of existing
pawn locations (2) (2) (3) (5)

Consolidation of existing
pawn locations (2) (3)

Consolidation of existing
pawn locations (2) (3)

Consolidation of existing
pawn locations (2) (3)

Total locations, end of
period

Total locations, end of
period

Total
locations,
end of
period

Total
locations,
end of
period 1,181  1,807  2,988 

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023

U.S.
Latin

America Total

Total locations, beginning of
period 1,101  1,771  2,872 

New locations opened (1) 5  52  57 
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Locations acquired 83  —  83 

Consolidation of existing
pawn locations (2) (8) (16) (24)

Total locations, end of
period 1,181  1,807  2,988 

(1) In addition to new store openings, the Company strategically relocated one store two stores in the U.S. during the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. During the nine months

ended September 30, 2023, the Company strategically relocated three stores in the U.S. and two stores in Latin America.

(2) Store consolidations were primarily acquired locations over the past seven years which have been combined with overlapping stores and for which the Company expects to maintain a significant

portion of the acquired customer base in the consolidated location.

(3) Includes 10 pawnshops located in Acapulco, Mexico that were severely damaged by a hurricane in the fall of 2023 which the Company elected to consolidate with other stores in this market. The

Company expects to replace certain of these locations in this market over time as the city’s infrastructure recovers.

POS Payment Solutions

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, AFF provided LTO and retail POS payment solutions for consumer goods and services through a network of approximately
10,800 12,200 active retail merchant partner locations located in all 50 U.S. states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. This compares to the active door count of
approximately 9,800 locations at March 31, 2023.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The significant accounting policies and estimates that the Company believes are the most critical to aid in
fully understanding and evaluating its reported financial results have been reported in the Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no changes to the
Company’s significant accounting policies for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (unaudited)

Operating Results for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 Compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023

U.S. Pawn Segment

The following table presents segment pre-tax operating income and other operating metrics of the U.S. pawn segment for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31,
2024 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands). Operating expenses include salary and benefit expenses of pawn store-level
employees, occupancy costs, bank charges, security, insurance, utilities, supplies and other costs incurred by the pawn stores.

Three Months Ended

September 30,

2023 2022 Increase

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31, Increase /

2024 2024 2023 (Decrease)

U.S. Pawn
Segment

U.S. Pawn
Segment

Revenue: Revenue:

Retail merchandise sales $ 203,769  $ 195,854  4  %

Revenue:
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Revenue:

Retail merchandise sales (1)

Retail merchandise sales (1)

Retail merchandise sales (1)

Pawn loan fees

Pawn loan fees

Pawn loan
fees

Pawn loan
fees 114,022  96,222  18  %

Wholesale
scrap
jewelry sales

Wholesale
scrap
jewelry sales 17,140  12,956  32  %

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales

Total revenue

Total revenue

Total
revenue

Total
revenue 334,931  305,032  10  %

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue:    

Cost of retail merchandise sold 115,670  114,899  1  %

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenue:

Cost of retail merchandise sold
(2)

Cost of retail merchandise sold
(2)

Cost of retail merchandise sold
(2)

Cost of
wholesale
scrap
jewelry sold

Cost of
wholesale
scrap
jewelry sold 14,297  11,338  26  %

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry
sold

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry
sold

Total cost of revenue

Total cost of revenue

Total cost of
revenue

Total cost of
revenue 129,967  126,237  3  %

Net revenue Net revenue 204,964  178,795  15  %

Net revenue

Net revenue

Segment expenses:

Segment expenses:

Segment
expenses:

Segment
expenses:    

Operating
expenses

Operating
expenses 113,976  102,508  11  %

Operating expenses

Operating expenses

Depreciation
and
amortization

Depreciation
and
amortization 6,586  5,806  13  %

Depreciation and amortization
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Depreciation and amortization

Total segment expenses

Total segment expenses

Total
segment
expenses

Total
segment
expenses 120,562  108,314  11  %

Segment pre-tax
operating
income

Segment pre-tax
operating
income $ 84,402  $ 70,481  20  %

Segment pre-tax operating
income

Segment pre-tax operating
income

Operating
metrics:

Operating
metrics:

Operating metrics:

Operating metrics:

Retail merchandise sales
margin

Retail merchandise sales
margin

Retail
merchandise
sales margin

Retail
merchandise
sales margin 43 % 41 %

Net revenue
margin

Net revenue
margin 61 % 59 %

Net revenue margin

Net revenue margin

Segment pre-
tax
operating
margin

Segment pre-
tax
operating
margin 25 % 23 %

Segment pre-tax operating
margin

Segment pre-tax operating
margin

(1) Includes $1.0 million and $1.7 million of retail merchandise sales from intersegment transactions for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the Company

offering AFF’s LTO payment solution in its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation. Excluding the intersegment transactions, consolidated U.S. retail merchandise sales for the

three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $236.0 million and $209.0 million, respectively.

(2) Includes $0.6 million and $0.9 million of cost of retail merchandise sold from intersegment transactions for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the Company

offering AFF’s LTO payment solution in its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation. Excluding the intersegment transactions, consolidated U.S. cost of retail merchandise sold for

the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $139.3 million and $121.0 million, respectively.
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The following table details earning assets, which consist of pawn loans and inventories as well as other earning asset metrics of the U.S. pawn segment, as of September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands, except as otherwise noted):

As of March 31,
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As of September 30,

2023 2022 Increase 2024 2023 Increase

U.S. Pawn
Segment

U.S. Pawn
Segment      

Earning
assets:

Earning
assets:

Earning assets:

Earning assets:

Pawn loans

Pawn loans

Pawn loans Pawn loans $ 341,123  $ 279,645  22  %

Inventories Inventories 217,406  204,359  6  %

Inventories

Inventories

$

$

$

$ 558,529  $ 484,004  15  %

Average outstanding pawn
loan amount (in ones)

Average outstanding pawn
loan amount (in ones)

Average
outstanding
pawn loan
amount (in
ones)

Average
outstanding
pawn loan
amount (in
ones) $ 245  $ 232  6  %

Composition of
pawn
collateral:

Composition of
pawn
collateral:

Composition of pawn collateral:

Composition of pawn collateral:

General
merchandise

General
merchandise 31 % 32 %

General merchandise

General merchandise

Jewelry

Jewelry

Jewelry Jewelry 69 % 68 %

100 % 100 %

Composition of inventories:

Composition of inventories:

Composition of
inventories:

Composition of
inventories:

General
merchandise

General
merchandise 45 % 43 %

General merchandise

General merchandise

Jewelry Jewelry 55 % 57 %

Jewelry

Jewelry

100
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100

100

100 % 100 %

Percentage of inventory aged
greater than one year

Percentage of inventory aged
greater than one year

Percentage of
inventory aged
greater than
one year

Percentage of
inventory aged
greater than
one year 1 % 1 %

Inventory turns
(trailing
twelve
months cost
of
merchandise
sales divided
by average
inventories)

Inventory turns
(trailing
twelve
months cost
of
merchandise
sales divided
by average
inventories) 2.8 times 2.7 times

Inventory turns (trailing twelve
months cost of merchandise
sales divided by average
inventories)

Inventory turns (trailing twelve
months cost of merchandise
sales divided by average
inventories)

Retail Merchandise Sales Operations

U.S. retail merchandise sales increased 4% 12%, totaling $203.8 million $237.0 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $195.9 million $210.7 million for the
third first quarter of 2022. 2023. Same-store retail sales decreased 3% increased 4% in the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. The
increase in total retail sales was primarily due to incremental sales contributions from acquired stores, whereas the decrease in same-store retail sales was primarily due to lower
than normal inventory levels in these locations during the third quarter of 2023 compared to the third quarter of 2022, as further described below. stores. The gross profit margin on
retail merchandise sales in the U.S. was 43% in the third quarter of 2023 and 41% in the third first quarter of 2022, 2024 and 42% in the first quarter of 2023, reflecting continued
demand for value-priced, pre-owned merchandise and low levels of aged inventory.

U.S. inventories increased 6% 21% from $204.4 million $178.6 million at September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 to $217.4 million $216.8 million at September 30, 2023 March 31,
2024. The increase was primarily due to inventory incremental inventories from acquired stores partially offset by slightly lower inventory levels and an increase in existing (same-
store) locations. same-store inventories as a result of the higher pawn loan balances noted below. Inventories aged greater than one year in the U.S. were decreased to 1% at both
September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 March 31, 2024 compared to 2% at March 31, 2023.

Pawn Lending Operations

U.S. pawn loan receivables as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 increased 22% 23% in total and 11% 14% on a same-store basis compared to September 30, 2022 March 31,
2023. The increase in total pawn receivables was due to incremental pawn loans from acquired stores and an increase in same-store pawn receivables, which the Company
believes was primarily due to continued inflationary pressures driving additional demand for pawn loans and tightened underwriting for other competing forms of consumer credit.

27




U.S. pawn loan fees increased 18% 20% to $114.0 million $123.0 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $96.2 million $102.7 million for the third first quarter of
2022. 2023. Same-store pawn fees in the third first quarter of 2023 2024 increased 11% 12% compared to the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. The increase in total and same-store
pawn loan fees was primarily due to higher average store growth and continued growth in demand for pawn receivables, as described above, and increased portfolio yield driven by
slightly improved customer redemption rates. loans.
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26

Segment Expenses

U.S. operating expenses increased 11% 8% to $114.0 million $118.9 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $102.5 million $109.8 million during the third first
quarter of 2022 while same-store operating expenses increased 3% compared with the prior-year period. 2023. The increase in total operating expenses was primarily due to
acquired stores and the increase in same-store operating expenses, which was primarily due to inflationary increases in wages and certain other operating costs and increased
store-level incentive compensation driven by increased net revenues and segment profit during the third quarter of 2023 compared to the third quarter of 2022. store growth.

Segment Pre-Tax Operating Income

The U.S. segment pre-tax operating income for the third first quarter of 2023 2024 was $84.4 million $96.6 million, which generated a pre-tax segment operating margin of 25% 26%
compared to $70.5 million $81.0 million and 23% 24% in the prior year, respectively. The increase in the segment pre-tax operating income and margin reflected an improved net
revenue margin partially offset by the increase in segment expenses.
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Latin America Operations Pawn Segment

Latin American segment pre-tax operating income for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 March
31, 2023 benefited from a 15% 9% favorable change in the average value of the Mexican peso compared to the U.S. dollar. The translated value of Latin American earning assets
as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 also benefited from a 13% an 8% favorable change in the end-of-period Mexican peso
compared to the U.S. dollar. Constant currency results are non-GAAP financial measures, which exclude the effects of foreign currency translation and are calculated by translating
current-year results at prior-year average exchange rates. See the “Constant Currency Results” section in “Non-GAAP Financial Information” below for additional discussion of
constant currency operating results.

The following table presents segment pre-tax operating income and other operating metrics of the Latin America pawn segment for the three months ended September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands). Operating expenses include salary and benefit expenses of
pawn store-level employees, occupancy costs, bank charges, security, insurance, utilities, supplies and other costs incurred by the pawn stores.

Constant Currency Basis

Three Months

Ended

Three Months Ended September 30, Increase /

September 30, 2023 (Decrease)

Constant Currency Basis

Constant
Currency

Basis

Three
Months

Ended

Ended

Ended

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended
March

31,
Increase

/
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March 31,
March

31, Increase / 2024 (Decrease)

2023 2022 Increase (Non-GAAP)
(Non-

GAAP) 2024 2023 (Decrease)
(Non-

GAAP)
(Non-

GAAP)

Latin America
Pawn
Segment

Latin America
Pawn
Segment

Revenue: Revenue:

Revenue:

Revenue:

Retail merchandise sales

Retail merchandise sales

Retail
merchandise
sales

Retail
merchandise
sales $132,784  $107,591  23  % $ 113,130  5  %

Pawn loan
fees

Pawn loan
fees 60,538  49,505  22  % 51,468  4  %

Pawn loan fees

Pawn loan fees

Wholesale
scrap
jewelry sales

Wholesale
scrap
jewelry sales 8,725  5,626  55  % 8,725  55  %

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales

Total revenue

Total revenue

Total
revenue

Total
revenue 202,047  162,722  24  % 173,323  7  %

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue:      

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenue:

Cost of retail merchandise sold

Cost of retail merchandise sold

Cost of retail
merchandise
sold

Cost of retail
merchandise
sold 84,816  68,642  24  % 72,336  5  %

Cost of
wholesale
scrap
jewelry sold

Cost of
wholesale
scrap
jewelry sold 7,108  4,923  44  % 6,023  22  %

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry
sold

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry
sold

Total cost of revenue

Total cost of revenue

Total cost
of
revenue

Total cost
of
revenue 91,924  73,565  25  % 78,359  7  %

Net revenue Net revenue 110,123  89,157  24  % 94,964  7  %

Net revenue

Net revenue

Segment expenses:

Segment expenses:
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Segment
expenses:

Segment
expenses:      

Operating
expenses

Operating
expenses 63,907  47,979  33  % 54,807  14  %

Operating expenses

Operating expenses

Depreciation
and
amortization

Depreciation
and
amortization 5,236  4,566  15  % 4,508  (1) %

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Total segment expenses

Total segment expenses

Total
segment
expenses

Total
segment
expenses 69,143  52,545  32  % 59,315  13  %

Segment pre-tax
operating
income

Segment pre-tax
operating
income $ 40,980  $ 36,612  12  % $ 35,649  (3) %

Segment pre-tax operating income

Segment pre-tax operating income

Operating
metrics:

Operating
metrics:

Operating metrics:

Operating metrics:

Retail merchandise sales
margin

Retail merchandise sales
margin

Retail
merchandise
sales margin

Retail
merchandise
sales margin 36 % 36 % 36 %

Net revenue
margin

Net revenue
margin 55 % 55 % 55 %

Net revenue margin

Net revenue margin

Segment pre-
tax
operating
margin

Segment pre-
tax
operating
margin 20 % 22 % 21 %

Segment pre-tax operating
margin

Segment pre-tax operating
margin
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The following table details earning assets, which consist of pawn loans and inventories as well as other earning asset metrics of the Latin America pawn segment, as of September
30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands, except as otherwise noted):

Constant Currency Basis
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As of

September
30, Increase /

As of September 30, 2023 (Decrease)

Constant Currency Basis Constant Currency Basis

As
of

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

As of March 31,

As of March 31,

As of March 31, 2024 Increase

2023 2022 Increase (Non-GAAP)
(Non-

GAAP) 2024 2023 Increase (Non-GAAP) (Non-GAAP)

Latin America
Pawn
Segment

Latin America
Pawn
Segment        

Earning
assets:

Earning
assets:

Earning assets:

Earning assets:

Pawn loans

Pawn loans

Pawn loans Pawn loans $ 142,662  $ 124,582  15  % $ 124,622  —  %

Inventories Inventories 96,976  91,069  6  % 84,711  (7) %

Inventories

Inventories

$

$

$

$ 239,638  $ 215,651  11  % $ 209,333  (3) %

Average outstanding pawn
loan amount (in ones)

Average outstanding pawn
loan amount (in ones)

Average
outstanding
pawn loan
amount (in
ones)

Average
outstanding
pawn loan
amount (in
ones) $ 89  $ 79  13  % $ 78  (1) %

Composition of
pawn
collateral:

Composition of
pawn
collateral:

Composition of pawn collateral:

Composition of pawn collateral:

General merchandise

General merchandise

General
merchandise

General
merchandise 66 % 69 %

Jewelry Jewelry 34 % 31 %

Jewelry

Jewelry
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100

100

100

100 % 100 %

Composition of inventories:

Composition of inventories:

Composition of
inventories:

Composition of
inventories:

General
merchandise

General
merchandise 68 % 71 %

General merchandise

General merchandise

Jewelry Jewelry 32 % 29 %

Jewelry

Jewelry

100

100

100

100 % 100 %

Percentage of inventory aged
greater than one year

Percentage of inventory aged
greater than one year

Percentage of
inventory
aged greater
than one
year

Percentage of
inventory
aged greater
than one
year 1 % 1 %

Inventory turns
(trailing
twelve
months cost
of
merchandise
sales divided
by average
inventories)

Inventory turns
(trailing
twelve
months cost
of
merchandise
sales divided
by average
inventories) 4.3 times 4.0 times

Inventory turns (trailing twelve
months cost of merchandise
sales divided by average
inventories)

Inventory turns (trailing twelve
months cost of merchandise
sales divided by average
inventories)

Retail Merchandise Sales Operations

Latin America retail merchandise sales increased 23% (5% 10% (flat on a constant currency basis) to $132.8 million $130.8 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024
compared to $107.6 million $118.9 million for the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. Same-store retail sales also increased 23% (5% 9% (flat on a constant currency basis) during the
third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. The increase in flat total and same-store constant currency retail sales was primarily due to greater
demand for value-priced consumer goods, with such demand believed to be driven in part by inflationary pressures on constrained inventory levels throughout the Company’s
customers, and the impact first quarter of increases in government-mandated minimum wage and benefit programs in Mexico benefiting many cash-constrained consumers. 2024.
The gross profit margin on retail merchandise sales was improved to 36% during both the third first quarter of 2024 compared to 34% during the first quarter of 2023 and the third
quarter as a result of 2022. reduced discounting given tighter inventory levels.

Latin America inventories increased 6% (7% decrease 8% (flat on a constant currency basis) from $91.1 million $79.0 million at September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 to $97.0
million $85.6 million at September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. The decrease in flat constant currency inventories was were primarily due to the greater demand for value-priced
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consumer goods mentioned above and slightly lower pawn loan forfeiture rates in the third quarter receivable balances throughout much of 2023 compared to the third quarter of
2022. creating less forfeited inventory. Inventories aged greater than one year in Latin America were 1% at both September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.
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Pawn Lending Operations

Latin America pawn loan receivables increased 15% (less than 1% 16% (7% on a constant currency basis) as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30,
2022 March 31, 2023. On a same-store basis, pawn loan receivables increased 14% (decreased less than 1% 16% (7% on a constant currency basis) as of September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. The relatively flat increase in constant currency total and same-store pawn receivables is believed primarily
due to be larger loan sizes driven in part by the impact a slightly increased mix of increases in government-mandated minimum wage and benefit programs in Mexico benefiting
many cash-constrained consumers. higher value jewelry loans.

Latin America pawn loan fees increased 22% (4% 16% (6% on a constant currency basis), totaling $60.5 million $56.6 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to
$49.5 million $48.9 million for the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. Same-store pawn fees also increased 22% (4% 16% (5% on a constant currency basis) in the third first quarter of
2023 2024 compared to the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. The increase in total and same-store constant currency pawn loan fees was primarily due to improved increased pawn
yields. receivable balances.

Segment Expenses

Operating expenses increased 33% (14% 21% (11% on a constant currency basis) to $63.9 million $67.4 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $48.0
million $55.8 million during the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. Same-store operating expenses increased 31% (13% 18% (8% on a constant currency basis) compared to the prior-
year period. The increase in total and same-store constant currency operating expenses was primarily driven by general inflationary impacts and continued increases in the federally
mandated minimum wage and other increased costs associated with required employee benefit programs.

Segment Pre-Tax Operating Income

The segment pre-tax operating income for the third first quarter of 2023 2024 was $41.0 million $31.9 million, which generated a pre-tax segment operating margin of 20% 16%
compared to $36.6 million $32.9 million and 22% 18% in the prior year, respectively. The increase decrease in the segment pre-tax operating income and margin reflected an
increase in net revenue operating expenses, partially offset by an increase in segment expenses, which caused a decrease in the segment pre-tax operating margin.

net revenue.
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Retail POS Payment Solutions Segment

Retail POS Payment Solutions Operating Results

The following table presents segment pre-tax operating income of the retail POS payment solutions segment for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (dollars in thousands): . Operating expenses include salary and benefit expenses of certain operations-
focused departments, merchant partner incentives, bank and other payment processing charges, credit reporting costs, information technology costs, advertising costs and other
operational costs incurred by AFF.

Adjusted (1)

Three
Months

Ended

Three Months Ended
September

30, Increase /

September 30, Increase / 2022 (Decrease)
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Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31, Increase /

2023 2022 (Decrease)
(Non-

GAAP)
(Non-

GAAP) 2024 2023 (Decrease)

Retail POS
Payment
Solutions
Segment

Retail POS
Payment
Solutions
Segment

Revenue: Revenue:

Revenue:

Revenue:

Leased
merchandise
income

Leased
merchandise
income $189,382  $158,089  20  % $ 158,089  20  %

Leased merchandise income

Leased merchandise income

Interest and fees on finance
receivables

Interest and fees on finance
receivables

Interest and
fees on
finance
receivables

Interest and
fees on
finance
receivables 61,413  48,846  26  % 55,957  10  %

Total
revenue

Total
revenue 250,795  206,935  21  % 214,046  17  %

Total revenue

Total revenue

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue:      

Depreciation of leased
merchandise 104,198  86,703  20  % 85,864  21  %

Provision for lease losses 39,640  32,350  23  % 32,350  23  %

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenue:

Depreciation of leased
merchandise (1)

Depreciation of leased
merchandise (1)

Depreciation of leased
merchandise (1)

Provision for lease losses (2)

Provision for lease losses (2)

Provision for lease losses (2)

Provision for
loan losses

Provision for
loan losses 33,096  31,956  4  % 31,956  4  %

Provision for loan losses

Provision for loan losses

Total cost of revenue

Total cost of revenue

Total cost of
revenue

Total cost of
revenue 176,934  151,009  17  % 150,170  18  %

Net revenue Net revenue 73,861  55,926  32  % 63,876  16  %
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Net revenue

Net revenue

Segment expenses:

Segment expenses:

Segment
expenses:

Segment
expenses:      

Operating
expenses

Operating
expenses 33,641  35,060  (4) % 35,060  (4) %

Operating expenses

Operating expenses

Depreciation
and
amortization

Depreciation
and
amortization 771  775  (1) % 775  (1) %

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Total segment expenses

Total segment expenses

Total
segment
expenses

Total
segment
expenses 34,412  35,835  (4) % 35,835  (4) %

Segment pre-tax
operating
income

Segment pre-tax
operating
income $ 39,449  $ 20,091  96  % $ 28,041  41  %

Segment pre-tax operating
income

Segment pre-tax operating
income

(1) As a result Includes $0.5 million and $0.6 million of purchase accounting, AFF’s as reported amounts depreciation of leased merchandise from intersegment transactions for the three months

ended September 30, 2022 contain significant fair value adjustments. The adjusted amounts March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution in

its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation. Excluding the intersegment transactions, consolidated depreciation of leased merchandise for the three months ended September 30,

2022 exclude these fair value purchase accounting adjustments. March 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $120.3 million and $101.6 million, respectively.

(2) Includes $0.2 million and $0.1 million of provision for lease losses from intersegment transactions for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to the Company

offering AFF’s LTO payment solution in its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation. Excluding the intersegment transactions, consolidated provision for lease losses for the three

months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $43.0 million and $49.1 million, respectively.
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The following table provides a detail of gross transaction volumes originated during the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

September 30,

2023 2022 Increase

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31,

2024
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2024

2024 2023 Increase

Leased
merchandise

Leased
merchandise $147,513  $136,219  8  %

Finance
receivables

Finance
receivables 103,183  84,552  22  %

Finance receivables

Finance receivables

Total gross
transaction
volume

Total gross
transaction
volume $250,696  $220,771  14  %

Total gross transaction
volume

Total gross transaction
volume

The following table details retail POS payment solutions earning assets as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as compared to September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (in
thousands):

Adjusted (2)

As of

As of March 31,

September
30,

As of September 30, 2022 Increase

2023 2022 Increase
(Non-

GAAP)
(Non-

GAAP) 2024 2023 Increase

Leased
merchandise, net:

Leased
merchandise, net:

Leased
merchandise,
before
allowance for
lease losses

Leased
merchandise,
before
allowance for
lease losses $250,298  $210,703  19  % $ 217,412  15  %

Leased merchandise, before
allowance for lease losses

Leased merchandise, before
allowance for lease losses

Less
allowance
for lease
losses

Less
allowance
for lease
losses (105,472) (78,020) 35  % (85,630) 23  %

Less allowance for lease
losses

Less allowance for lease
losses

Leased merchandise, net (1)

Leased merchandise, net (1)

Leased
merchandise,
net (1)

Leased
merchandise,
net (1) $144,826  $132,683  9  % $ 131,782  10  %

Finance
receivables, net:

Finance
receivables, net:

Finance receivables, net:

Finance receivables, net:
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Finance receivables, before
allowance for loan losses

Finance receivables, before
allowance for loan losses

Finance
receivables,
before
allowance for
loan losses

Finance
receivables,
before
allowance for
loan losses $209,991  $190,358  10  % $ 182,500  15  %

Less
allowance
for loan
losses

Less
allowance
for loan
losses (96,684) (78,413) 23  % (78,413) 23  %

Less allowance for loan losses

Less allowance for loan losses

Finance
receivables,
net

Finance
receivables,
net $113,307  $111,945  1  % $ 104,087  9  %

Finance receivables, net

Finance receivables, net

(1) Includes $1.7 million $0.3 million and $0.6 million $1.2 million of intersegment transactions as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, related to the Company offering

AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation. Excluding the intersegment transactions, consolidated net leased merchandise as

of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 totaled $143.2 million $157.8 million and $132.1 million $148.9 million, respectively.

(2) As a result of purchase accounting, AFF’s September 30, 2022 as reported earning assets contain significant fair value adjustments, which were fully amortized during 2022. The adjusted amounts

as of September 30, 2022 exclude these fair value purchase accounting adjustments.
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The following table details the changes in the allowance for lease and loan losses and other portfolio metrics for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Adjusted
(5)

Three
Months

Ended

Three Months Ended
September

30,

September 30, 2022 Increase

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31, Increase /

2023 2022 Increase
(Non-

GAAP)
(Non-

GAAP) 2024 2023 (Decrease)

Allowance for
lease losses:

Allowance for
lease losses:

Balance at
beginning of
period

Balance at
beginning of
period $110,964  $69,101  61  % $86,014  29  %
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Balance at beginning of period

Balance at beginning of period

Provision for lease losses (1)

Provision for lease losses (1)

Provision
for lease
losses (1)

Provision
for lease
losses (1) 39,640  32,350  23  % 32,350  23  %

Charge-
offs

Charge-
offs (46,794) (24,551) 91  % (33,854) 38  %

Charge-offs

Charge-offs

Recoveries Recoveries 1,662  1,120  48  % 1,120  48  %

Recoveries

Recoveries

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

Balance at
end of period

Balance at
end of period $105,472  $78,020  35  % $85,630  23  %

Leased
merchandise
portfolio metrics:

Leased
merchandise
portfolio metrics:

Provision expense as
percentage of originations (2) 27 % 24 %

Leased merchandise portfolio
metrics:

Leased merchandise portfolio
metrics:

Provision rate (2)

Provision rate (2)

Provision rate (2)

Average
monthly net
charge-off
rate (3)

Average
monthly net
charge-off
rate (3) 5.9 % 5.2 %

Average monthly net charge-off
rate (3)

Average monthly net charge-off
rate (3)

Delinquency rate (4)

Delinquency rate (4)

Delinquency
rate (4)

Delinquency
rate (4) 21.1 % 18.9 %

Allowance for
loan losses:

Allowance for
loan losses:

Allowance for loan losses:

Allowance for loan losses:

Balance at beginning of period

Balance at beginning of period

Balance at
beginning of
period

Balance at
beginning of
period $ 93,054  $73,936  26  %

Provision
for loan
losses

Provision
for loan
losses 33,096  31,956  4  %
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Provision for loan losses

Provision for loan losses

Charge-offs

Charge-offs

Charge-
offs

Charge-
offs (30,890) (28,642) 8  %

Recoveries Recoveries 1,424  1,163  22  %

Recoveries

Recoveries

Balance at end of period

Balance at end of period

Balance at
end of period

Balance at
end of period $ 96,684  $78,413  23  %

Finance
receivables
portfolio metrics:

Finance
receivables
portfolio metrics:

Provision expense as
percentage of originations (2) 32 % 38 %

Finance receivables portfolio
metrics:

Finance receivables portfolio
metrics:

Provision rate (2)

Provision rate (2)

Provision rate (2)

Average monthly net charge-off
rate (3)

Average monthly net charge-off
rate (3)

Average
monthly net
charge-off
rate (3)

Average
monthly net
charge-off
rate (3) 4.7 % 5.0 %

Delinquency
rate (4)

Delinquency
rate (4) 19.4 % 19.2 %

Delinquency rate (4)

Delinquency rate (4)

(1) Includes $0.2 million and $0.1 million of provision reduction and $0.4 million of provision increase for lease losses from intersegment transactions for the three months ended September 30,

2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, respectively, related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation.

Excluding the intersegment transactions, the consolidated provision for lease losses for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 totaled $39.7 million $43.0

million and $31.9 million $49.1 million, respectively.

(2) Calculated as provision for lease or loan losses as a percentage of the respective gross transaction volume originated.

(3) Calculated as charge-offs, net of recoveries, as a percentage of the respective average earning asset balance before allowance for lease or loan losses (adjusted to exclude any fair value

purchase accounting adjustments, as applicable). losses.

(4) Calculated as the percentage of the respective contractual earning asset balance owed that is 1 to 89 days past due (the Company charges off leases and finance receivables when they are 90

days or more contractually past due).

(5) As a result of purchase accounting, AFF’s as reported allowance for lease losses for the three months ended September 30, 2022 contains significant fair value adjustments. The adjusted amounts

for the three months ended September 30, 2022 exclude these fair value purchase accounting adjustments. As a result of the significance of these accounting adjustments, the Company does not

believe that the unadjusted leased merchandise portfolio metrics for the three months ended September 30, 2022 provide a useful comparison against the September 30, 2023 amounts.
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LTO Operations

Leased merchandise, before allowance for lease losses, increased 19% 4% as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2022. On an adjusted basis,
excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, leased merchandise, before allowance for lease losses, increased 15% as of September 30, 2023 compared to September
30, 2022 March 31, 2023. This increase was primarily due to increased transaction volumes from new merchant locations added since September 30, 2022. volumes.

The allowance for lease losses increased 35% 3% to $105.5 million $95.8 million as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to $78.0 million $93.3 million as of September
30, 2022. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, the allowance for lease losses increased 23% as of September 30, 2023 compared to
September 30, 2022. This increase March 31, 2023, which was primarily due to the 8% increase in gross transaction volume leased merchandise. As a percentage of lease
merchandise, the allowance was 38% at both March 31, 2024 and an increase in lease loss provisioning rates used during the third quarter of 2023 compared to the third quarter of
2022. 2023.

Leased merchandise income increased 20% 12% to $189.4 million $205.7 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $158.1 million for $183.4 million during the
third first quarter of 2022, 2023, which was primarily due to the higher leased merchandise balances. balances and an increase in customers taking advantage of the early buyout
option during the first quarter of 2024 compared to the first quarter of 2023.

Depreciation of leased merchandise increased 20% 18% to $104.2 million $120.8 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $86.7 million $102.2 million during the
third first quarter of 2022. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, depreciation of leased merchandise increased 21%. 2023. The increase
was primarily due to higher leased merchandise balances. balances and an increase in customers taking advantage of the early buyout option during the first quarter of 2024
compared to the first quarter of 2023. As a percentage of leased merchandise income, depreciation of leased merchandise increased slightly from 54% 56% during the third first
quarter of 2022 (adjusted 2023 to exclude purchase accounting adjustments) to 55% 59% during the third first quarter of 2023. 2024.

Provision for lease losses increased 23% decreased 12% to $39.6 million $43.2 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $32.4 million for $49.2 million during
the third first quarter of 2022, 2023, which was primarily due to the 8% increase in gross transaction volumes and an increase a decrease in lease loss provisioning rates used during
the third first quarter of 2024 compared to the first quarter of 2023, compared to partially offset by the third quarter of 2022 as a result of slightly higher net charge-off rates during the
third quarter of 2023 compared to the third quarter of 2022 and slightly higher delinquency rates as of September 30, 2023 compared to September 30, 2022. 2% increase in gross
transaction volumes. As a percentage of gross transaction volume, the provision for lease losses increased decreased from 24% 33% during the third first quarter of 2022 2023 to
27% 28% during the third first quarter of 2023. 2024. The lease loss provisioning rates during the first half of 2023 were elevated as a result of expected higher charge-offs. Actual
charge-offs from 2023 vintages came in lower than expected, resulting in the release of certain lease loss reserves in the first quarter of 2024.

Retail Finance Operations

Finance receivables, before allowance for loan losses, increased 10% 6% as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2022. On an adjusted basis,
excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, finance receivables, before allowance for loan losses, increased 15% as of September 30, 2023 compared to September
30, 2022 March 31, 2023. This increase in the outstanding receivable balance was primarily due to increased transaction volumes from new merchant locations added since
September 30, 2022. volumes.

The allowance for loan losses increased 23% 8% to $96.7 million $96.0 million as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to $78.4 million $88.6 million as of September
30, 2022. This increase March 31, 2023, which was primarily due to the 22% increase in gross transaction volume compared finance receivables. As a percentage of finance
receivables, the allowance increased from 46% at March 31, 2023 to the third quarter of 2022. 48% at March 31, 2024.

Interest and fees on finance receivables increased 26% 5% to $61.4 million $57.4 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $48.8 million for $54.6 million during
the third first quarter of 2022. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, interest and fees on finance receivables increased 10%, which 2023.
This increase was primarily due to the higher year-over-year finance receivable balances. balances, partially offset by a slight decline in portfolio yield primarily as a result of AFF
expanding its offerings and merchant relationships in certain services sector verticals in the first quarter of 2024, some of which provide slightly lower interest rates.

Provision for loan losses increased 4% to $33.1 million $30.4 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $32.0 million for $29.3 million during the third first quarter
of 2022, 2023, which was primarily due to the 22% 4% increase in gross transaction volumes, partially offset by a decrease in loan loss provisioning rates used during the third
quarter of 2023 compared to the third quarter of 2022 as a result of slightly improved net charge-off rates during the third quarter of 2023 compared to the third quarter of
2022. volumes. As a percentage of gross transaction volume, the provision for loan losses decreased from 38% was 30% during both the third first quarter of 2022 to 32%
during 2023 and the third first quarter of 2023. 2024.
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Segment Expenses

Operating expenses decreased increased 4% to $33.6 million $34.8 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $35.1 million $33.5 million during the third first
quarter of 2022, 2023, which was primarily due to lower receivable acquisition costs and the realization of information technology cost synergies from the Company’s acquisition of
AFF, partially offset by the 14% 3% increase in gross transaction volumes. As a percentage of segment revenues, operating expenses decreased slightly from 16% 14% during the
third first quarter of 2022 (adjusted to exclude purchase accounting adjustments) 2023 to 13% during the third first quarter of 2023.

36 2024.




Segment Pre-Tax Operating Income

The retail POS payment solutions segment pre-tax operating income for the third first quarter of 2023 2024 was $39.4 million $33.1 million compared to $20.1 million $23.2 million in
the third first quarter of 2022. 2023. The increase was primarily the result of fair value purchase accounting and increased segment income resulting from increases an increase in
net revenue, and decreases partially offset by the increase in segment expenses. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, segment pre-tax
operating income for the third quarter of 2022 was $28.0 million.

34

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table reconciles pre-tax operating income of the Company’s U.S. pawn segment, Latin America pawn segment and retail POS payment solutions segment, discussed
above, to consolidated net income for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023
(dollars in thousands):

Three Months
Ended

September 30, Increase /

Three Months Ended

March 31,

March 31,

March 31, Increase /

2023 2022 (Decrease) 2024 2023 (Decrease)

Consolidated
Results of
Operations

Consolidated
Results of
Operations

Segment pre-tax
operating income:

Segment pre-tax
operating income:

Segment pre-tax operating income:

Segment pre-tax operating income:

U.S. pawn

U.S. pawn

U.S. pawn U.S. pawn $84,402  $70,481  20  %

Latin America
pawn

Latin America
pawn 40,980  36,612  12  %

Retail POS payment solutions (1) 39,449  20,091  96  %

Intersegment elimination (2) (301) (586) (49) %

Latin America pawn

Latin America pawn

Retail POS payment solutions
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Retail POS payment solutions

Retail POS payment solutions

Intersegment elimination (1)

Intersegment elimination (1)

Intersegment elimination (1)

Consolidated segment pre-tax
operating income

Consolidated segment pre-tax
operating income

Consolidated
segment
pre-tax
operating
income

Consolidated
segment
pre-tax
operating
income 164,530  126,598  30  %

Corporate expenses
and other income:

Corporate expenses
and other income:    

Corporate expenses and other income:

Corporate expenses and other income:

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses

Administrative
expenses

Administrative
expenses 45,056  36,951  22  %

Depreciation and
amortization

Depreciation and
amortization 14,772  14,824  —  %

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest expense Interest expense 24,689  18,282  35  %

Interest income Interest income (328) (206) 59  %

(Gain) loss on foreign exchange (286) 255  (212) %

Interest income

Interest income

Gain on foreign exchange

Gain on foreign exchange

Gain on foreign exchange

Merger and
acquisition
expenses

Merger and
acquisition
expenses 3,387  733  362  %

Gain on revaluation of contingent
acquisition consideration —  (19,800) (100) %

Merger and acquisition expenses

Merger and acquisition expenses

Other expenses
(income), net

Other expenses
(income), net (384) 164  (334) %

Other expenses (income), net

Other expenses (income), net

Total corporate expenses and other
income

Total corporate expenses and other
income
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Total corporate
expenses
and other
income

Total corporate
expenses
and other
income 86,906  51,203  70  %

Income before
income taxes

Income before
income taxes 77,624  75,395  3  %

Income before income taxes

Income before income taxes

Provision for
income taxes

Provision for
income taxes 20,480  16,079  27  %

   

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income Net income $57,144  $59,316  (4) %

Net income

Net income

(1) The AFF segment results for the three months ended September 30, 2022 are significantly impacted by certain purchase accounting adjustments, as noted in the retail POS payment solutions

segment results of operations above. Adjusted retail POS payment solutions segment pre-tax operating income, excluding such purchase accounting adjustments, was $28.0 million for the three

months ended September 30, 2022.

(2) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores. For further detail, see Note 10 9

of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Corporate Expenses and Taxes

Administrative expenses increased 22% 10% to $45.1 million $43.1 million during the third first quarter of 2023 2024 compared to $37.0 million $39.0 million in the third first quarter of
2022, 2023, primarily due to increased incentive compensation expense, the increase in pawn store count including recent acquisitions, and a 15% 9% change in the average value
of the Mexican peso resulting in higher U.S. dollar translated administrative expenses in Latin America. As a percentage of revenue, administrative expenses increased from were
5% during both the third first quarter of 2022 2023 and the first quarter of 2024.

Depreciation and amortization decreased 12% to 6% $13.2 million during the third first quarter of 2023. 2024 compared to $15.1 million in the first quarter of 2023, primarily due to a
$2.0 million decrease in amortization of acquired AFF intangible assets.

Interest expense increased 35% 22% to $24.7 million $25.4 million during the third first quarter of 2024 compared to $20.9 million in the first quarter of 2023, compared to $18.3
million in the third quarter of 2022, primarily due to both higher floating interest rates and increased amounts outstanding on the Company’s unsecured bank credit facilities. facilities
and higher average total long-term debt balances outstanding. See Note 8 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Merger and acquisition expenses increased 362% to $3.4 million during the third quarter of 2023 compared to $0.7 million in the third quarter of 2022, due to timing of acquisition
activity.

The Company recognized a gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration of $19.8 million during the third quarter of 2022 as a result of a decrease in the liability for the
estimated fair value of contingent consideration related to the AFF acquisition. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated effective income tax rates for the third first quarter of 2024 and 2023 were 25.1% and 2022 were 26.4% and 21.3% 25.0%, respectively. The increase in the effective
tax rate was primarily due to a $1.0 million permanent domestic tax benefit recognized in the third quarter of 2022 related to the $19.8 million gain on revaluation of certain
contingent consideration related to the AFF acquisition, as described above, and a decreased foreign permanent tax benefit recorded in the third quarter of 2023 compared to the
third quarter of 2022, related to a decreased inflation index adjustment allowed in Mexico as a result of moderating inflation in Mexico.
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Operating Results for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

U.S. Pawn Segment

The following table presents segment pre-tax operating income and other operating metrics of the U.S. pawn segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to
the nine months ended September 30, 2022 (dollars in thousands). Operating expenses include salary and benefit expenses of pawn store-level employees, occupancy costs, bank
charges, security, insurance, utilities, supplies and other costs incurred by the pawn stores.

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2023 2022 Increase

U.S. Pawn Segment

Revenue:

Retail merchandise sales $ 610,493  $ 596,165  2 %

Pawn loan fees 315,679  274,304  15 %

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales 61,108  45,153  35 %

Total revenue 987,280  915,622  8 %

Cost of revenue:    

Cost of retail merchandise sold 349,138  349,007  — %

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry sold 49,604  39,150  27 %

Total cost of revenue 398,742  388,157  3 %

Net revenue 588,538  527,465  12 %

Segment expenses:    

Operating expenses 331,916  302,572  10 %

Depreciation and amortization 18,786  17,261  9 %

Total segment expenses 350,702  319,833  10 %

Segment pre-tax operating income $ 237,836  $ 207,632  15 %

Operating metrics:

Retail merchandise sales margin 43 % 41 %

Net revenue margin 60 % 58 %

Segment pre-tax operating margin 24 % 23 %

Retail Merchandise Sales Operations

U.S. retail merchandise sales increased 2% to $610.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $596.2 million for the nine months ended September
30, 2022. Same-store retail sales decreased 2% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in total
retail sales was primarily due to sales contributions from acquired stores, whereas the decrease in same-store retail sales was primarily due to lower than normal inventory levels in
these locations during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023,
the gross profit margin on retail merchandise sales in the U.S. was 43% compared to a margin of 41% during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 reflecting continued
demand for value-priced, pre-owned merchandise and low levels of aged inventory.
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Pawn Lending Operations

U.S. pawn loan fees increased 15% to $315.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $274.3 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2022. Same-store pawn fees increased 11% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in total and
same-store pawn loan fees was primarily due to higher average pawn receivables and increased portfolio yield driven by slightly improved customer redemption rates.

Segment Expenses

U.S. store operating expenses increased 10% to $331.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $302.6 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 while same-store operating expenses increased 5% compared with the prior-year period. The increase in total operating expenses was primarily due to
acquired stores and the increase in same-store operating expenses, which was primarily due to inflationary increases in wages and certain other operating costs and increased
store-level incentive compensation driven by increased net revenues and segment profit, during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2022.

Segment Pre-Tax Operating Income

The U.S. segment pre-tax operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $237.8 million, which generated a pre-tax segment operating margin of 24%
compared to $207.6 million and 23% in the prior year, respectively. The increase in the segment pre-tax operating income and margin reflected an improved net revenue margin
partially offset by the increase in segment expenses.
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Latin America Operations Segment

Latin American segment pre-tax operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 benefited from a 12%
favorable change in the average value of the Mexican peso compared to the U.S. dollar.

The following table presents segment pre-tax operating income and other operating metrics of the Latin America pawn segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 (dollars in thousands). Operating expenses include salary and benefit expenses of pawn store-level employees,
occupancy costs, bank charges, security, insurance, utilities, supplies and other costs incurred by the pawn stores.

Constant Currency Basis

Nine Months

Ended

Nine Months Ended September 30,

September 30, 2023 Increase

  2023 2022 Increase (Non-GAAP) (Non-GAAP)

Latin America Pawn Segment

Revenue:

Retail merchandise sales $ 378,302  $ 308,356  23 % $ 335,675  9 %

Pawn loan fees 164,619  137,309  20 % 145,876  6 %

Wholesale scrap jewelry sales 37,524  30,082  25 % 37,524  25 %

Total revenue 580,445  475,747  22 % 519,075  9 %

Cost of revenue:      

Cost of retail merchandise sold 244,439  196,057  25 % 217,075  11 %

Cost of wholesale scrap jewelry sold 29,408  25,221  17 % 25,945  3 %

Total cost of revenue 273,847  221,278  24 % 243,020  10 %

Net revenue 306,598  254,469  20 % 276,055  8 %

Segment expenses:      
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Operating expenses 179,170  141,574  27 % 160,068  13 %

Depreciation and amortization 15,884  13,520  17 % 14,306  6 %

Total segment expenses 195,054  155,094  26 % 174,374  12 %

Segment pre-tax operating income $ 111,544  $ 99,375  12 % $ 101,681  2 %

Operating metrics:

Retail merchandise sales margin 35 % 36 % 35 %

Net revenue margin 53 % 53 % 53 %

Segment pre-tax operating margin 19 % 21 % 20 %
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Retail Merchandise Sales Operations

Latin America retail merchandise sales increased 23% (9% on a constant currency basis) to $378.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $308.4
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Same-store retail sales increased 22% (8% on a constant currency basis) during the nine months ended September 30,
2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in total and same-store retail sales was primarily due to greater demand for value-priced consumer
goods, with such demand believed to be driven in part by inflationary pressures on the Company’s customers and the impact of increases in government-mandated minimum wage
and benefit programs in Mexico benefiting many cash-constrained consumers. The gross profit margin on retail merchandise sales was 35% during the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 and 36% during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Pawn Lending Operations

Latin America pawn loan fees increased 20% (6% on a constant currency basis) to $164.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $137.3 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Same-store pawn fees also increased 20% (6% on a constant currency basis) during the nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in total and same-store constant currency pawn loan fees was primarily due to improved pawn yields.

Segment Expenses

Operating expenses increased 27% (13% on a constant currency basis) to $179.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $141.6 million during the
nine months ended September 30, 2022. Same-store operating expenses increased 25% (12% on a constant currency basis) compared to the prior-year period. The increase in
total and same-store operating expenses was primarily driven by general inflationary impacts and increases in the federally mandated minimum wage and other required benefit
programs.

Segment Pre-Tax Operating Income

The segment pre-tax operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $111.5 million, which generated a pre-tax segment operating margin of 19% compared
to $99.4 million and 21% in the prior year, respectively. The increase in the segment pre-tax operating income reflected an increase in net revenue partially offset by an increase in
segment expenses, which caused a decrease in the segment pre-tax operating margin.
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Retail POS Payment Solutions Segment

Retail POS Payment Solutions Operating Results

The following table presents segment pre-tax operating income of the retail POS payment solutions segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 as compared to the
nine months ended September 30, 2022 (dollars in thousands):
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Adjusted (1)

Nine Months

Ended

Nine Months Ended September 30,

September 30, 2022 Increase

2023 2022 Increase (Non-GAAP) (Non-GAAP)

Retail POS Payment Solutions Segment

Revenue:

Leased merchandise income $ 562,625  $ 455,736  23 % $ 455,736  23 %

Interest and fees on finance receivables 174,247  135,039  29 % 169,837  3 %

Total revenue 736,872  590,775  25 % 625,573  18 %

Cost of revenue:  

Depreciation of leased merchandise 309,432  263,014  18 % 256,218  21 %

Provision for lease losses 141,854  110,205  29 % 110,205  29 %

Provision for loan losses 90,571  83,453  9 % 83,453  9 %

Total cost of revenue 541,857  456,672  19 % 449,876  20 %

Net revenue 195,015  134,103  45 % 175,697  11 %

Segment expenses:  

Operating expenses 104,280  95,252  9 % 95,252  9 %

Depreciation and amortization 2,258  2,156  5 % 2,156  5 %

Total segment expenses 106,538  97,408  9 % 97,408  9 %

Segment pre-tax operating income $ 88,477  $ 36,695  141 % $ 78,289  13 %

(1) As a result of purchase accounting, AFF’s as reported amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 contain significant fair value adjustments. The adjusted amounts for the nine

months ended September 30, 2022 exclude these fair value purchase accounting adjustments.

The following table provides a detail of gross transaction volumes originated during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 (in
thousands):

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2023 2022 Increase

Leased merchandise $ 452,792  $ 371,935  22 %

Finance receivables 303,485  239,618  27 %

Total gross transaction volume $ 756,277  $ 611,553  24 %
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The following table details the changes in the allowance for lease and loan losses and other portfolio metrics for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 as compared to the
nine months ended September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

Adjusted (5)

Nine Months

Ended

Nine Months Ended September 30,
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September 30, Increase / 2022 Increase

  2023 2022 (Decrease) (Non-GAAP) (Non-GAAP)

Allowance for lease losses:

Balance at beginning of period $ 79,576  $ 5,442  1,362 % $ 66,968  19 %

Provision for lease losses (1) 141,854  110,205  29 % 110,205  29 %

Charge-offs (120,966) (40,872) 196 % (94,788) 28 %

Recoveries 5,008  3,245  54 % 3,245  54 %

Balance at end of period $ 105,472  $ 78,020  35 % $ 85,630  23 %

Leased merchandise portfolio metrics:

Provision expense as percentage of originations (2) 31 % 30 %

Average monthly net charge-off rate (3) 5.3 % 4.8 %

Delinquency rate (4) 21.1 % 18.9 %

Allowance for loan losses:

Balance at beginning of period $ 84,833  $ 75,574  12 %

Provision for loan losses 90,571  83,453  9 %

Charge-offs (83,281) (84,629) (2)%

Recoveries 4,561  4,015  14 %

Balance at end of period $ 96,684  $ 78,413  23 %

Finance receivables portfolio metrics:

Provision rate (2) 30 % 35 %

Average monthly net charge-off rate (3) 4.4 % 4.5 %

Delinquency rate (4) 19.4 % 19.2 %

(1) Includes $0.2 million and $0.4 million of provision increase from intersegment transactions for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, related to the Company offering

AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores that are eliminated upon consolidation. Excluding the intersegment transactions, the provision for lease losses for the nine

months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 totaled $141.7 million and $109.8 million, respectively.

(2) Calculated as provision for lease or loan losses as a percentage of the respective gross transaction volume originated.

(3) Calculated as charge-offs, net of recoveries, as a percentage of the respective average earning asset balance before allowance for lease or loan losses (adjusted to exclude any fair value

purchase accounting adjustments, as applicable).

(4) Calculated as the percentage of the respective contractual earning asset balance owed that is 1 to 89 days past due (the Company charges off leases and finance receivables when they are 90

days or more contractually past due).

(5) As a result of purchase accounting, AFF’s as reported allowance for lease losses for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 contains significant fair value adjustments. The adjusted amounts

for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 exclude these fair value purchase accounting adjustments. As a result of the significance of these accounting adjustments, the Company does not

believe that the unadjusted leased merchandise portfolio metrics for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 provide a useful comparison against the September 30, 2023 amounts.
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LTO Operations

Leased merchandise income increased 23% to $562.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $455.7 million for the nine months ended September
30, 2022, which was primarily due to the higher leased merchandise balances.

Depreciation of leased merchandise increased 18% to $309.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $263.0 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2022. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, depreciation of leased merchandise increased 21%. The increase was primarily
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due to higher leased merchandise balances. As a percentage of leased merchandise income, depreciation of leased merchandise decreased slightly from 56% during the nine
months ended September 30, 2022 (adjusted to exclude purchase accounting adjustments) to 55% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Provision for lease losses increased 29% to $141.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $110.2 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2022, which was primarily due to the 22% increase in gross transaction volumes and an increase in lease loss provisioning rates used during the nine months ended September 30,
2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 as a result of slightly higher net charge-off rates during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the
nine months ended September 30, 2022 and slightly higher delinquency rates as of September 30, 2023 compared to September 30, 2022. As a percentage of gross transaction
volume, the provision for lease losses increased from 30% during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 to 31% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Retail Finance Operations

Interest and fees on finance receivables increased 29% to $174.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $135.0 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2022. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, interest and fees on finance receivables increased 3%. The increase was
primarily due to timing of transaction volume originations in 2022 resulting in a decline in the average finance receivable balance during most of 2022.

Provision for loan losses increased 9% to $90.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $83.5 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2022, which was primarily due to the 27% increase in gross transaction volumes, partially offset by a decrease in loan loss provisioning rates used during the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 as a result of slightly improved net charge-off rates during the nine months ended September 30,
2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. As a percentage of gross transaction volume, the provision for loan losses decreased from 35% during the nine
months ended September 30, 2022 to 30% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Segment Expenses

Operating expenses increased 9% to $104.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $95.3 million during the nine months ended September 30,
2022, which was primarily due to the 24% increase in gross transaction volumes, partially offset by lower receivable acquisition costs and the realization of information technology
cost synergies from the Company’s acquisition of AFF. As a percentage of segment revenues, operating expenses decreased from 15% during the nine months ended September
30, 2022 (adjusted to exclude purchase accounting adjustments) to 14% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Segment Pre-Tax Operating Income

The retail POS payment solutions segment pre-tax operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $88.5 million compared to $36.7 million in the nine months
ended September 30, 2022. The increase was primarily the result of fair value purchase accounting and increased segment income resulting from increases in net revenue partially
offset by the increase in segment expenses. On an adjusted basis, excluding the impacts of fair value purchase accounting, segment pre-tax operating income for the nine months
ended September 30, 2022 was $78.3 million.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table reconciles pre-tax operating income of the Company’s U.S. pawn segment, Latin America pawn segment and retail POS payment solutions segment, discussed
above, to consolidated net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 (dollars in thousands):

Nine Months Ended

September 30, Increase /

  2023 2022 (Decrease)

Consolidated Results of Operations

Segment pre-tax operating income:

U.S. operations $ 237,836  $ 207,632  15 %

Latin America pawn 111,544  99,375  12 %

Retail POS payment solutions (1) 88,477  36,695  141 %

Intersegment eliminations (2) (561) (586) (4)%

Consolidated segment pre-tax operating income 437,296  343,116  27 %

Corporate expenses and other income:

Administrative expenses 124,428  110,882  12 %

Depreciation and amortization 44,598  44,558  — %
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Interest expense 66,657  50,749  31 %

Interest income (1,253) (1,104) 13 %

Gain on foreign exchange (1,905) (198) 862 %

Merger and acquisition expenses 3,670  1,712  114 %

Gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration —  (82,789) (100)%

Other expenses (income), net (260) (2,721) (90)%

Total corporate expenses and other income 235,935  121,089  95 %

Income before income taxes 201,361  222,027  (9)%

Provision for income taxes 51,649  48,598  6 %

Net income $ 149,712  $ 173,429  (14)%

(1) The AFF segment results for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 are significantly impacted by certain purchase accounting adjustments, as noted in the retail POS payment solutions

segment results of operations above. Adjusted retail POS payment solutions segment pre-tax operating income, excluding such purchase accounting adjustments, was $78.3 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2022.

(2) Represents the elimination of intersegment transactions related to the Company offering AFF’s LTO payment solution as a payment option in its U.S. pawn stores. For further detail, see Note 10 of

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Corporate Expenses and Taxes

Administrative expenses increased 12% to $124.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $110.9 million during the nine months ended September
30, 2022, primarily due to increased incentive compensation expense, the increase in pawn store count, including recent acquisitions, and a 12% change in the average value of the
Mexican peso resulting in higher U.S. dollar translated administrative expenses in Latin America. As a percentage of revenue, administrative expenses decreased from 6% during
the nine months ended September 30, 2022 to 5% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Interest expense increased 31% to $66.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $50.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022,
primarily due to both higher floating interest rates and increased amounts outstanding on the Company’s unsecured bank credit facilities. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Merger and acquisition expenses increased 114% to $3.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $1.7 million for the nine months ended September
30, 2022, due to timing of acquisition activity in the third quarter of 2023.

The Company recognized a gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration of $82.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 as a result of a decrease
in the liability for the estimated fair value of certain contingent consideration related to the AFF acquisition. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated effective income tax rates for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were 25.7% and 21.9%, respectively. The increase in the effective tax rate was
primarily due to a $4.3 million permanent domestic tax benefit recognized in the nine months ended September 30, 2022 related to the $82.8 million gain on revaluation of certain
contingent consideration related to the AFF acquisition, as described above, and a decreased foreign permanent tax benefit recorded in the nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022, related to a decreased inflation index adjustment allowed in Mexico as a result of moderating inflation.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Material Capital Requirements

The Company’s primary capital requirements include:

• Expand pawn operations through growth of pawn receivables and inventories in existing stores, new store openings, strategic acquisitions of pawn stores and purchases of
underlying real estate at existing locations;

• Expand retail POS payment solutions operations through growth of the business generated from new and existing merchant partners; and

• Return capital to shareholders through dividends and stock repurchases.
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Other material capital requirements include operating expenses (see Note 4 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements regarding operating lease commitments), maintenance
capital expenditures related to its facilities, technology platforms, general corporate operating activities, income tax payments and debt service, among others. Net interest expense
is expected to increase in 2023 2024 compared to 2022 2023 due to (i) increased borrowings primarily undertaken to fund recent acquisitions and (ii) anticipated higher floating
interest rates on the borrowings under the revolving credit facilities. The Company believes that net cash provided by operating activities and available and unused funds under its
revolving unsecured credit facilities will be adequate to meet its liquidity and capital needs for these items over the next 12 months and also in the longer-term beyond the next 12
months.
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Expand Pawn Operations

The Company intends to continue expansion of its pawn operations through growth of pawn receivables and inventories in existing stores along with new store openings and
acquisitions.

For 2023, the Company has opened 57 new (“de novo”) stores in total through September 30, 2023 and for the full year of 2023 expects to add approximately 65 total new locations.
Future store openings are subject to the Company’s ability to identify locations in markets with attractive demographics, available real estate with favorable leases and limited
competition.

During the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company acquired 83 one pawn stores store in the U.S. and acquired two pawn licenses to open pawn
stores in the state of Nevada for a cumulative purchase price of $168.1 million $1.3 million, net of cash acquired and subject to future post-closing adjustments. The Company
evaluates potential acquisitions based upon growth potential, purchase price, available liquidity, strategic fit and quality of management personnel, among other factors.

For 2024, the Company has opened 19 new (“de novo”) stores in total through March 31, 2024 and for the full year of 2024 expects to add approximately 90 to 100 total new
locations through new store openings and acquisitions. Future store openings are subject to the Company’s ability to identify locations in markets with attractive demographics,
available real estate with favorable leases and limited competition.

Although viewed by management as a discretionary expenditure not required to operate its pawn stores, the Company may continue to strategically purchase real estate from its
landlords at existing stores or in conjunction with pawn store acquisitions as opportunities arise at reasonable valuations. The Company purchased the real estate at 24 nine store
locations, primarily from landlords at existing stores, for a cumulative purchase price of $46.7 million $11.3 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31,
2024.

Expand Retail POS Payment Solutions Operations

AFF expects to expand its business primarily by promoting and expanding relationships with both new and existing customers and retail merchant partners. In addition, AFF has
made, and intends to continue to make, investments in its customer and merchant support operations and facilities, its technology platforms and its proprietary decisioning platforms
and processes. In addition to utilizing cash flows generated from its own operations to fund expected 2023 2024 growth, AFF has access to the additional sources of liquidity
described below if needed to fund further expansion activities.

Return of Capital to Shareholders

In October 2023, April 2024, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a $0.35 per share fourth second quarter cash dividend on common shares outstanding, or an aggregate of
$15.8 million based on the September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 share count, to be paid on November 30, 2023 May 31, 2024 to stockholders of record as of November 15,
2023 May 15, 2024. While the Company currently expects to continue the payment of quarterly cash dividends, the amount, declaration and payment of cash dividends in the future
(quarterly or otherwise) will be made by the Board of Directors, from time to time, subject to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, business requirements,
compliance with legal requirements, debt covenant restrictions and other relevant factors.
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During the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock. During the three months ended March 31,
2023, the Company repurchased a total of 1,248,000 782,000 shares of common stock at an aggregate cost of $114.4 million $70.7 million and an average cost per share of
$91.58. $90.37. The aggregate cost and average cost per share does not include the effect of the 1% excise tax on certain share repurchases enacted under the inflation Inflation
Reduction Act of 2022. The Company incurred $1.1 million $0.7 million of excise taxes during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2022, the Company repurchased 2,035,000 shares of common stock at an aggregate cost of $144.7 million and an average cost per share of $71.12.
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All repurchases during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 were conducted under the Company’s $100.0 million share repurchase program authorized in April 2022 and the
$100.0 million share repurchase program authorized in October 2022 and such repurchases complete the authorizations under these programs. In July 2023, the Company’s Board
of Directors authorized a new common stock repurchase program for up to $200.0 million of the Company’s outstanding common stock, of which the entire $200.0 million is
currently remaining. While the The Company intends to continue repurchases under its active share repurchase program, future share repurchases are including through open
market transactions under trading plans in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 and Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, subject to a variety of factors, including,
but not limited to, the level of cash balances, liquidity needs, including funding acquisitions, credit availability, debt covenant restrictions, general business and economic conditions,
regulatory requirements, the market price of the Company’s stock, the Company’s dividend policy and the availability of alternative investment opportunities.
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Sources of Liquidity

The Company regularly evaluates opportunities to optimize its capital structure, including through consideration of the issuance of debt or equity, to refinance existing debt and to
enter into interest rate hedge transactions, such as interest rate swap agreements. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the Company’s primary sources of liquidity were
$86.5 million $135.1 million in cash and cash equivalents and $60.9 million $658.2 million of available and unused funds under the Company’s revolving unsecured credit facilities,
subject to certain financial covenants (see Note 8 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company had working capital of $917.3 million $942.0 million as of
September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.

On October 18, 2023, the Company amended its domestic Credit Facility. The total lender commitment under the amended facility, which is provided by a group of twelve
commercial banks, was increased by $50.0 million, from $590.0 million to $640.0 million. The amended credit facility remains unsecured and all other terms remained unchanged. In
addition, in August 2023, the Company renewed and extended into 2027, the Mexico Credit Facility in the amount of $600.0 million Mexican pesos.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 included $24.1 million $33.2 million held by its foreign subsidiaries. These cash balances,
which are primarily held in Mexican pesos, are associated with foreign earnings the Company has asserted are indefinitely reinvested and which the Company primarily plans to use
to support its continued growth plans outside the U.S. through funding of capital expenditures, acquisitions, operating expenses or other similar cash needs of the Company’s
foreign operations.

The Company’s liquidity is affected by a number of factors, including changes in general customer traffic and demand, pawn loan balances, loan-to-value ratios, collection of pawn
fees, merchandise sales, inventory levels, LTO merchandise, finance receivable balances, collection of lease and finance receivable payments, seasonality, operating expenses,
administrative expenses, expenses related to merger and acquisition activities, litigation-related expenses, tax rates, gold prices, foreign currency exchange rates and the pace of
new pawn store expansion and acquisitions. Additionally, a prolonged reduction in earnings and EBITDA could limit the Company’s future ability to fully borrow on its credit facilities
under current leverage covenants. Regulatory developments affecting the Company’s operations may also impact profitability and liquidity. See “Regulatory
Developments. “Governmental Regulation.”

If needed, the Company could seek to raise additional funds from a variety of sources, including, but not limited to, repatriation of excess cash held in Latin America, the sale of
assets, reductions in operating expenses, capital expenditures and dividends, the forbearance or deferral of operating expenses, the issuance of debt or equity securities, utilizing
other structured financing arrangements, the leveraging of currently unencumbered real estate owned by the Company and/or changes to its management of current assets. The
characteristics of the Company’s current assets, specifically the ability to rapidly liquidate gold jewelry inventory, which accounts for 48% 52% of total inventory, give the Company
flexibility to quickly increase cash flow if necessary.
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Cash Flows and Liquidity Metrics

The following tables set forth certain historical information with respect to the Company’s sources and uses of cash and other key indicators of liquidity (dollars in thousands):

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022

Three Months
Ended March 31, Three Months Ended March 31,
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2024 2024 2023

Cash
flow
provided
by
operating
activities

Cash
flow
provided
by
operating
activities $ 317,037  $ 325,798 

Cash
flow used
in
investing
activities

Cash
flow used
in
investing
activities $ (409,173) $(238,732)

Cash flow provided
by (used in)
financing activities $ 58,707  $(107,575)

Cash
flow used
in
financing
activities

As of September 30,

2023 2022

As of March 31, As of March 31,

2024 2024 2023

Working
capital

Working
capital $ 917,270  $810,929 

Current
ratio

Current
ratio 3.9:1 3.5:1 Current ratio 4.0:1 3.5:1
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Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $8.8 million increased $11.9 million, or 3% 11%, from $325.8 million $110.6 million for the nine three months ended September
30, 2022 March 31, 2023 to $317.0 million $122.5 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, as a decrease an increase in net income of $23.7
million $14.0 million was partially offset by net changes in certain non-cash adjustments to reconcile net income to operating cash flow and net changes in other operating assets
and liabilities (as detailed in the consolidated statements of cash flows).

Cash Flow Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased $170.4 million $16.4 million, or 71% 124%, from $238.7 million $13.2 million for the nine three months ended September 30,
2022 March 31, 2023 to $409.2 million $29.6 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. Cash flows from investing activities are utilized primarily to
fund acquisitions, purchase of furniture, fixtures, equipment and improvements, which includes capital expenditures for improvements to existing stores and for new pawn store
openings and other corporate assets, and discretionary purchases of store real property. In addition, cash flows related to the funding of new pawn loans, net of cash repayments
and recovery of principal through the sale of inventories acquired from forfeiture of pawn collateral and changes in net finance receivables, are included in investing activities. The
Company paid $46.7 million $26.4 million for furniture, fixtures, equipment and improvements and $46.7 million $11.3 million for discretionary pawn store real property purchases
during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 compared to $29.6 million $13.8 million and $77.7 million $17.5 million in the prior-year period, respectively.
The Company paid $168.4 million $1.7 million in cash related to pawn store acquisitions during both the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $7.1 million
during the nine months ended September 30, 2022. March 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company funded received funds from a net increase decrease in pawn loans of $59.4
million $25.1 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and $74.7 million $44.4 million during the nine three months ended September 30,
2022 March 31, 2023. The Company funded a net increase in finance receivables of $88.0 million $15.3 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31,
2024 and $49.6 million $24.5 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.

Cash Flow Provided by Used in Financing Activities
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Net cash provided by financing activities increased $166.3 million, or 155%, from net cash used in financing activities of $107.6 million decreased $31.1 million, or 27%, from $116.0
million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 to net cash provided by financing activities of $58.7 million $84.9 million for the nine three months ended
September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. Net borrowings payments on the credit facilities were $222.9 million $553.0 million during the nine three months ended September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 compared to net borrowings of $79.0 million $31.0 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. During the three months
ended March 31, 2024, the Company received $500.0 million in proceeds from the private offering of senior unsecured notes and paid $9.1 million in debt issuance costs which was
used to repay a portion of the outstanding balance on the Credit Facility, after payment of fees and expenses related to the offering. The Company did not repurchase any shares
during the three months ended March 31, 2024 while it funded $67.2 million of share repurchases during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The Company funded $115.5
million for share repurchases and paid dividends of $46.1 million $15.8 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, compared to funding $140.4
million of share repurchases and dividends paid of $44.4 million $15.3 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. In addition, the Company
paid withholding taxes on net share settlements of restricted stock awards during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 of $7.0 million compared to $2.5
million during the three months ended March 31, 2023.

38
REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS


GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION   

The Company’s pawn LTO and retail finance POS payments solutions businesses are subject to significant regulation in all of the jurisdictions in which it operates. Existing
regulations and regulatory developments are further and more completely described under “Governmental Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 of the Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 6, 2023 February 5, 2024 and in subsequent documents filed with the SEC.

There have been no other material changes in regulatory developments directly affecting the Company since December 31, 2022.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company uses certain financial calculations such as adjusted net income, adjusted diluted earnings per share, EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA, free cash flow, adjusted free cash
flow adjusted retail POS payment solutions segment metrics and constant currency results as factors in the measurement and evaluation of the Company’s operating performance
and period-over-period growth. The Company derives these financial calculations on the basis of methodologies other than GAAP, primarily by excluding from a comparable GAAP
measure certain items the Company does not consider to be representative of its actual operating performance. These financial calculations are “non-GAAP financial measures” as
defined under the SEC rules. The Company uses these non-GAAP financial measures in operating its business because management believes they are less susceptible to
variances in actual operating performance that can result from the excluded items, other infrequent charges and currency fluctuations. The Company presents these financial
measures to investors because management believes they are useful to investors in evaluating the primary factors that drive the Company’s core operating performance and
provide greater transparency into the Company’s results of operations. However, items that are excluded and other adjustments and assumptions that are made in calculating these
non-GAAP financial measures are significant components in understanding and assessing the Company’s financial performance. These non-GAAP financial measures should be
evaluated in conjunction with, and are not a substitute for, the Company’s GAAP financial measures. Further, because these non-GAAP financial measures are not determined in
accordance with GAAP and are thus susceptible to varying calculations, the non-GAAP financial measures, as presented, may not be comparable to other similarly-titled measures
of other companies.

While acquisitions are an important part of the Company’s overall strategy, the Company has adjusted the applicable financial calculations to exclude merger and acquisition
expenses including the Company’s transaction expenses incurred in connection with its acquisition of AFF and the impacts of purchase accounting with respect to the AFF
acquisition, in order to allow more accurate comparisons of the financial results to prior periods. In addition, the Company does not consider these merger and acquisition expenses
to be related to the organic operations of the acquired businesses or its continuing operations, and such expenses are generally not relevant to assessing or estimating the long-
term performance of the acquired businesses.  Merger and acquisition expenses include incremental costs directly associated with merger and acquisition activities, including
professional fees, legal expenses, severance, retention and other employee-related costs, contract breakage costs and costs related to the consolidation of technology systems and
corporate facilities, among others.

The Company has certain leases in Mexico which are denominated in U.S. dollars. The lease liability of these U.S.-dollar-denominated  dollar-denominated leases, which is
considered a monetary liability, is remeasured into Mexican pesos using current period exchange rates, resulting in the recognition of foreign currency exchange gains or losses.
The Company has adjusted the applicable financial measures to exclude these remeasurement gains or losses (i) because they are non-cash, non-operating items that could create
volatility in the Company’s consolidated results of operations due to the magnitude of the end of period lease liability being remeasured and (ii) to improve comparability of current
periods presented with prior periods.
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In conjunction with the Cash America merger in 2016, the Company recorded certain lease intangibles related to above- or below-market lease liabilities of Cash America, which are
included in the operating lease right of use asset on the consolidated balance sheets. As the Company continues to opportunistically purchase real estate from landlords at certain
Cash America stores, the associated lease intangible, if any, is written off and gain or loss is recognized. The Company has adjusted the applicable financial measures to exclude
these gains or losses given the variability in size and timing of these transactions and because they are non-cash, non-operating gains or losses. The Company believes this
improves comparability of operating results for current periods presented with prior periods.
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Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share

Management believes the presentation of adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share provides investors with greater transparency and provides a more complete
understanding of the Company’s financial performance and prospects for the future by excluding items that management believes are non-operating in nature and are not
representative of the Company’s core operating performance. In addition, management believes the adjustments shown below are useful to investors in order to allow them to
compare the Company’s financial results for the current periods presented with the prior periods presented.

The following table provides a reconciliation between net income and diluted earnings per share calculated in accordance with GAAP to adjusted net income and adjusted diluted
earnings per share, which are shown net of tax (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

In Thousands Per Share In Thousands Per Share In Thousands Per Share In Thousands Per Share

In Thousands

In Thousands

In Thousands

Net income and
diluted
earnings per
share, as
reported

Net income and
diluted
earnings per
share, as
reported $ 57,144  $ 1.26  $ 59,316  $ 1.26  $ 149,712  $ 3.27  $ 173,429  $ 3.64 

Net income and diluted earnings
per share, as reported

Net income and diluted earnings
per share, as reported

Adjustments, net of tax:

Adjustments, net of tax:

Adjustments, net
of tax:

Adjustments, net
of tax:

Merger and
acquisition
expenses

Merger and
acquisition
expenses 2,605  0.06  564  0.01  2,818  0.06  1,317  0.03 

Non-cash foreign currency loss
(gain) related to lease liability 442  0.01  251  0.01  (1,171) (0.03) (245) (0.01)

AFF purchase accounting
adjustments (1) 10,880  0.24  17,036  0.36  32,869  0.72  64,772  1.36 

Gain on revaluation of contingent
acquisition consideration —  —  (16,229) (0.34) —  —  (68,083) (1.43)

Merger and acquisition
expenses

Merger and acquisition
expenses

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

76/115

Non-cash foreign currency gain
related to lease liability

Non-cash foreign currency gain
related to lease liability

Non-cash foreign currency gain
related to lease liability

Amortization of acquired AFF
intangible assets

Amortization of acquired AFF
intangible assets

Amortization of acquired AFF
intangible assets

Other expenses (income), net

Other expenses (income), net

Other
expenses
(income), net

Other
expenses
(income), net (296) (0.01) 126  —  (200) —  (2,095) (0.04)

Adjusted net
income and
diluted
earnings per
share

Adjusted net
income and
diluted
earnings per
share $ 70,775  $ 1.56  $ 61,064  $ 1.30  $ 184,028  $ 4.02  $ 169,095  $ 3.55 

Adjusted net income and diluted
earnings per share

Adjusted net income and diluted
earnings per share

(1) See detail of the AFF purchase accounting adjustments in tables below.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the gross amounts, the impact of income taxes and the net amounts for the adjustments included in the table above (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,

  2023 2022

Pre-tax Tax After-tax Pre-tax Tax After-tax

Merger and acquisition expenses $ 3,387  $ 782  $ 2,605  $ 733  $ 169  $ 564 

Non-cash foreign currency loss related to lease liability 632  190  442  359  108  251 

AFF purchase accounting adjustments (1) 14,130  3,250  10,880  22,125  5,089  17,036 

Gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration —  —  —  (19,800) (3,571) (16,229)

Other expenses (income), net (384) (88) (296) 164  38  126 

Total adjustments $ 17,765  $ 4,134  $ 13,631  $ 3,581  $ 1,833  $ 1,748 

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022

Pre-tax Tax After-tax Pre-tax Tax After-tax

Merger and acquisition expenses $ 3,670  $ 852  $ 2,818  $ 1,712  $ 395  $ 1,317 

Non-cash foreign currency gain related to lease liability (1,673) (502) (1,171) (350) (105) (245)

AFF purchase accounting adjustments (1) 42,688  9,819  32,869  84,120  19,348  64,772 

Gain on revaluation of contingent acquisition consideration —  —  —  (82,789) (14,706) (68,083)

Other expenses (income), net (260) (60) (200) (2,721) (626) (2,095)
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Total adjustments $ 44,425  $ 10,109  $ 34,316  $ (28) $ 4,306  $ (4,334)

(1) The following tables detail AFF purchase accounting adjustments (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,

  2023 2022

Pre-tax Tax After-tax Pre-tax Tax After-tax

Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquired finance receivables $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 7,111  $ 1,635  $ 5,476 

Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquired leased merchandise —  —  —  839  194  645 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 14,130  3,250  10,880  14,175  3,260  10,915 

Total AFF purchase accounting adjustments $ 14,130  $ 3,250  $ 10,880  $ 22,125  $ 5,089  $ 17,036 

Nine Months Ended September 30,

  2023 2022

Pre-tax Tax After-tax Pre-tax Tax After-tax

Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquired finance receivables $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 34,798  $ 8,004  $ 26,794 

Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquired leased merchandise —  —  —  6,796  1,564  5,232 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 42,688  9,819  32,869  42,526  9,780  32,746 

Total AFF purchase accounting adjustments $ 42,688  $ 9,819  $ 32,869  $ 84,120  $ 19,348  $ 64,772 
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Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) and Adjusted EBITDA

The Company defines EBITDA as net income before income taxes, depreciation and amortization, interest expense and interest income and adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted
for certain items, as listed below, that management considers to be non-operating in nature and not representative of its actual operating performance. The Company believes
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are commonly used by investors to assess a company’s financial performance, and adjusted EBITDA is used as a starting point in the calculation of
the consolidated total debt ratio as defined in the Company’s senior unsecured notes. The following table provides a reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA
(in thousands):

Trailing Twelve

Trailing Twelve

Trailing Twelve

Trailing Twelve Three Months Ended Months Ended

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Months Ended

September 30, September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

March 31, March 31, March 31,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Net income Net income $ 57,144  $ 59,316  $ 149,712  $ 173,429  $ 229,778  $ 202,800 

Provision for income taxes 20,480  16,079  51,649  48,598  73,189  56,357 

Income taxes

Depreciation and
amortization

Depreciation and
amortization 27,365  25,971  81,526  77,495  107,863  90,670 

Interest expense Interest expense 24,689  18,282  66,657  50,749  86,616  60,746 

Interest income Interest income (328) (206) (1,253) (1,104) (1,462) (1,380)

EBITDA EBITDA 129,350  119,442  348,291  349,167  495,984  409,193 

Adjustments: Adjustments:
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Merger and
acquisition
expenses

Merger and
acquisition
expenses 3,387  733  3,670  1,712  5,697  15,897 

Non-cash foreign currency loss
(gain) related to lease liability 632  359  (1,673) (350) (2,652) (72)

AFF purchase accounting
adjustments (1) —  7,950  —  41,594  8,760  87,956 

Merger and acquisition expenses

Merger and acquisition expenses

Non-cash
foreign
currency
gain related
to lease
liability

AFF purchase
accounting
and other
adjustments
(1)

Gain on
revaluation
of contingent
acquisition
consideration

Gain on
revaluation
of contingent
acquisition
consideration —  (19,800) —  (82,789) (26,760) (100,660)

Other
expenses
(income), net

Other
expenses
(income), net (384) 164  (260) (2,721) (270) (3,412)

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA $ 132,985  $ 108,848  $ 350,028  $ 306,613  $ 480,759  $ 408,902 

(1) Excludes $14.1 million, $42.7 million The following table details AFF purchase accounting and $56.9 million of amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets as a result of the AFF

acquisition for the three months, nine months and trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, which is included in the add back of depreciation and amortization to net income

used to calculate EBITDA. Excludes $14.2 million, $42.5 million and $44.6 million of amortization expense related to identifiable intangible assets as a result of the AFF acquisition for the three

months, nine months and trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, which is included in the add back of depreciation and amortization to net income used to calculate

EBITDA. other adjustments (in thousands):

Trailing Twelve

  Three Months Ended Months Ended

March 31, March 31,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquired finance receivables included in interest and

fees on finance receivables $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 26,484 

Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquired leased merchandise included in depreciation

of leased merchandise —  —  —  3,338 

Other non-recurring costs included in administrative expenses related to a discontinued finance

product —  —  13,968  — 

$ —  $ —  $ 13,968  $ 29,822 
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Free Cash Flow and Adjusted Free Cash Flow

For purposes of its internal liquidity assessments, the Company considers free cash flow and adjusted free cash flow. The Company defines free cash flow as cash flow from
operating activities less purchases of furniture, fixtures, equipment and improvements and net fundings/repayments of pawn loan and finance receivables, which are considered to
be operating in nature by the Company but are included in cash flow from investing activities. Adjusted free cash flow is defined as free cash flow adjusted for merger and
acquisition expenses paid that management considers to be non-operating in nature.

Free cash flow and adjusted free cash flow are commonly used by investors as additional measures of cash generated by business operations that may be used to repay scheduled
debt maturities and debt service or, following payment of such debt obligations and other non-discretionary items, that may be available to invest in future growth through new
business development activities or acquisitions, repurchase stock, pay cash dividends or repay debt obligations prior to their maturities. These metrics can also be used to evaluate
the Company’s ability to generate cash flow from business operations and the impact that this cash flow has on the Company’s liquidity. However, free cash flow and adjusted free
cash flow have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for cash flow from operating activities or other income statement data
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The following table reconciles cash flow from operating activities to free cash flow and adjusted free cash flow (in thousands):

Trailing Twelve

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Months Ended

September 30, September 30, September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Trailing Twelve

Trailing Twelve

Trailing Twelve

Three Months
Ended Three Months Ended Months Ended

March 31, March 31, March 31,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Cash flow from
operating
activities

Cash flow from
operating
activities $ 111,368  $99,031  $317,037  $325,798  $460,544  $411,252 

Cash flow from
certain investing
activities:

Cash flow from
certain investing
activities:

Pawn loans, net (1)

Pawn loans, net (1)

Pawn loans, net
(1)

Pawn loans, net
(1) (59,614) (42,442) (59,426) (74,707) (20,536) (77,410)

Finance
receivables,
net

Finance
receivables,
net (30,869) (26,088) (87,994) (49,634) (123,713) (55,478)

Purchases of
furniture,
fixtures,
equipment
and
improvements

Purchases of
furniture,
fixtures,
equipment
and
improvements (18,375) (9,944) (46,723) (29,630) (52,679) (40,044)

Free cash
flow

Free cash
flow 2,510  20,557  122,894  171,827  263,616  238,320 

Merger and
acquisition
expenses
paid, net of
tax benefit

Merger and
acquisition
expenses
paid, net of
tax benefit 2,605  564  2,818  1,317  4,379  12,239 

Adjusted free
cash flow

Adjusted free
cash flow $ 5,115  $21,121  $125,712  $173,144  $267,995  $250,559 

(1) Includes the funding of new loans net of cash repayments and recovery of principal through the sale of inventories acquired from forfeiture of pawn collateral.

55

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

80/115




Retail POS Payment Solutions Segment Purchase Accounting Adjustments

Management believes the presentation of certain retail POS payment solutions segment metrics, adjusted to exclude the impacts of purchase accounting, provides investors with
greater transparency and provides a more complete understanding of AFF’s financial performance and prospects for the future by excluding the impacts of purchase accounting,
which management believes is non-operating in nature and not representative of AFF’s core operating performance. See the retail POS payment solutions segment tables in
“Results of Operations” above for additional reconciliation of certain amounts adjusted to exclude the impacts of purchase accounting to as reported GAAP amounts.

Additionally, the following table provides reconciliations of total revenue and total net revenue, presented in accordance with GAAP, to adjusted total revenue and adjusted net
revenue, which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,

  2023 2022 2023 2022

Total revenue, as reported $ 786,301  $ 672,143  $ 2,299,662  $ 1,979,598 

AFF purchase accounting adjustments (1) —  7,111  —  34,798 

Adjusted total revenue $ 786,301  $ 679,254  $ 2,299,662  $ 2,014,396 

Total net revenue, as reported $ 388,647  $ 323,292  $ 1,089,590  $ 915,451 

AFF purchase accounting adjustments (1) —  7,950  —  41,594 

Adjusted total net revenue $ 388,647  $ 331,242  $ 1,089,590  $ 957,045 

(1) As a result of purchase accounting, AFF’s as reported amounts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 contain significant fair value adjustments. The adjusted amounts for the

three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 exclude these fair value purchase accounting adjustments.

Constant Currency Results

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, however, certain performance metrics discussed in this report are presented on a “constant currency” basis, which is
considered a non-GAAP financial measure. The Company’s management uses constant currency results to evaluate operating results of business operations in Latin America,
which are transacted in local currencies in Mexico, Guatemala and Colombia. The Company also has operations in El Salvador, where the reporting and functional currency is the
U.S. dollar.

The Company believes constant currency results provide valuable supplemental information regarding the underlying performance of its business operations in Latin America,
consistent with how the Company’s management evaluates such performance and operating results. Constant currency results reported herein are calculated by translating certain
balance sheet and income statement items denominated in local currencies using the exchange rate from the prior-year comparable period, as opposed to the current comparable
period, in order to exclude the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations for purposes of evaluating period-over-period comparisons. See the Latin America pawn segment tables in
“Results of Operations” above for additional reconciliation of certain constant currency amounts to as reported GAAP amounts.
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The following table provides exchange rates for the Mexican peso, Guatemalan quetzal and Colombian peso for the current and prior-year periods:  

September
30, Favorable /

March
31, March 31, Favorable /

2023 2022 (Unfavorable) 2024 2023 (Unfavorable)
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Mexican
peso / U.S.
dollar
exchange
rate:

Mexican
peso / U.S.
dollar
exchange
rate:      

End-of-
period

End-of-
period 17.6 20.3 13  %

End-of-period

End-of-period

Three
months
ended

Three
months
ended 17.1 20.2 15  %

Nine months ended 17.8 20.3 12  %

Three months ended

Three months ended

Guatemalan quetzal /
U.S. dollar exchange
rate:

Guatemalan quetzal /
U.S. dollar exchange
rate:

Guatemalan
quetzal /
U.S. dollar
exchange
rate:

Guatemalan
quetzal /
U.S. dollar
exchange
rate:

End-of-
period

End-of-
period 7.9 7.9 —  %

End-of-period

End-of-period

Three
months
ended

Three
months
ended 7.9 7.8 (1) %

Nine months ended 7.8 7.7 (1) %

Three months ended

Three months ended

Colombian peso / U.S.
dollar exchange rate:

Colombian peso / U.S.
dollar exchange rate:

Colombian
peso / U.S.
dollar
exchange
rate:

Colombian
peso / U.S.
dollar
exchange
rate:

End-of-
period

End-of-
period 4,054 4,532 11  %

End-of-period

End-of-period

Three
months
ended

Three
months
ended 4,048 4,375 7  %

Nine months ended 4,413 4,068 (8) %

Three months ended

Three months ended
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks relating to the Company’s operations result primarily from changes in interest rates, gold prices and foreign currency exchange rates and are described in detail in the
Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K. The impact of current-year fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, in particular, are further discussed in Part I, Item 2
herein. The Company does not engage in speculative or leveraged transactions, nor does it hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. There have been no material
changes to the Company’s exposure to market risks since December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 (the
“Evaluation Date”). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures or internal
controls will prevent all possible error and fraud. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are, however, designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives, and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective at that
reasonable assurance level.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 9 8 - Commitments and Contingencies of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part I, Item 1 of this report which is incorporated to this Part II, Item 1
by reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Important risk factors that could materially affect the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations in future periods are described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”
of the Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K. These factors are supplemented by those discussed under “Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial
Condition And Results Of Operations” and “Regulatory Developments” “Governmental Regulation” in Part I, Item 2 of this quarterly report and in “Governmental Regulation” in Part I,
Item 1 of the Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in the Company’s risk factors from those in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”
of the Company’s 2022 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

The following table provides information about purchases made by the Company of shares of its common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

Total

Number


Of Shares
Purchased

Average
Price
Paid

Per Share (1)

Total Number Of
Shares Purchased
As Part Of Publicly

Announced Plans (2)

Approximate Dollar
Value Of Shares That

May Yet Be Purchased
Under The Plans (1) (2)

July 1 through July 31, 2023 94,925  $ 92.79  94,925  $ 200,000 

August 1 through August 31, 2023 —  —  —  200,000 
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September 1 through September 30, 2023 —  —  —  200,000 

Total 94,925  92.79  94,925 

Total
Number

Of Shares
Purchased (1)

Average
Price
Paid

Per Share (1)

Total Number Of
Shares Purchased
As Part Of Publicly

Announced Plans (2)

Approximate Dollar
Value Of Shares That

May Yet Be Purchased
Under The Plans (2)

January 1 through January 31, 2024 58,747  $ 119.27  —  $ 200,000 

February 1 through February 29, 2024 —  —  —  200,000 

March 1 through March 31, 2024 —  —  —  200,000 

Total 58,747  119.27  — 

(1) The Inflation Reduction Act In January 2024, 58,747 shares of 2022, which was enacted into law on August 16, 2022, imposed a nondeductible 1% excise the Company’s common stock were

withheld by the Company to satisfy tax on the net value obligations that arose upon vesting of certain restricted stock repurchases made after December 31, 2022. During the three months ended

September 30, 2023, the Company reflected the applicable excise tax in treasury stock as part of the cost basis of the stock repurchased and recorded granted pursuant to shareholder approved

plans. These shares were not acquired pursuant to a corresponding liability for the excise taxes payable in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. All dollar

amounts presented exclude such excise taxes. publicly announced repurchase plan.

(2) On October 27, 2022, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchases of an aggregate of $100.0 million of its shares of common stock. During July 2023, the Company repurchased a

total of 95,000 shares of common stock at an aggregate cost of $8.8 million and an average cost per share of $92.79, which completed the share repurchase program authorized in October 2022.

In July 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized an additional common stock repurchase program for up to $200.0 million of the Company’s outstanding common stock, of which the

entire $200.0 million is currently remaining.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not Applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.
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ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

None of the Company’s directors or officers adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as such terms are
defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K, during the first quarter of 2024, except as follows:

On August 10, 2023 March 12, 2024, Randel G. Owen, Director, Rick L. Wessel, Vice Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, adopted a written plan for the sale of up to
2,000 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act of 1934. The plan will
expire on November 8, 2024 November 21, 2025, or on any earlier date on which all of the shares have been sold.

On August 22, 2023 February 5, 2024, R. Douglas Orr, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, AFF Services, Inc., adopted a written non-Rule 10b5-1 trading plan as
defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K. The arrangement provided for the sale of up to 42,000 881,567 shares of the Company’s common stock that and it terminated on March 15,
2024. The trading arrangement was adopted during an open trading window and satisfied the Company’s policies regarding insider transactions. AFF Services, Inc. is intended to
satisfy partially owned and 100% controlled by the affirmative defense conditions Douglas R. Rippel Revocable Trust (the “Trust”). Douglas R. Rippel, a member of Rule 10b5-1(c)
under the Exchange Act Company’s board of 1934. The plan will expire on February 28, 2025, or on any earlier date on which all directors, is a co-trustee of the Trust and an indirect
beneficial owner of the shares have been sold. held by AFF Services, Inc.

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as defined in Item 408 of
Regulation S-K).
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

    Incorporated by Reference  

Exhibit No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of FirstCash
Holdings, Inc., dated December 16, 2021

8-K12B 001-10960 3.1 12/16/2021

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of FirstCash Holdings, Inc.,
dated December 16, 2021

8-K12B 001-10960 3.2 12/16/2021

10.1 Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated October 18, 2023, between FirstCash
Holdings, Inc., FirstCash, Inc., certain subsidiaries of the
borrower from time to time party thereto, the lenders party
thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

X

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 13(a)-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, provided by Rick L. Wessel, Chief Executive Officer

        X

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 13(a)-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, provided by R. Douglas Orr, Chief Financial Officer

        X

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
provided by Rick L. Wessel, Chief Executive Officer

        X

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
provided by R. Douglas Orr, Chief Financial Officer

        X

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does
not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline
XBRL document contained in Exhibit 101)

X

    Incorporated by Reference  

Exhibit No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of FirstCash
Holdings, Inc., dated December 16, 2021

8-K12B 001-10960 3.1 12/16/2021

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of FirstCash Holdings, Inc.,
dated December 16, 2021

8-K12B 001-10960 3.2 12/16/2021

4.1 Indenture, dated as of February 21, 2024, by and among
FirstCash, Inc., the guarantors listed therein and BOKF, NA
(including the form of Note attached as an exhibit thereto).

8-K 001-10960 4.1 02/21/2024
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10.1 Employment Agreement, dated April 2, 2024, between Daniel R.
Feehan and FirstCash Holdings, Inc. *

X

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 13(a)-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, provided by Rick L. Wessel, Chief Executive Officer

        X

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Section 13(a)-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, provided by R. Douglas Orr, Chief Financial Officer

        X

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
provided by Rick L. Wessel, Chief Executive Officer

        X

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
provided by R. Douglas Orr, Chief Financial Officer

        X

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does
not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline
XBRL document contained in Exhibit 101)

X

*    Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

60 46


 


SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

Dated: October 30, 2023 April 29, 2024 FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

  (Registrant)

   

  /s/ RICK L. WESSEL

  Rick L. Wessel

  Chief Executive Officer

  (On behalf of the Registrant)

   

  /s/ R. DOUGLAS ORR

  R. Douglas Orr

  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

  (As Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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ExhibitEXHIBIT 10.1

Execution Version

SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED 


EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

DANIEL R. FEEHAN

AND

RESTATED CREDITFIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDITEMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Seventh AmendmentAgreement”), dated as
is made and entered into this 2ND day of October 18, 2023, isApril 2024 by and among FIRSTCASH, INC. (f/k/a FIRST CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES,
INC.)between FirstCash Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Holdings”), certain
Subsidiaries of the Borrower party hereto (collectively, the “Loan Guarantors”), the lenders identified on the signature pages hereto as the Lenders (the
“LendersCompany”) and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as administrative agent on behalf of the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (as
hereinafter defined) (in such capacity, theDaniel R. Feehan (the “AgentFeehan”), to be effective as of January 1, 2024 (the “Effective Date”). Capitalized terms used
hereinThis Agreement supersedes and not otherwise defined herein shall have replaces that certain Employment Agreement between the meanings ascribed
thereto inCompany and Feehan dated as of January 28, 2020 (the “Previous Employment Agreement”) as of the Credit Agreement.Effective Date.

W I T N E S S E T HBACKGROUND

WHEREAS,, the Borrower, the Loan Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders and the Agent are parties to that certain Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2016 (as amended, modified, extended, restated, replaced, or supplemented from time to time prior to the date hereof, the “Existing
Credit Agreement”, and as amended by this Seventh Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Loan Parties have requested that the Lenders amend certain provisions of the Credit Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to make such amendments to the Credit Agreement, in accordance with and subject toCompany currently employs
Feehan under the terms and conditions as set forth herein.in the Previous Employment Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Feehan desire to enter into this Agreement, which shall supersede and replace the Previous Employment
Agreement, and agree that the Previous Employment Agreement shall have no further force or effect as of the Effective Date of this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE,, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth herein, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacysufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
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ARTICLE I

AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

1.11.    Amendments to Credit AgreementEmployment. From and afterFeehan is hereby employed by the Seventh AmendmentCompany as of the Effective
Date (as defined below) the Credit Agreement is amended pursuant to this Seventh AmendmentAgreement. Feehan shall have the duties, responsibilities and
authority as follows:

(a)    The following definitions are hereby added to Section 1.1shall be assigned by the Board of Directors of the Credit Agreement in the appropriate
alphabetical order:

“Company (the “Seventh AmendmentBoard” means that certain Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of the Seventh
Amendment Effective Date, among the Borrower, Holdings, the other Loan Guarantors,
the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent.”

““Seventh Amendment Effective Date” means October 18, 2023.”

(b)        The definition of “Aggregate Commitment” in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the reference to (i) “Five
Hundred Ninety Million and no/100 Dollars ($590,000,000.00)” therein with “Six Hundred Forty Million and no/100 Dollars ($640,000,000.00)” and
(ii) “Third Amendment Effective Date” therein with “Seventh Amendment Effective Date” ).

(c)    Section 2.24(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to include the following proviso at the end thereof:

“; provided that, as of the Seventh Amendment Effective Date, after giving pro forma effect to the Revolving Facility Increase
contemplated by the Seventh Amendment, the remaining portion of the Incremental Increase Amount is $150,000,000.00.”

1.22.    CommitmentsTerm. Subject to  Unless earlier terminated herein in accordance with Section 6 hereof, Feehan’s employment with the Company shall
be governed by the terms and conditions hereofof this Agreement for a period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on December 31, 2026 (the “Term”).

3.    Extent of Service. During the Term, Feehan agrees to use his best efforts to perform faithfully and efficiently his job responsibilities. Nothing in reliance
upon this Agreement shall prohibit Feehan from (i) serving on the representationsboards of directors of trade associations or charitable/educational/non-profit
organizations; (ii) engaging in charitable activities and warranties set forth herein, community affairs; (iii) serving on the Aggregate Commitment (as in effectboards
of directors of other public and/or private companies with the prior to the date hereof) shall be increased by an aggregate principal amount equal to $50,000,000.00.
Eachwritten approval of the parties hereto agrees that, after giving effect to Seventh Amendment, the revised Commitment of each Lender (as of the Seventh
Amendment Effective Date) shall be as set forth on Annex A attached hereto. In connection with this Seventh Amendment, the outstanding Loans and participation
interests in existing Letters of Credit shall be reallocated by causing such fundings and repayments (whichBoard, which shall not be subject tounreasonably
withheld (provided that, for avoidance of doubt, such service does not violate any processing and/or recordation fees) among the Lenders of the Loans as
necessary such restrictive covenants in Section 8 of this Agreement); or (iv) managing his personal investments and affairs, provided that after giving effect to
increases to this Seventh Amendment, each Lender will hold Loans based on its Commitment (after giving effect to such increases). The Borrower shall be
responsible for any costs arising under Section 3.4 of the Credit Agreement resulting from such reallocation and repayments. The increaseactivities described in the
Aggregate Commitment pursuant to this Seventh Amendment is a Revolving Facility Increase pursuant to Section 2.24preceding clauses (i) through (iv) do not
materially interfere with the proper performance of the Credit Agreement.his duties and responsibilities hereunder.

1.34.    Lender JoinderCompensation and Benefits. Upon execution of this Seventh Amendment, each Lender identified on Schedule 1.3 hereto (each a
“New Lender”) shall be a party to the Credit Agreement and have all of the rights and obligations of a Lender thereunder and under the other Loan
Documents. Each New Lender (a) represents and warrants that it is legally authorized to enter into this Seventh Amendment and this Seventh
Amendment is the legal, valid and binding obligation of such New Lender, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms; (b) confirms that it has
received a copy of the Credit Agreement, this Seventh Amendment and all of the Exhibits and Schedules thereto, and such other documents and
information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Seventh Amendment; (c) agrees that it will,
independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall deem
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appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Credit Agreement, the other Loan Documents
or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto; and (d) agrees that it will be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement
and will perform in accordance with its terms all the obligations which by the terms of the Credit Agreement are required to be performed by it as a
Lender. The Commitment of each New Lender after giving effect to this Seventh Amendment shall be as set forth on Annex A to this Seventh
Amendment. Each of the Loan Parties agrees that, as of the Seventh Amendment Effective Date, each New Lender shall (a) be a party to the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents (as applicable), (b) be a “Lender” for all purposes of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
and (c) have the rights and obligations of a Lender under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

ARTICLE II

CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS

2.1Closing Conditions. This Seventh Amendment shall become effective as of the day and year set forth above (the “Seventh Amendment Effective Date”)
upon satisfaction of the following conditions (in each case, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agent):

(a)    Executed AmendmentBase Salary. The Agent shall have received a copyDuring the Term, the Company will pay to Feehan base salary at the
rate of this Seventh Amendment duly executed by each ofU.S. Four Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($450,000) per year (“Base Salary”), less normal
withholdings, payable in approximately equal bi-weekly or other installments as are or become customary under the Loan Parties, the Lenders party hereto and the
Agent.Company’s payroll practices for its employees from time to time.

(b)    DefaultSavings and Retirement Plans. After giving effectDuring the Term, Feehan shall be entitled to participate in all savings and retirement
plans, practices, policies and programs generally available to the other employees of the Company.

2

(c)    Welfare Benefit Plans. Feehan and his eligible dependents shall be eligible for participation in the welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and
programs provided by the Company, if any, to the extent generally available to other employees and subject to eligibility requirements and terms and conditions of
each such plan; provided, however, that nothing herein shall limit the ability of the Company to amend, modify or terminate any such benefit plans, policies or
programs at any time and from time to time.

(d)    Expenses. During the Term, Feehan shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement from the Company for all reasonable and customary
expenses incurred by Feehan in the course of performing his duties and responsibilities under this Agreement, in accordance with the policies, practices and
procedures of the Company with respect to travel, entertainment and other business expenses (“Business Expenses”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the reimbursements for Business Expenses provided in any one calendar year shall not affect the amount of such
reimbursements provided in any other calendar year; (ii) the reimbursement of an eligible Business Expense shall be made within thirty (30) days following Feehan’s
submission of evidence, satisfactory to the Company, of the incurrence of such Business Expense, but in no event later than December 31 of the year following the
year in which the expense was incurred; (iii) Feehan’ s rights pursuant to this Seventh Amendment,Section 4(f) shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for
another benefit; and (iv) the reimbursements for Business Expenses shall be provided in accordance with the policies, practices and procedures of the Company.

5.       Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” shall mean the consummation of a reorganization, merger, consolidation,
statutory share exchange or similar form of corporate transaction involving the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (a “Reorganization”), or the sale or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (a “Sale”) or the acquisition of assets or stock of another corporation or other entity (an “Acquisition”),
unless immediately following such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition: (A) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were the beneficial owners (as
defined in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Act, as amended (“Beneficial Owners”)), respectively, of the
outstanding Company Stock and the Company’s then outstanding securities eligible to vote for the election of directors (“Company Voting Securities”) immediately
prior to such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common
stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the entity
resulting from or surviving such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition (including, without limitation, an entity which as a result of such transaction owns the Company
or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets or stock either directly or through one or more subsidiaries, the “Surviving Entity”) in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition, of the outstanding Company Stock and the outstanding Company
Voting Securities, as the case may be, and (B) no Default person (other than (x) the Company or Unmatured Default any subsidiary of the Company, (y) the
Surviving Entity or its ultimate parent entity, or (z) any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by any of the foregoing) is the Beneficial
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Owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the total common stock or 50% or more of the total voting power of the outstanding voting securities eligible to elect
directors of the Surviving Entity. A Change in Control shall exist. not include a public offering of any class or series of the Company’s equity securities pursuant to a
registration statement filed by the Company under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1933, as amended.

3

6.    Termination of Employment.

(a)    Death. Feehan’s employment shall terminate automatically upon Feehan’s death during the Term.

(b)    Disability. If the Company determines in good faith that Feehan has become Disabled (as defined below) during the Term, then it may give to
Feehan written notice of its intention to terminate Feehan’s employment. In such event, Feehan’s employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the
thirtieth (30th) day after receipt of such written notice by Feehan (the “Disability Effective Date”), provided that, within the thirty (30) days after such receipt, Feehan
shall not have returned to full-time performance of Feehan’s duties. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean the inability of Feehan, as reasonably
determined by the Company, to perform the essential functions of his regular duties and responsibilities, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a
medically determinable physical or mental illness which has lasted (or can reasonably be expected to last) for a period of six (6) consecutive months. At the request
of Feehan or his personal representative, the Company’s determination that the Disability of Feehan has occurred shall be certified by a physician mutually agreed
upon by Feehan, or his personal representative, and the Company.

(c)    Fees and ExpensesTermination by the Company. The AgentCompany may terminate Feehan’s employment during the Term with or without
Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination shall be considered to be for “Cause” if it occurs in conjunction with a good faith determination by the Board
that any of the following have occurred:

(i)        Feehan’s material or habitual failure to meet performance standards agreed to upon by Feehan and the Board, or to follow the
reasonable and lawful directions of the Board, or perform his duties with the Company (other than any such failure resulting from Feehan’s Disability) which failure is
not cured within ten (10) days after a written demand for performance is delivered to Feehan by the Company which specifically identifies the manner in which the
Company believes that Feehan has materially or habitually failed to perform Feehan’s duties;

(ii)        Feehan’s engaging in any illegal conduct, gross misconduct or gross negligence in connection with the performance of his duties
hereunder, which is, or is likely to be, injurious to the Company, its financial condition, or its reputation, with the understanding that, without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, any circumstances with respect to Feehan that, in the discretion of the Board or the FDIC, are deemed to be violation of Section 19 of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. § 1829(a)) shall constitute illegal conduct in connection with the performance of his duties hereunder that is injurious to the
Company, its financial condition, or its reputation;

(iii)    Feehan’s commission of or engagement in any act of fraud, misappropriation, dishonesty or embezzlement, whether or not such act was
committed in connection with the business of the Company;

(iv)    Feehan’s breach of fiduciary duty, breach of any of the covenants set forth in Section 8 or 9 of this Agreement, or material breach of any
other provisions of this Agreement;

(v)    Feehan’s conviction of, pleading guilty to, or confession to a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude (including pleading guilty or
nolo contendere to a felony or lesser

4

charge which results from plea bargaining), whether or not such felony, crime or lesser offense is connected with the business of the Company;
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(vi)        Feehan’s indictment or conviction of, pleading guilty to, or confession to a felony or any crime (including pleading guilty or nolo
contendere to a felony or lesser charge which results from plea bargaining), which felony, crime or lesser offense is connected with the business of the Company; or

(vii)    Feehan’s violation of the Company’s policy against harassment or its equal employment opportunity policy or a material violation of any
other policy or procedure of the Company (including, but not limited to, the Company’s code of business conduct).

(d)    Termination by Feehan. Feehan’s employment may be terminated by Feehan for any reason or for Good Reason by providing thirty (30) days
prior written notice to the Company. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following, without Feehan’s consent:

(i)    a material diminution in Feehan’s Base Salary;

(ii)    the relocation of Feehan’s principal office to a facility or location more than fifty (50) miles away from Feehan’s principal place of work
immediately prior to the relocation; provided, however, that Good Reason shall not include (A) any relocation of Feehan’s principal office which is proposed or
initiated by Feehan; or (B) any relocation that results in Feehan’s principal place office being closer to Feehan’s then-principal residence;

(iii)    any material breach by the Company of this Agreement;

Feehan’s termination for Good Reason must occur within a period of ninety (90) days after the occurrence of an event of Good Reason. A termination by Feehan
shall not constitute termination for Good Reason unless Feehan shall first have delivered to the Company written notice setting forth with specificity the occurrence
deemed to give rise to a right to terminate for Good Reason (which notice must be given no later than thirty (30) days after the initial occurrence of such event), and
there shall have receivedpassed a reasonable time (not less than thirty (30) days) within which the Company may take action to correct, rescind or otherwise
substantially reverse the occurrence supporting termination for Good Reason as identified by Feehan. Good Reason shall not include Feehan’s death or Disability.
The parties intend, believe and take the position that a resignation by Feehan for Good Reason as defined above effectively constitutes an involuntary separation
from service within the Borrower meaning of Section 409A of the Code and Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(n)(2).

(e)    Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company or Feehan shall be communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto
given in accordance with Section 17(d) of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Notice of Termination” means a written notice which (i) indicates the
specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to
provide a basis for termination of Feehan’s employment under the provision so indicated, and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date
of receipt of such notice, specifies the termination date. The failure by Feehan or the Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance
which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or Cause shall not waive any right of Feehan or the

5

Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude Feehan or the Company, respectively, from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing Feehan’s or the
Company’s rights hereunder.

(f)    Date of Termination. “Date of Termination” means (i) if Feehan’s employment is terminated other than by reason of death or Disability, the date of
receipt of the Notice of Termination or, subject to any cure period, any later date specified therein within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Notice of Termination, as
the case may be, or (ii) if Feehan’s employment is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the Date of Termination shall be the date of death of Feehan or the
Disability Effective Date, as the case may be.

7.    Obligations of the Company upon Termination.
(a)    Termination by the Company Other Than for Cause or Disability; Termination by Feehan for Good Reason. If, during the Term, (A) the Company

shall terminate Feehan’s employment other than for Cause or Disability, or (B) Feehan shall terminate employment for Good Reason, then, and with respect to the
payments and benefits described in clauses (ii) and (iii) below, only if within sixty (60) days after the Date of Termination Feehan shall have executed a separation
agreement containing a full general release of claims and covenant not to sue in a form satisfactory to the Company (the “Release”) and such Release shall not
have been revoked within the time period specified therein:

(i)        the fees agreedCompany shall pay to betweenFeehan his’s Base Salary through the LendersDate of Termination to the extent not
theretofore paid (“Accrued Obligations”); and
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(ii)    the Borrower relatedCompany shall pay to this Seventh AmendmentFeehan in a lump sum in cash within sixty (60) days after the Date
of Termination, the exact payment date to be determined by the Company, a severance payment equal to one times (or two times, if such termination occurs within
twelve (12) months following a Change in Control) Feehan’s Base Salary in effect as of the Date of Termination; and

(iii)        if Feehan elects to continue participation in any group medical, dental, vision and/or prescription drug plan benefits to which Feehan
and/or Feehan’s eligible dependents would be entitled under Section 4980B of the Code (COBRA), then during the period that Feehan is entitled to such coverage
under COBRA (the “Welfare Benefits Continuation Period”), the Company shall pay the excess of (1) the COBRA cost of such coverage over (2) the amount that
Feehan would have had to pay for such coverage if Feehan had remained employed during the Welfare Benefits Continuation Period and paid the active employee
rate for such coverage (the “COBRA Subsidy”); provided, however, that (A) that if Feehan becomes eligible to receive group health benefits under a program of a
subsequent employer or otherwise (including coverage available to Feehan’s spouse), the Company’s obligation to pay any portion of the cost of health coverage as
described herein shall cease, except as otherwise provided by law; and (B) the Welfare Benefits Continuation Period shall run concurrently with any period for which
Feehan is eligible to elect health coverage under COBRA; provided, however, that if such termination occurs within twelve (12) months following a Change in
Control, then, in lieu of the COBRA Subsidy described above, Company shall pay to Feehan in a lump sum in cash within sixty (60) days after the Date of
Termination, the exact payment date to be determined by the Company, an amount equal to the full monthly COBRA cost of the coverage multiplied by twenty-four
(24); and

(iv)        to the extent not theretofore paid or provided, the Company shall timely pay or provide to Feehan any other amounts or benefits
required to be paid or provided or which Feehan is eligible to receive under any plan, program, policy or practice or contract or agreement of the Company

6

and its affiliated companies (such other amounts and benefits shall be hereinafter referred to as the “Other Benefits”).

For the avoidance of doubt, the parties acknowledge that, in the event that Feehan terminates his employment for Good Reason as a result of the decrease in his
Base Salary as contemplated in Section 6(d)(i) hereof, then the Base Salary used for purposes of the calculation of the Accrued Obligations and severance payment
under subsection (ii) above, shall be the Base Salary in effect immediately prior to such reduction.

(b)       Death or Disability. If Feehan’s employment is terminated by reason of Feehan’s death or Disability during the Term, this Agreement shall
terminate without further obligations to Feehan or Feehan’s legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid by the Company to Feehan or Feehan’s estate or beneficiary, as applicable, in a
lump sum in cash within thirty (30) days after the Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the term Other Benefits as used in this Section
7(b) shall include without limitation, and Feehan or Feehan’s estate and/or beneficiaries shall be entitled to receive, benefits under such plans, programs, practices
and policies relating to death or disability benefits, if any, as are applicable to Feehan on the Date of Termination.

(c)    Termination by the Company for Cause; Feehan’s Resignation without Good Reason. If, during the Term, the Company shall terminate Feehan’s
employment for Cause or Feehan shall resign for any reason other than for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to Feehan,
other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid by the Company to Feehan
in a lump sum in cash within thirty (30) days after the Date of Termination.

(d)        Resignations. Termination of Feehan’s employment for any reason whatsoever shall constitute Feehan’s resignation as an officer of the
Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates.

8.    Restrictive Covenants.

(a)    Acknowledgments.

(i)        Condition of Employment and Other Consideration. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that he has received good and valuable
consideration for entering into this Agreement and further acknowledges that the Company would not continue to employ Feehan in the absence of his execution of
and compliance with this Section 8.

(ii)        Access to Confidential Information, Relationships, and Goodwill. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that he is being provided and
entrusted with Confidential Information (as that term is defined in Section 8(b) hereof), including highly confidential customer information that is subject to extensive
measures to maintain its secrecy within the Company, is not known in the trade or disclosed to the public, and would materially harm the Company’s legitimate
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business interests if it was disclosed or used in violation of this Agreement. Feehan also acknowledges and agrees that he is being provided and entrusted with
access to the Company’s customer and employee relationships and goodwill. Feehan further acknowledges and agrees that the Company would not provide access
to the Confidential Information, customer and employee relationships, and goodwill in the absence of Feehan’s execution of and compliance with this Agreement.
Feehan further acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s

7

Confidential Information, customer and employee relationships, and goodwill are valuable assets of the Company and are legitimate business interests that are
properly subject to protection through the covenants contained in this Agreement.

(iii)    Potential Unfair Competition. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that as a result of his employment with the Company, his knowledge of
and access to Confidential Information, and his relationships with the Company’s customers and employees, Feehan would have an unfair competitive advantage if
Feehan were to engage in activities in violation of this Section 8.

(iv)    No Undue Hardship. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that, in the event that his employment with the Company terminates, Feehan
possesses marketable skills and abilities that will enable him to find suitable employment without violating the covenants set forth in this Section 8.

(v)    Voluntary Execution. Feehan acknowledges and affirms that he is executing this Agreement voluntarily, that he has read this Agreement
carefully and had a full and reasonable opportunity to consider this Agreement (including an opportunity to consult with legal counsel), and that he has not been
pressured or in any way coerced, threatened or intimidated into signing this Agreement.

(vi)    Geographic Scope of Service. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that, by virtue of his senior executive status with the Company and his
substantial access to Confidential Information, customer and employee relationships, and goodwill described above, he will engage in business on behalf of the
Company throughout the entire geographic area in which the Company conducts business, including but not limited to the Restricted Territory (as that term is
defined in Section 8(b) hereof).

(b)    Definitions. The following capitalized terms used in this Section 8 shall have the meanings assigned to them below, which definitions shall apply
to both the singular and the plural forms of such terms:

(i)    “Competitive Services” means owning and/or operating retail-based pawn stores or retail-based short-term consumer loan stores, as well
as the business of providing any other activities, products, or services of the type conducted, authorized, offered, or provided by the Company and comprising more
than 5% of the Company’s total revenues as of Feehan’s Termination Date, or during the two (2) years immediately prior to Feehan’s Termination Date.

(ii)    “Confidential Information” means any and all data and information relating to the Company, its activities, business, or clients that (A) is or
has been disclosed to Feehan or of which Feehan becomes or has become aware as a consequence of his employment with the Company; (B) has value to the
Company; and (C) is not generally known outside of the Company. “Confidential Information” shall include, but is not limited to the following types of information
regarding, related to, or concerning the Company: trade secrets (as defined by O.C.G.A. § 10-1-761); financial plans and data; management planning information;
business plans; operational methods; market studies; marketing plans or strategies; pricing information; product development techniques or plans; customer lists;
customer files, data and financial information; details of customer contracts; current and anticipated customer requirements; identifying and other information
pertaining to business referral sources; past, current and planned research and development; computer aided systems, software, strategies and programs; business
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acquisition plans; management organization and related information (including, without limitation, data and other information concerning the compensation and
benefits paid to officers, directors, employees and management); personnel and compensation policies; new personnel acquisition plans; and other similar
information. “Confidential Information” also includes combinations of information or materials which individually may be generally known outside of the Company, but
for which the nature, method, or procedure for combining such information or materials is not generally known outside of the Company. In addition to data and
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information relating to the Company, “Confidential Information” also includes any and all data and information relating to or concerning a third party that otherwise
meets the definition set forth above, that was provided or made available to the Company by such third party, and that the Company has a duty or obligation to keep
confidential. This definition shall not limit any definition of “confidential information” or any equivalent term under state or federal law. “Confidential Information” shall
not include information that has become generally available to the public by the act of one who has the right to disclose such information without violating any right
or privilege of the Company.

(iii)        “Material Contact” means contact between Feehan and a customer or potential customer of the Company (A) with whom or which
Feehan has or had dealings on behalf of the Company; (B) whose dealings with the Company are or were coordinated or supervised by Feehan; (C) about whom
Feehan obtains Confidential Information in the ordinary course of business as a result of his employment with the Company; or (D) who receives products or
services of the Company, the sale or provision of which results or resulted in compensation, commissions, or earnings for Feehan within the two (2) years prior to
Feehan’s Termination Date.

(iv)        “Person” means any individual or any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association or other entity or
enterprise.

(v)    “Principal or Representative” means a principal, owner, partner, shareholder, joint venturer, investor, member, trustee, director, officer,
manager, employee, agent, representative or consultant.

(vi)    “Protected Customer” means any Person to whom the Company has sold its products or services or actively solicited to sell its products
or services, and with whom Feehan has had Material Contact on behalf of the Company during his employment with the Company.

(vii)        “Protected Work” means any and all ideas, inventions, formulas, Confidential Information, source codes, object codes, techniques,
processes, concepts, systems, programs, software, software integration techniques, hardware systems, schematics, flow charts, computer data bases, client lists,
trademarks, service marks, brand names, trade names, compilations, documents, data, notes, designs, drawings, technical data and/or training materials, including
improvements thereto or derivatives therefrom, whether or not patentable, and whether or not subject to copyright or trademark or trade secret protection,
conceived, developed or produced by Feehan, or by others working with Feehan or under his direction, during the period of his employment or service, or
conceived, produced or used or intended for use by or on behalf of the Company or its customers.

(viii)    “Restricted Period” means any time during Feehan’s employment with the Company, and if Feehan’s employment is terminated for any
reason during the Term, the Restricted Period shall mean during Feehan’s employment plus twenty-four (24) months following the Termination Date.

9

(ix)    “Restricted Territory” means the U.S. states and foreign countries in which the Company maintains one or more retail pawn stores or is
actively planning to open one or more stores at the time of the conduct in question (if the conduct occurs while Feehan is still employed by the Company) or the
Termination Date (if the conduct occurs after Feehan’s Termination), as applicable.

(x)    “Restrictive Covenants” means the restrictive covenants contained in subsections (c) through (h) of this Section 8.

(xi)    “Termination” means the termination of Feehan’s employment with the Company, for any reason, whether with or without cause, upon
the initiative of either party.

(xii)    “Termination Date” means the date of Feehan’s Termination.

(c)       Restriction on Disclosure and Use of Confidential Information. Feehan agrees that he shall not, directly or indirectly, use any Confidential
Information on his own behalf or on behalf of any Person other than Company, or reveal, divulge, or disclose any Confidential Information to any Person not
expressly authorized by the Company to receive such Confidential Information. This obligation shall remain in effect for as long as the information or materials in
question retain their status as Confidential Information. Feehan further agrees that he shall fully cooperate with the Company in maintaining the Confidential
Information to the extent permitted by law. The parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is not intended to, and does not, alter either the Company’s
rights or Feehan’s obligations under any state or federal statutory or common law regarding trade secrets and unfair trade practices. Anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, Feehan shall not be restricted from disclosing information that is required to be disclosed by law, court order or other valid and appropriate legal
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process; provided, however, that in the event such disclosure is required by law, Feehan shall provide the Company with prompt notice of such requirement so that
the Company may seek an appropriate protective order prior to any such required disclosure by Feehan.

(d)        Non-Competition. Feehan agrees that during the Restricted Period, he will not, without prior written consent of the Company, directly or
indirectly (i) carry on or engage in Competitive Services within the Restricted Territory on his own or on behalf of any Person or any Principal or Representative of
any Person, or (ii) own, manage, operate, join, control or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control, of any business, whether in corporate,
proprietorship or partnership form or otherwise where such business is engaged in the provision of Competitive Services within the Restricted Territory. Feehan
acknowledges that the Restricted Territory is reasonable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Feehan may maintain or undertake purely passive investments on behalf of
himself, his immediate family or any trust on behalf of himself or his immediate family in companies engaged in a Competitive Services so long as the aggregate
interest represented by such investments does not exceed 1% of any class of the outstanding publicly traded debt or equity securities of any company engaged in a
Competitive Services.

(e)    Non-Solicitation of Protected Customers. Feehan agrees that during the Restricted Period, he shall not, without the prior written consent of the
Company, directly or indirectly, on his own behalf or as a Principal or Representative of any Person, solicit, divert, take away, or attempt to solicit, divert, or take
away a Protected Customer for the purpose of engaging in, providing, or selling Competitive Services.
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(f)    Non-Recruitment of Employees. Feehan agrees that during the Restricted Period, he shall not, directly or indirectly, whether on his own behalf or
as a Principal or Representative of any Person, solicit or induce or attempt to solicit or induce any employee of the Company to terminate his employment
relationship with the Company or to enter into employment with Feehan or any other Person.

(g)    Proprietary Rights.

(i)    Ownership and Assignment of Protected Works. Feehan agrees that any and all Confidential Information and Protected Works are the
sole property of the Company, and that no compensation in addition to Feehan’s base salary is due to Feehan for development or transfer of such Protected Works.
Feehan agrees that he shall promptly disclose in writing to the Company the existence of any Protected Works. Feehan hereby assigns all of his rights, title and
interest in any and all Protected Works, including all patents or patent applications, and all copyrights therein, to the Company. Feehan shall not be entitled to use
Protected Works for his own benefit or the benefit of anyone except the Company without written permission from the Company and then only subject to the terms
of such permission. Feehan further agrees that he will communicate to the Company any facts known to him and testify in any legal proceedings, sign all lawful
papers, make all rightful oaths, execute all divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part, foreign counterparts, or reissue applications, all assignments, all
registration applications, and all other instruments or papers to carry into full force and effect the assignment, transfer, and conveyance hereby made or to be made
and generally do everything possible for title to the Protected Works and all patents or copyrights or trademarks or service marks therein to be clearly and
exclusively held by the Company. Feehan agrees that he will not oppose or object in any way to applications for registration of Protected Works by the Company or
others designated by the Company. Feehan agrees to exercise reasonable care to avoid making Protected Works available to any third party and shall be liable to
the Company for all damages and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, if Protected Works are made available to third parties by him without the express
written consent of the Company.

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Feehan will not be obligated to assign to the Company any Protected Work for which no
equipment, supplies, facilities, or Confidential Information of the Company was used and which was developed entirely on Feehan’s own time, unless (a) the
invention relates (i) directly to the business of the Company, or (ii) to the Company’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (b) the
invention results from any work performed by Feehan for the Company. Feehan likewise will not be obligated to assign to the Company any Protected Work that is
conceived by Feehan after the he leaves the employ or service of the Company, except that Feehan is so obligated if the same relates to or is based on Confidential
Information to which Feehan had access by virtue of his employment with the Company. Similarly, Feehan will not be obligated to assign any Protected Work to the
Company that was conceived and reduced to practice prior to his employment, regardless of whether such Protected Work relates to or would be useful in the
business of the Company. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that there are no Protected Works conceived and reduced to practice by him prior to his employment
with the Company.

(ii)        No Other Duties. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that there is no other contract or duty on his part now in existence to assign
Protected Works to anyone other than the Company.

11
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(iii)    Works Made for Hire. The Company and Feehan acknowledge that in the course of his employment with the Company, Feehan may
from time to time create for the Company copyrightable works. Such works may consist of manuals, pamphlets, instructional materials, computer programs,
software, software integration techniques, software codes, and data, technical data, photographs, drawings, logos, designs, artwork or other copyrightable material,
or portions thereof, and may be created within or without the Company’s facilities and before, during or after normal business hours. All such works related to or
useful in the business of the Company are specifically intended to be works made for hire by Feehan, and Feehan shall cooperate with the Company in the
protection of the Company’s copyrights in such works and, to the extent deemed desirable by the Company, the registration of such copyrights.

(h)    Return of Materials. Feehan agrees that he will not retain or destroy (except as set forth below), and will immediately return to the Company on
or prior to the Termination Date, or at any other time the Company requests such return, any and all property of the Company that is in his possession or subject to
his control, including, but not limited to, keys, credit and identification cards, personal items or equipment, customer files and information, papers, drawings, notes,
manuals, specifications, designs, devices, code, email, documents, diskettes, CDs, tapes, keys, access cards, credit cards, identification cards, computers, mobile
devices, other electronic media, all other files and documents relating to the Company and its business (regardless of form, but specifically including all electronic
files and data of the Company), together with all Protected Works and Confidential Information belonging to the Company or that Feehan received from or through
his employment or service with the Company. Feehan will not make, distribute, or retain copies of any such information or property. To the extent that Feehan has
electronic files or information in his possession or control that belong to the Company, contain Confidential Information, or constitute Protected Works (specifically
including but not limited to electronic files or information stored on personal computers, mobile devices, electronic media, or in cloud storage), on or prior to the
Termination Date, or at any other time the Company requests, Feehan shall (A) provide the Company with an electronic copy of all of such files or information (in an
electronic format that readily accessible by the Company); (B) after doing so, delete all such files and information, including all copies and derivatives thereof, from
all non-Company-owned computers, mobile devices, electronic media, cloud storage, or other media, devices, or equipment, such that such files and information
are permanently deleted and irretrievable; and (C) provide a written certification to the Company that the required deletions have been completed and specifying the
files and information deleted and the media source from which they were deleted. Feehan agrees that he will reimburse the Company for all of its costs, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, of recovering the above materials and otherwise enforcing compliance with this provision if he does not return the materials to the
Company or take the required steps with respect to electronic information or files on or prior to the Termination Date or at any other time the materials and/or
electronic file actions are requested by the Company or if Feehan otherwise fails to comply with this provision.

(i)    Enforcement of Restrictive Covenants.
(i)        Rights and Remedies Upon Breach. The parties specifically acknowledge and agree that the remedy at law for any breach of the

Restrictive Covenants will be inadequate, and that in the event Feehan breaches, or threatens to breach, any of the Restrictive Covenants, the Company shall have
the right and remedy, without the necessity of proving actual damage or posting any bond, to enjoin, preliminarily and permanently, Feehan from violating or
threatening to
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violate the Restrictive Covenants and to have the Restrictive Covenants specifically enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, it being agreed that any breach
or threatened breach of the Restrictive Covenants would cause irreparable injury to the Company and that money damages would not provide an adequate remedy
to the Company. Feehan understands and agrees that if he violates any of the obligations set forth in the Seventh Amendment Engagement Letter)Restrictive
Covenants, the period of restriction applicable to each obligation violated shall cease to run during the pendency of any litigation over such violation, provided that
such litigation was initiated during the period of restriction. Such rights and remedies shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights and remedies
available to the Company at law or in equity. Feehan understands and agrees that, if the Parties become involved in legal action regarding the enforcement of the
Restrictive Covenants and if the Company prevails in such legal action, the Company will be entitled, in addition to any other remedy, to recover from Feehan its
reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in enforcing such covenants. The Company’s ability to enforce its rights under the Restrictive Covenants or applicable
law against Feehan shall not be impaired in any way by the existence of a claim or cause of action on the part of Feehan based on, or arising out of, this Agreement
or any other event or transaction.
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(ii)    Severability and Modification of Covenants. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that each of the Restrictive Covenants is reasonable and
valid in time and scope and in all other respects. The parties agree that it is their intention that the Restrictive Covenants be enforced in accordance with their terms
to the maximum extent permitted by law. Each of the Restrictive Covenants shall be considered and construed as a separate and independent covenant. Should
any part or provision of any of the Restrictive Covenants be held invalid, void, or unenforceable, such invalidity, voidness, or unenforceability shall not render invalid,
void, or unenforceable any other part or provision of this Agreement or such Restrictive Covenant. If any of the provisions of the Restrictive Covenants should ever
be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to exceed the scope permitted by the applicable law, such provision or provisions shall be automatically modified to such
lesser scope as such court may deem just and proper for the reasonable protection of the Company’s legitimate business interests and may be enforced by the
Company to that extent in the manner described above and all other provisions of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable.

(j)       Disclosure of Agreement. Feehan acknowledges and agrees that, during Restricted Period, he will disclose the existence and terms of this
Agreement to any prospective employer, business partner, investor or lender prior to entering into an employment, partnership or other business relationship with
such prospective employer, business partner, investor or lender. Feehan further agrees that the Company shall have the right to make any such prospective
employer, business partner, investor or lender of Feehan aware of the existence and terms of this Agreement.

9.    Agreement Not to Disparage. Feehan hereby agrees that at all times after the date hereof he will not make any statement, whether verbally or in written
form, or otherwise take any action that may reasonably be considered to disparage or impugn the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates; the management,
practices, services, or reputation of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates; or any of the Company’s or any of its subsidiaries’ or affiliates’ employees,
officers, directors, agents, or affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 9 shall not limit the rights of Feehan to provide truthful testimony or make truthful
statements which are compelled by a court of competent jurisdiction, arbitrator, regulatory agency or other tribunal or investigative body in accordance with any
applicable statute, rule or regulation.
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10.       Non-exclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Feehan’s continuing or future participation in any employee benefit plan,
program, policy or practice provided by the Company or its affiliated companies and for which Feehan may qualify, except as specifically provided herein. Amounts
that are vested benefits or which Feehan is otherwise entitled to receive under any plan, policy, practice or program of the Company or any of its affiliated
companies at or subsequent to the Date of Termination shall be payable in accordance with such plan, policy, practice or program except as explicitly modified by
this Agreement.

11.    Full Settlement; No Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company may have against Feehan or
others. In no event shall Feehan be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to Feehan under any
of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced whether or not Feehan obtains other employment.

12.    Mandatory Reduction of Payments in Certain Events .

(a)    Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event it shall be determined that any payment or distribution by the Company
to or for the benefit of Feehan (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise) (such benefits,
payments or distributions are hereinafter referred to as “Payments”) would, if paid, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise
Tax”), then, prior to the making of any Payments to Feehan, a calculation shall be made comparing (i) the net after-tax benefit to Feehan of the Payments after
payment by Feehan of the Excise Tax, to (ii) the net after-tax benefit to Feehan if the Payments had been limited to the extent necessary to avoid being subject to
the Excise Tax. If the amount calculated under (i) above is less than the amount calculated under (ii) above, then the Payments shall be limited to the extent
necessary to avoid being subject to the Excise Tax (the “Reduced Amount”). The reduction of the Payments due hereunder, if applicable, shall be made by first
reducing cash Payments and then, to the extent necessary, reducing those Payments having the next highest ratio of Parachute Value to actual present value of
such Payments as of the date of the Change in Control, as determined by the Determination Firm (as defined in Section 9(b) below). For purposes of this Section
12, present value shall be determined in accordance with Section 280G(d)(4) of the Code. For purposes of this Section 12, the “Parachute Value” of a Payment
means the present value as of the date of the Change in Control of the portion of such Payment that constitutes a “parachute payment” under Section 280G(b)(2) of
the Code, as determined by the Determination Firm for purposes of determining whether and to what extent the Excise Tax will apply to such Payment.

(b)        All determinations required to be made under this Section 12, including whether an Excise Tax would otherwise be imposed, whether the
Payments shall be reduced, the amount of the Reduced Amount, and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such determinations, shall be made by a nationally
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recognized accounting firm or compensation consulting firm mutually acceptable to the Company and Feehan (the “Determination Firm”) which shall provide
detailed supporting calculations to the Company and Feehan within 15 business days after the receipt of notice from Feehan that a Payment is due to be made, or
such earlier time as is requested by the Company. All fees and expenses of the Determination Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. Any determination by the
Determination Firm shall be binding upon the Company and Feehan. As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time of the
initial determination by the Determination Firm hereunder, it is possible that Payments which Feehan was entitled to, but did not receive pursuant to Section 12(a),
could have been made without the imposition of the Excise Tax (“Underpayment”), consistent with the
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calculations required to be made hereunder. In such event, the Determination Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any
such Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of Feehan but no later than March 15 of the year after the year in which the
Underpayment is determined to exist, which is when the legally binding right to such Underpayment arises.

(c)        In the event that the provisions of Code Section 280G and 4999 or any successor provisions are payable repealed without succession, this
Section 12 shall be of no further force or effect.

13.    Arbitration. Any claim or dispute arising under or relating to this Agreement or the breach, termination, or validity of any term of this Agreement shall be
subject to arbitration, and prior to commencing any court action, the parties agree that they shall arbitrate all controversies; provided, however, that nothing in this
Section 13 shall prohibit the Company from exercising its right under Section 8 to pursue injunctive remedies with respect to a breach or threatened breach of the
Restrictive Covenants. The arbitration shall be conducted in Tarrant County, Texas, in accordance with the Employment Dispute Rules of the American Arbitration
Association and the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1, et. seq. The arbitrator(s) shall be authorized to award both liquidated and actual damages, in addition to
injunctive relief, but no punitive damages. The arbitrator(s) may also award attorney’s fees and costs, without regard to any restriction on the amount of such award
under Texas or other applicable law. Such an award shall be binding and conclusive upon the parties hereto, subject to 9 U.S.C. §10. Each party shall have the right
to have the award made the judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction.

14.    Successors.

(a)    This Agreement is personal to Feehan and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable by Feehan otherwise than
by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may, without Feehan’s consent, assign, whether by assignment
agreement, merger, operation of law or otherwise, this Agreement to the Company or to any successor or affiliate of the Company, subject to such assignee’s
express assumption of all obligations of the Company hereunder. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Feehan’s legal representatives.

(b)    This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.

(c)    The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of
the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the
Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement, “Company” shall mean the Company as hereinbefore
defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.

15.    Cooperation. Feehan shall provide his reasonable cooperation in connection with the consummationany action or proceeding (or any appeal from any
action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during Feehan’s employment hereunder. This provision shall survive any termination of the transactions
contemplated hereby and King & Spalding LLP this Agreement. The Company shall have received from the Borrower payment of all outstanding fees and expenses
previously incurred and all fees and reimburse Feehan for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with Feehan’s performance of obligations
under this Seventh Amendment.Section 15 at the request of the Company. If Feehan is entitled to be paid or reimbursed for any expenses under this Section 15,
the amount reimbursable in
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any one calendar year shall not affect the amount reimbursable in any other calendar year, and the reimbursement of an eligible expense must be made no later
than December 31 of the year after the year in which the expense was incurred. Feehan’s obligations under this Section 15, and Feehan’s rights to payment or
reimbursement of expenses pursuant to this Section 15, shall expire at the end of ten (10) years after the Date of Termination and such rights shall not be subject to
liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

16.    Code Section 409A.

(a)    General. This Agreement shall be interpreted and administered in a manner so that any amount or benefit payable hereunder shall be paid or
provided in a manner that is either exempt from or compliant with the requirements Section 409A of the Code and applicable Internal Revenue Service guidance
and Treasury Regulations issued thereunder (and any applicable transition relief under Section 409A of the Code). Nevertheless, the tax treatment of the benefits
provided under the Agreement is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company nor its directors, officers, employees or advisers shall be held liable for any
taxes, interest, penalties or other monetary amounts owed by Feehan as a result of the application of Section 409A of the Code.

(b)        Definitional Restrictions. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent that any amount or benefit that would
constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code (“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) would otherwise be payable or
distributable hereunder by reason of Feehan’s termination of employment, such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation will not be payable or distributable to Feehan
by reason of such circumstance unless the circumstances giving rise to such termination of employment meet any description or definition of “separation from
service” in Section 409A of the Code and applicable regulations (without giving effect to any elective provisions that may be available under such definition). This
provision does not prohibit the vesting of any Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation upon a termination of employment, however defined. If this provision prevents
the payment or distribution of any Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation, such payment or distribution shall be made on the date, if any, on which an event occurs
that constitutes a Section 409A-compliant “separation from service.”

(c)    Timing of Release of Claims. Whenever in this Agreement a payment or benefit is conditioned on Feehan’s execution of a release of claims,
such release must be executed and all revocation periods shall have expired within sixty (60) days after the Date of Termination; failing which such payment or
benefit shall be forfeited. If such payment or benefit constitutes Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation, then such payment or benefit (including any installment
payments) that would have otherwise been payable during such 60-day period shall be accumulated and paid on the 60th day after the Date of Termination provided
such release shall have been executed and such revocation periods shall have expired. If such payment or benefit is exempt from Section 409A of the Code, the
Company may elect to make or commence payment at any time during such period.

(d)    Loan Party DocumentsPermitted Acceleration. The Loan PartiesCompany shall have the sole authority to make any accelerated distribution
permissible under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4) to Feehan of deferred amounts, provided that such distribution meets the requirements of Treas. Reg. Section
1.409A-3(j)(4).

17.    Miscellaneous.

(a)       Governing Law; Forum Selection; Consent to Jurisdiction. The Company and Feehan agree that this Agreement shall be governed by and
construed and interpreted in accordance with

16

the laws of the State of Texas without giving effect to its conflicts of law principles. Feehan agrees that the exclusive forum for any action to enforce this Agreement,
as well as any action relating to or arising out of this Agreement, shall be the state or federal court of the State of Texas. With respect to any such court action,
Feehan hereby (a) irrevocably submits to the personal jurisdiction of such courts; (b) consents to service of process; (c) consents to venue; and (d) waives any other
requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court, or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction, service of process, or venue. Both parties hereto further
agree that such courts are convenient forums for any dispute that may arise herefrom and that neither party shall raise as a defense that such courts are not
convenient forums.

(b)    Captions. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect.

(c)    Amendments. This Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than-by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their
respective successors and legal representatives.
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(d)        Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or by
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to Feehan:        Daniel R. Feehan
    Address on file with the Company

If to the Company:    FirstCash Holdings, Inc.
1600 West 7th Street
Fort Worth, Texas 76102
Attention: CEO

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the Agent: other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be effective
when actually received by the addressee.

(e)        Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other
provision of this Agreement.

(i)       Either (x) a certificate of an officer of each Loan Party certifying that the articles(f)       Withholding. The Company may withhold from any
amounts payable under this Agreement such Federal, state, local or certificate of incorporation of each Loan Party have not been amended, restated foreign taxes
as shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or otherwise modified since the Closing Date or (y) copies of the articles or certificate of
incorporation of each Loan Party, together with all amendments, each certified by the appropriate governmental officer in such Loan Party’s jurisdiction of
incorporation to the extent such documents have been amended since the Closing Date. regulation.

(ii)    For each Loan Party its Board of Directors’ resolutions and of resolutions(g)    Waivers. Feehan’s or actions of the Company’s failure to insist
upon strict compliance with any other body authorizing the executionprovision of this Seventh Amendment and any other Loan Documents to which such Loan
Party is a party and either (x) a certificate of an officer of each Loan Party certifying that its by-laws have not been amended, restatedAgreement or otherwise
modified since the Closing Date or (y) copies of its by-laws to the extent such document has been amended since the Closing Date.

(iii)    Certificates of good standing, existence or its equivalent with respect to each Loan Party certified as of a recent date by the appropriate
Governmental Authorities of the state of incorporation or organization and each other state in which the failure to so qualify andassert
any right Feehan or the Company may have hereunder, shall not be in good standing could reasonablydeemed to be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.waiver of such provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement.

(iv)    An opinion or opinions (including, if requested by(h)    Entire Agreement. Except as provided herein, this Agreement contains the Agent, local
counsel opinions) of counsel forentire agreement between the Loan Parties dated the date hereofCompany and addressed to the Agent and the Lenders, in form
and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agent (which shall include, without limitation, opinionsFeehan with respect to the due organizationsubject matter
hereof and, valid existence of each such Loan Party and opinions as to the non-contravention of such Loan Party’s organizational documents).

ARTICLE III

MISCELLANEOUS

3.1Amended Terms. On from and after the Seventh Amendment Effective Date, all references to the Credit Agreement in each of the Loan Documents shall
hereafter mean the Credit Agreement as amended by this Seventh Amendment. Except as specifically amended hereby or otherwise agreed, the Credit Agreement
is hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect according to its terms.

3.2Representations and Warranties of Loan Parties. Each of the Loan Parties represents and warrants as follows:

(a)    It has taken all necessary action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Seventh Amendment.

(b)        This Seventh Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by such Person and constitutes such Person’s legal, valid and binding
obligation, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent
conveyance or transfer, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and (ii)  general principles of equity (regardless of whether such
enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity).

(c)    No consent, approval, authorization or order of, or filing, registration or qualification with, any court or governmental authority or third party is
required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by such Person of this Seventh Amendment.

(d)    At the time of and immediately after giving effect to this Seventh Amendment, the representations and warranties contained in Article V of the
Credit Agreement shall (i) supersede any other agreement (including the Previous Employment Agreement) between the parties with respect to
representations and warranties that contain a materiality qualification, be true and correct, except for any representation or warranty made as of an earlier
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date, which representation and warranty shall remain true and correct as of such earlier date and (ii) with respect to representations and warranties that do
not contain a materiality qualification, be true and correct in all material respects, in each case described in clauses (i) and (ii) above, on and as of the date
of this Seventh Amendment as if made on and as of such date except for any representation or warranty made as of an earlier date, which representation
and warranty shall remain true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date.

(e)    After giving effect to this Seventh Amendment, no event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes a Default or Unmatured Default.

(f)        The Obligations and Guaranteed Obligations are not reduced or modified by this Seventh Amendment and are not subject to any offsets,
defenses or counterclaims.

3.3Reaffirmation of Obligations. Each Loan Party hereby ratifies the Credit Agreement and acknowledges and reaffirms (a) that it is bound by all terms of
the Credit Agreement applicable to it and (b) that it is responsible for the observance and full performance of its respective Obligations and Guaranteed Obligations.

3.4Loan Document. This Seventh Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document under the terms of the Credit Agreement.

3.5Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses of the Agent in connection with the preparation, execution and delivery of this
Seventh Amendment, including without limitation the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of the Agent’s legal counsel.

3.6Further Assurances. The Loan Parties agree to promptly take such action, upon the reasonable request of the Agent, as is necessary to carry out the
intent of this Seventh Amendment.

3.7Entirety. This Seventh Amendment and the other Loan Documents embody the entire agreement and understanding among the parties hereto and
supersede all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, if any, relating to the subject matter hereof.

17

3.8 (i)        Counterparts; TelecopyConstruction. The Company and Feehan understand and agree that because they both have been given the
opportunity to have counsel review and revise this Agreement, the normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the
drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement. Instead, the language of all parts of this Agreement shall be construed as a whole, and
according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against either of the parties.

(j)        Counterparts. This Seventh AmendmentAgreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, and it shall not be necessary that the
signatures of the parties hereto be contained on any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and deliveredone counterpart hereof. Each
counterpart shall be deemed an original but all of whichcounterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. DeliveryAny signature page of anany
such counterpart, or any electronic facsimile thereof, may be attached or appended to any other counterpart to complete a fully executed counterpart toof this
Seventh Amendment byAgreement, and any telecopy or other electronic means transmission of any signature shall be effective asdeemed an original. original and
shall bind such party.

3.9    No Actions, Claims, Etc. As of the date hereof, each of the Loan Parties hereby acknowledges and confirms that it has no knowledge of any actions, causes
of action, claims, demands, damages and liabilities of whatever kind or nature, in law or in equity, against the Agent, the Lenders, or the Agent’s or the Lenders’
respective officers, employees, representatives, agents, counsel or directors arising from any action by such Persons, or failure of such Persons to act under the
Credit Agreement on or prior to the date hereof.

3.10        CHOICE OF LAW.THIS SEVENTH AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS (WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CONFLICT OF LAWS
PROVISIONS) OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, BUT GIVING EFFECT TO FEDERAL LAWS APPLICABLE TO NATIONAL BANKS.

3.11        Successors and Assigns. This Seventh Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns.
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3.12    Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial. The terms of Sections 15.2 and 15.3 of the Credit Agreement are incorporated herein by reference,
mutatis mutandis, and the parties hereto agree to such terms.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Seventh Amendment to be duly executed onand delivered this Agreement as of the date first
above written.

BORROWER:

FIRSTCASH, INC., a Delaware
corporation
______________________________

Daniel R. Feehan

FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC.

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Address for Notices for Borrower:

1600 W. 7th Street

Fort Worth, TX 76102

Attention: Rick L. Wessel

HOLDINGS:
FIRSTCASH HOLDINGS, INC., a
Delaware corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LOAN GUARANTORS: FAMOUS PAWN, INC.,
a Maryland corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FCFS CO, INC.,
a Colorado corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): PAWN TX, INC.,
a Texas corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

LTS, INCORPORATED,
a Colorado corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): FCFS SC, INC.,
a South Carolina corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FCFS NC, INC.,
a North Carolina corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FRONTIER MERGER SUB, LLC (S/B/M CASH AMERICA INTERNATIONAL, INC.), a
Texas limited liability company

By: FIRSTCASH, INC. (F/K/A FIRST CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.), its sole
member

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Manager

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): FCFS TN, INC. (F/K/A CASH AMERICA
CENTRAL, INC.,
a Tennessee corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA EAST, INC.,
a Florida corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA HOLDING, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA MANAGEMENT L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership

By: CASH AMERICA HOLDING, INC., its general partner

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA PAWN L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership

By: CASH AMERICA HOLDING, INC., its general partner

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): CASH AMERICA WEST, INC.,
a Nevada corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA, INC. OF ILLINOIS,
an Illinois corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA, INC. OF LOUISIANA,
a Delaware corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

CASH AMERICA, INC. OF NORTH CAROLINA,
a North Carolina corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

18

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): CASH AMERICA, INC. OF MISSOURI, INC.,
a Missouri corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

GEORGIA CASH AMERICA, INC.,
a Georgia corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): FIRST CASH, INC.,
a Nevada corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FCFS OK, INC.,
an Oklahoma corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FCFS MO, INC.,
a Missouri corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FCFS IN, INC.,
an Indiana corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer
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FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): FCFS KY, INC.,
a Kentucky corporation

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

AMERICAN FIRST FINANCE, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATE, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART FINANCIAL INVESTORS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART FINANCIAL OPERATIONS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LOAN GUARANTORS (CONT'D): SMART PAWN AND JEWELRY OF TEXAS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART PAWN FIRST, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART PAWN DAKOTAS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART PAWN OKLAHOMA, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

SMART PAWN NORTH CAROLINA, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:__________________________

Name: Rick L. Wessel

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Address for Notices for all Loan Guarantors:

1600 W. 7th Street

Fort Worth, TX 76102

Attention: Rick L. Wessel

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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AGENT: WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Agent

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LENDERS: BOKF, NA d/b/a Bank of Texas,
as a Lender

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LENDERS: Zions Bancorporation, N.A. dba Amegy Bank,
as a Lender

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LENDERS: PROSPERITY BANK, a Texas banking association,
successor by merger to LEGACYTEXAS BANK,
as a Lender

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LENDERS: SOUTHSIDE BANK,
as a Lender

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LENDERS: INDEPENDENT BANK,
as a Lender

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT
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LENDERS: CADENCE BANK,
as a Lender

By:__________________________

Name:

Title:

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

Schedule 1.3

New Lenders

1.    Cadence Bank

FIRSTCASH, INC.
SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

Annex A

Commitments

Lender Commitment Pro Rata Share

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association $150,000,000.00 23.44%

Fifth Third Bank, National Association $75,000,000.00 11.72%

Texas Capital Bank, National Association $65,000,000.00 10.16%

BOKF, NA d/b/a Bank of Texas $60,000,000.00 9.38%

Zions Bancorporation, N.A. dba Amegy Bank $55,000,000.00 8.59%

First Horizon Bank (f/k/a First Tennessee Bank National
Association)

$35,000,000.00 5.47%

Prosperity Bank, a Texas banking association, successor
by merger to LegacyTexas Bank

$40,000,000.00 6.25%

Southside Bank $40,000,000.00 6.25%

Veritex Community Bank $35,000,000.00 5.47%

Independent Bank $35,000,000.00 5.47%

CrossFirst Bank $25,000,000.00 3.91%

Cadence Bank $25,000,000.00 3.91%

Total $640,000,000.00 100%
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 13(a)-14(a)/15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Rick L. Wessel, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results

of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the

Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal

control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors

and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial

reporting.

Date:  October 30, 2023April 29, 2024

/s/ Rick L. Wessel
Rick L. Wessel
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 13(a)-14(a)/15d-14(a),
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AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
       
I, R. Douglas Orr, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results

of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the

period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the

Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal

control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors

and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial

reporting.

Date:  October 30, 2023April 29, 2024

/s/ R. Douglas Orr
R. Douglas Orr
Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023March 31,
2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Rick L. Wessel, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
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1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  October 30, 2023April 29, 2024

/s/ Rick L. Wessel
Rick L. Wessel
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FirstCash Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023March 31,
2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, R. Douglas Orr, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  October 30, 2023April 29, 2024

/s/ R. Douglas Orr
R. Douglas Orr
Chief Financial Officer
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